Spatio-temporal patterns in humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) acoustic presence and acoustic behavior in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean

DOCTORAL THESIS



Elena Schall University of Oldenburg 2021





# Spatio-temporal patterns in humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) acoustic presence and acoustic behavior in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean

# Dissertation

(kumulativ)

Der Fakultät für Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften der Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg zur Erlangung des Grades und Titels eines

Doctor rerum naturalium, Dr. rer. nat.

eingereichte Dissertation

von Elena Schall

Erstgutachter:

## Prof. Dr. Gabriele Gerlach

AG Biodiversität und Evolution der Tiere Fakultät V - Institut für Biologie und Umweltwissenschaften (IBU) Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg Carl von Ossietzky Str. 9-11 26129 Oldenburg

Zweitgutachter:

### Prof. Dr. Michael Winklhofer

AG Sensorische Biologie der Tiere Fakultät V - Institut für Biologie und Umweltwissenschaften (IBU) Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg Carl von Ossietzky Str. 9-11 26129 Oldenburg

## Table of Contents

| Abstract  | 5                           |
|---|-----------------------------|
| Zusammenfassung   | 7                           |
| Introduction  | 9                           |
| Sounds in the ocean – acoustic communication in cetaceans<br>The evolution of complex acoustic communication systems<br>What is the purpose of communication?<br>Song in baleen whales  |                             |
| <b>The humpback whale – a vocal model species</b><br><i>Humpback whales – the songbirds of the sea</i><br><i>Migration and vocal behavior</i><br><i>Song on the feeding grounds</i>   | <b>15</b><br>15<br>         |
| <b>The Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean</b><br><i>Ecological importance</i><br><i>Humpback whales and other baleen whales in the Southern Ocean ecosystem</i><br><i>Passive acoustic monitoring to study humpback whales in the Southern Ocean</i> | <b>23</b><br>23<br>25<br>26 |
| Objectives  | 28                          |
| References  | 29                          |
| Chapter I   | 39                          |
| Chapter II  | 54                          |
| Chapter III   | 72                          |
| Chapter IV  | 99                          |
| Synthesis   | 125                         |
| Methodological achievements   |                             |
| <b>Year-round habitat preferences of humpback whales in the ASSO</b><br>In the light of climate variations<br>A perspective for a Marine Protected Area (MPA) in the Weddell Sea  | <b>126</b><br>127<br>129    |
| Feeding ground sharing in humpback whales<br>Implications for breeding stock management   | <b>130</b><br>137           |
| Outlook   | 138                         |
| References  | 139                         |
| Publications and Author contributions   | 144                         |
| Acknowledgements  | 146                         |
| Eidesstaatliche Erklärung   | 147                         |
| Supplementary Material – Chapter I & II   | 148                         |
| Supplementary Material – Chapter III  | 160                         |
| Supplementary Material – Chapter IV   | 167                         |

## Abstract

Humpback whale males produce songs which are comparable in complexity and behavioral function to bird songs. Humpback whale songs are hierarchically structured, undergo constant change, and are breeding population-specific. These songs and other social vocalizations are produced in various behavioral contexts and along most of the geographic range of humpback whales including winter breeding habitats, summer feeding habitats and on migration routes. In remote areas, such as the Southern Ocean, which humpback whales visit primarily in summer, passive acoustic recordings can provide valuable insights to address open questions including: 'Where and when are humpback whales present in the Southern Ocean?', 'How do they use high latitude habitats?' or 'How do they respond to changes in the environment?'.

In the scope of this PhD thesis, I analyzed passive acoustic recordings from the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO) to investigate spatio-temporal patterns in the acoustic presence and behavior of humpback whales and relate these patterns to potential ecological drivers.

In the first chapter, spatial and intra-annual patterns of humpback whale acoustic presence were investigated at 12 recording position in the ASSO. The passive acoustic data revealed two humpback whale hotspots at the western and eastern edges of the ASSO with higher acoustic activities towards lower latitudes. At these hotspots, humpback whale acoustic presence was also registered during austral winter, indicating that at least part of the humpback whale population remains in polar waters year-round.

In *Chapter II*, the analysis of a multi-year passive acoustic dataset from the ASSO yielded unique insights into the response of humpback whales to climate oscillations. Considerable humpback whale acoustic presence (i.e., multiple days in different months) was recorded in five out of seven years at different locations. In two years, almost no humpback whale acoustic presence was registered, which coincided with a strong El Niño event and a simultaneously long positive phase of the Southern Annular Mode. These climate oscillations most likely alter baleen whale prey availability in the Southern Hemisphere and thus affect migration routes and destinations of humpback whales.

*Chapter III* describes a new method for the automized and standardized classification of humpback whale vocalizations to circumvent the drawbacks of the common manual parameterization and categorization in the analyses of, for example, humpback whale songs.

The combination of standardized and automatically computed acoustic metrics to train a supervised classification model proved useful for the simple, rapid and highly reproducible identification and comparison of vocalization types and shows high potential for broad application purposes in bioacoustics.

In *Chapter IV*, humpback whale singing activity was evaluated for 13 recording positions in the ASSO over seven years. The data show that humpback whale males regularly sing during late summer and autumn on the feeding grounds in the ASSO implying that reproductive activities may be shifted at least partly to areas outside the breeding grounds. Song analyses and preliminary comparisons with song material from breeding populations, additionally, reveal that at least three humpback whale populations share the ASSO feeding area. This discovery illustrates the importance of the ASSO area for the preservation of humpback whale populations from the Atlantic but also the Pacific Ocean.

Overall, the findings presented in this thesis highlight the significance of the investigation of long-term and large-scale dataset in order to understand migration patterns, habitat preferences, and the effects of environmental variation on highly mobile marine species. For humpback whales and the ASSO, the results of this thesis present fundamental knowledge that can guide the conservation and management of populations and ecosystems.

## Zusammenfassung

Die Gesänge der männlichen Buckelwale sind in Komplexität und Funktion vergleichbar mit den Gesängen der Singvögel. Buckelwalgesänge sind hierarchisch strukturiert, werden kontinuierlich verändert und sind populationsspezifisch. Diese Gesänge und andere soziale Vokalisationen werden in unterschiedlichen Verhaltenskontexten und im gesamten Ausbreitungsgebiet der Buckelwale einschließlich der im Winter besuchten Fortpflanzungsgebiete, der im Sommer besuchten Fressgebiete und entlang der Migrationsrouten produziert. In entlegenen Gebieten wie z.B. dem Südpolarmeer, welches die Buckelwale hauptsächlich im Sommer besuchen, können passiv-akustische Aufnahmen wertvolle Einblicke ermöglichen, um offene Fragen zu beantworten, wie z.B.: ,Wo und wann sind Buckelwale im Südpolarmeer präsent?', 'Welches Verhalten zeigen sie in antarktischen Habitaten?' oder ,Wie reagieren sie auf Veränderungen ihrer Umwelt?'.

Im Rahmen dieser Doktorarbeit habe ich passiv-akustische Aufnahmen aus dem atlantischen Sektor des Südpolarmeeres (ASSP) ausgewertet, um die räumlich-zeitlichen Muster der akustischen Präsenz und des akustischen Verhaltens von Buckelwalen zu studieren und diese Muster mit potentiellen ökologischen Faktoren in Zusammenhang zu bringen.

Im ersten Kapitel wurden räumliche und saisonale Muster der akustischen Präsenz von Buckelwalen an 12 Aufnahmepositionen im ASSP untersucht. Die passiv-akustischen Daten offenbarten zwei "Buckelwal-Hotspots" an den nordöstlichen und nordwestlichen Randgebieten des ASSP. An diesen Hotspots wurde die akustische Präsenz von Buckelwalen auch im südlichen Winter registriert, was darauf hinweist, dass zumindest ein Teil der Buckelwalpopulationen ganzjährig in Südpolargebieten verbleibt.

In *Kapitel II* hat die Analyse von mehrjährigen passiv-akustischen Daten aus dem ASSP einzigartige Einblicke in die Reaktion von Buckelwalen auf Klimaveränderungen ermöglicht. Erwähnenswerte akustische Präsenzen von Buckelwalen (i.e. mehrere Tage in unterschiedlichen Monaten) wurden in fünf von sieben Jahren an verschiedenen Orten aufgenommen. In den verbleibenden zwei Jahren wurden nahezu keine Buckelwalpräsenzen registriert, dies in zeitlicher Übereinstimmung mit einem starken El Niño Ereignis und einer gleichzeitig langen positiven Phase der Antarktischen Oszillation. Diese Klimaveränderungen haben vermutlich Auswirkungen auf die Verfügbarkeit der Beute der Bartenwale in der Südhemisphäre und beeinflussen somit Migrationsrouten und -ziele der Buckelwale.

*Kapitel III* beschreibt eine neue Methode für die automatisierte und standardisierte Klassifizierung von Buckelwalvokalisation, mit welcher man die Nachteile der häufig verwendeten manuellen Parametrisierung und Kategorisierung zur Analyse von z.B.

Buckelwalgesängen umgehen kann. Eine Kombination von standardisierten und automatisch berechneten akustischen Metriken wurde verwendet, um ein überwachtes Klassifizierungsmodell zu trainieren. Diese Methode hat sich bewährt zur einfachen, schnellen und reproduzierbaren Tonkategorisierung und hat Potential zu vielfältigen Anwendungen in der Bioakustik.

In *Kapitel IV* wurde die Gesangsaktivität von Buckelwalen für 13 Aufnahmepositionen im ASSP über sieben Jahre evaluiert. Die erhobenen Daten zeigen, dass Buckelwalmännchen regelmäßig von Spätsommer bis Herbst in den Fressgebieten des ASSP singen. Dies impliziert, dass Fortpflanzungsaktivitäten zumindest zum Teil auch im Südpolarmeer stattfinden. Gesangsanalysen und vorläufige Vergleiche mit Gesängen aus den Fortpflanzungsgebieten haben zusätzlich gezeigt, dass sich mindestens drei Buckelwalpopulationen die Fressgebiete des ASSP teilen. Diese Entdeckung stellt einen wichtigen Hinweis auf die Bedeutung des ASSP zur Erhaltung von Buckelwalpopulationen des atlantischen und sogar des pazifischen Ozeans dar.

Die in dieser These präsentierten Ergebnisse weisen auf die Bedeutsamkeit der Auswertung von Langzeitdatensätzen hin, um Migrationsmuster, Habitatpräferenzen und die Effekte von Umweltveränderungen auf Bartenwale zu erforschen. Speziell für die Erhaltung und das Management von Buckelwalen und der Ökosysteme des ASSP liefern die Ergebnisse dieser Doktorarbeit fundamentale Erkenntnisse.

## Introduction

#### Sounds in the ocean – acoustic communication in cetaceans

#### The evolution of complex acoustic communication systems

Communication by sound is wide-spread within different taxa, such as birds, mammals, insects and fishes (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 1998). Hearing and communication by sound is considered as one of the more recently developed senses (Norris and Evans, 1988; Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 1998). The evolution of this additional sense has been related to the increasing complexity of information in surrounding ecosystems which increased the need for a larger variety of communication forms (Norris and Evans, 1988). Bradbury and Vehrencamp (1998), additionally, suggest that initial acoustic displays evolved as by-products of movements used for visual or tactile displays. Also, the mainly nocturnal activity of ancestral species has been correlated with the evolution of acoustic signals for communication (Chen and Wiens, 2020). The evolutionary processes and drivers are specific to each species or group of species and cannot be generalized to one common evolutionary pathway. A variety of selective forces, e.g., the physical properties of the environment, morphological restrictions and biological interactions, often act as trade-offs, finally creating a complex network of evolutionary drivers (Ryan, 1986). This competition of selective forces led to the independent evolution of multiple different forms of acoustic communication both in air and in water, such as the defensive tail rattle of rattlesnakes or the acoustic display of piranhas produced through muscle contractions of the swimbladder (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 1998; Ladich, 2000; Fine and Parmentier, 2015).

Underwater, the communication by sound seems to take a particularly crucial role. Common senses to communicate or orientate over considerable distances in terrestrial environments are sight, smell and hearing (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 1998). The marine environment presents significant restrictions to sight and smell. Throughout much of the ocean (i.e., at depth greater than tens of meters), light is absorbed completely and consequently visibility is poor, whereas in surface waters, turbidity can cause additional restrictions in visibility (Wozniak and Dera, 2007). Thus, the range of sight underwater is greatly reduced compared to in air and the communication by color, facial expression or gesture is limited (Pryor, 1990; Price *et al.*, 2008; Miller, 2009). In many terrestrial species, smell is important to

locate food sources and predators or to transfer information for social interaction (Wyatt, 2003). Due to the slow diffusion of chemicals in water, underwater communication by odorous substances is only suitable for short distances, extended time scales or in combination with strong directional currents (i.e., the olfactory identification of suitable habitats in reef fish larvae; Rogers and Kaplan, 2002; Munday et al., 2009). Baleen whales seem to circumvent this disadvantage by detecting chemical signals in the air above the sea surface while they are breathing (i.e., sensing the odor dimethyl sulfide released by certain species of phytoplankton; Torres, 2017b). Long-range communication is necessary for various ecological and social processes, such as the attraction of mates or the localization of potential prey (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 1998). Due to the unique physical properties of the ocean, for example the density and salinity of sea water, sound is the only option by which to communicate across greater distances than tens of meters (Tyack, 2008). In contrast to visual or olfactory cues, sound can travel several kilometers within water without substantial information loss (Tyack, 1998). Especially, low frequency sounds are favorable for long distance communication, because these sounds can travel great distances in the deep ocean where almost no disturbances (i.e., absorption or reflections of sound waves) cause transmission loss (Bass and Clark, 2003). Additionally, sound travels ~4.5 times faster in water compared to air due to the higher density of sea water, ensuring propagation efficiency when occupying acoustic signals for communication in the ocean (Nummela and Thewissen, 2008).

Cetaceans evolved specialized sound production mechanisms to further improve acoustic communication efficiency in the marine environment. Cetaceans have a larynx originating from their terrestrial ancestor (Fordyce, 2018). The need for long-range communication in baleen whales (related to large-scale distributions) most likely drove the evolution of a specialized homolog of human vocal folds (Reidenberg and Laitman, 2007). Baleen whales evolved vocal folds which are U-shaped, termed the U-fold (Reidenberg and Laitman, 2007). Unlike the vocal folds of terrestrial mammals, which are perpendicular to the airflow, the U-fold is oriented parallel to the airflow (Figure 1) (Reidenberg and Laitman, 2007). This modification is potentially beneficial for the production of very low frequency sounds, which allow baleen whales to communicate over tens to hundreds of kilometers (Reidenberg and Laitman, 2007). The development of the specific sound production mechanism in toothed whales was probably related to the advantages of using echolocation during past environmental changes (e.g.,

changing continental positions, ocean circulations, and/or food resources; Tyack and Miller, 2002; Berta *et al.*, 2014). Although, toothed whales feature a larynx including functional vocal folds, these cetaceans seem not to make use of the larynx for sound generation (Cranford *et al.*, 1996). The sound source of toothed whale vocalizations is the nasal passage connecting the lungs with the blowhole (Dormer, 1979; Cranford, 2000). In their nasal passage, toothed whales developed a so-called monkey-lips-dorsal-bursae (MLDB) complex (Cranford *et al.*, 1996). The MLDB complex is composed of one or two pairs of phonic lips (a keratinous structure with a slit-like passage, sometimes also termed monkey lips) and two bursae (Figure 1) (Cranford *et al.*, 1996). With a complex system of air sacs, toothed whales force air through the phonic lips, thereby generating vibrations, i.e., a sound (Tyack and Miller, 2002). Dolphins, for example, have two pairs of phonic lips which allow for simultaneous echolocation and communication (Cranford *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1. Sound production and reception organs in cetaceans. Left: Toothed whale sound production pathway via phonic lips and melon and sound perception pathway via acoustic tissue as part of the mandible and the inner ear (adapted from Cranford et al., 1996). Right: Baleen whale sound generation organs (adapted from Reidenberg and Laitman, 2007). © Marie Schall

Besides environmental properties and physiological restrictions, biological interactions are an important factor shaping the evolution of acoustic communication systems (Ryan, 1986). This is true for interspecific interactions such as predator-prey interactions or ecological facilitation (Ryan, 1986; Kyhn *et al.*, 2009), but especially a high level of intra-specific interaction favors the development of complex acoustic communication systems. The 'social complexity hypothesis' implies that complex social systems, defined by the number of interacting individuals, the different types of social roles, and the variability of interactions, drive communicative complexity in terms of signaling repertoire and number of components of a given signal (Freeberg *et al.*, 2012). Social systems, in cetaceans, such as fission-fusion (i.e., flexible size and composition of social group) and matrilineal societies, are highly complex and created the need for sophisticated vocal communication systems (Marino, 2002; Marino *et al.*, 2007). Across all species of cetaceans, a variety of specializations has been discovered in their vocal communication systems and the question of 'What is the purpose of communication?' in this context is of particular interest to the scientific community.

#### What is the purpose of communication?

The variety of vocalization types in cetaceans is thought to be indicative of the information types which are encoded to be directed to other individuals, groups, or populations (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Ford, 1991; Janik *et al.*, 2006). Cetacean vocalizations cover frequencies from only tens of Hertz (Hz) to more than 100 kilohertz (kHz) determining the spatial scale of communication (Au and Hastings, 2008). The resulting sizes of vocalization repertoires in cetacean species in combination with their aquatic lifestyle makes it challenging to study the information content of signals in the respective species and different contexts. Cetacean vocalization repertoires and the complexity of information content continuously extend due to their cognitive abilities, allowing two main types of learning: Cetaceans are capable of both contextual vocal learning and vocal production learning, which is rare in mammals (Janik and Slater, 1997). Contextual vocal learning allows cetaceans to associate existing vocalizations with novel contexts which changes the information content transferred by a given signal (Janik, 2014). Vocal production learning opens the possibility to learn new signals from conspecifics or even other species which facilitates the continuous development of vocalization repertoires (Janik, 2014). Although most

information types transferred by cetacean vocalizations, are still poorly understood, at least three main types of information could be identified, namely individual identity, group affiliation and differentiation, and reproductive display.

Individual identity, in most species, is conveyed by subtle voice features that affect all vocalizations produced (Janik *et al.*, 2006). However, voice features can easily be masked by background noises and therefore lost during transmission (e.g., Aubin and Jouventin, 1998). In bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*; and maybe some other dolphin species), the communication of individual identity seems to take a specifically important role. These dolphins developed a vocalization type termed *signature whistle* which conveys individual identity in a much more efficient way than voice features (i.e., comparable to human names; Janik *et al.*, 2006). Through vocal production learning, bottlenose dolphin calves develop their own signature whistle, frequently modifying sounds from their acoustic environment (including conspecific vocalizations) and individuals of a group are able to copy another individual's signature whistle in social interactions (Tyack, 1997; Janik *et al.*, 2006). Signature whistles allow for individual recognition and social cohesion in the complex fission-fusion society of bottlenose dolphins and prioritize individual over group recognition (Janik and Sayigh, 2013).

Group-specific vocalization types, in contrast, enhance affiliation among group members and differentiation among distinct groups. These group-specific vocalization types are also termed dialects and are mainly known from killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) and sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) (Ford, 2018). Killer and sperm whales both live in (stable) matrilineal groups which include multiple generations. These groups often locally interact with other groups of the same species and use group-specific vocalization types (i.e., in killer whales) or group specific proportions of vocalization types (i.e., in sperm whales) to manage interactions within and among groups (Rendell and Whitehead, 2005; Deecke *et al.*, 2010). The functionality of sympatric dialects in killer and sperm whales has been interpreted as the enhancement of group cohesion, the advertisement of identity at different levels of the society and even the recognition of kin which facilitates outbreeding (Barrett-Lennard, 2000; Gero *et al.*, 2016). The resulting increased protection from predators (i.e., through group formation), cooperative hunting or caring for offspring (i.e., through task sharing), and/or improved genetic variation (i.e.,

through the avoidance of inbreeding) all warrant indirect fitness benefits (Alexander, 1974; Charlesworth and Willis, 2009; Pitman and Durban, 2012; Gero *et al.*, 2013).

Acoustic signals produced in the context of reproductive displays, in contrast, are thought to provide a more direct benefit to individual fitness by the attraction of potential mates and the mediation of intrasexual reproductive competition (Mitoyen *et al.*, 2019). A widely known form of acoustic display are the songs in birds and baleen whales (Garland and McGregor, 2020).

#### Song in baleen whales

Among the 16 species of baleen whales (Mysticeti), only five species are known to produce songs: the blue whale (Balaenoptera musculus), fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus), humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae), minke whale (Balaenoptera acutorostrata), and bowhead whale (Balaena mysticetus) (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Edds-Walton, 1997; Croll et al., 2002; McDonald, 2006; Stafford et al., 2008). Whale songs are thought to be a reproductive display, such as bird song, because only males sing and the main singing activity occurs during the breeding season (Janik, 2009). The level of complexity varies strongly between the different species with single vocalization repetitions in, for example, fin whales (Delarue et al., 2009), the combination of a few vocalization types in, for example, blue whales (McDonald, 2006), and the multi-level hierarchically structured vocalization sequences in bowhead and humpback whales (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Stafford et al., 2008). This variability in the level of complexity is not yet well understood, but might be related to cognitive capacity or differences in mating systems (Herman, 2017; Garland and McGregor, 2020). In most baleen whale species, song characteristics and composition seem to be population-specific, most likely related to the geographic isolation of distinct breeding stocks (Payne and Guinee, 1983; McDonald, 2006; Delarue et al., 2009). The monitoring and analysis of baleen whale song has resulted in many valuable insights into the distribution and ecology of these cryptic and highly mobile species (i.e., Clapham and Mattila, 1990; McDonald, 2006; Magnúsdóttir et al., 2014; Herman, 2017; Buchan et al., 2019).

#### The humpback whale – a vocal model species

#### Humpback whales - the songbirds of the sea

Among the baleen whales, the humpback whale is probably the most studied species due to its occurrence in high numbers in shallow tropical and sub-tropical waters during winter (Clapham, 2018). Already during early sudies in the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, humpback whale vocalizations were recorded with the first submergeble recording systems and the first discovery of song in baleen whales was documented as the repetition of a series of sounds with considerbale precision (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Darling, 2002). Payne and Mcvay (1971) described humpback whale songs as hierachically structured with units defined as the smallest entity building phrases, the repetition of phrases building themes, and the combination of themes composing a song (Figure 2). Songs may be repeated uninterupted for sevaral minutes to hours, which is termed a song session. Male humpback whales of a specific breeding population are known to converge closely on the same current rendition of song, termed song type (Winn and Winn, 1978a; Winn *et al.*, 1981; Payne and Guinee, 1983; Payne and Payne, 1985a; Herman, 2017). Each song type is characterized by a distict combination of themes (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Cholewiak *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 2. Hierarchical structure of humpback whale song with representations of song, themes, phrases and units as in Payne and Mcvay (1971). The upper panel shows the spectrogram representation of a song indicating start and end times of distinct themes (i.e., T1-T6). The second panel shows the spectrogram representation of a single theme (i.e., T5) indicating the start and end times of individual phrases (i.e., P1-P10). The third panel shows the spectrogram representation of one phrase (i.e., P3) illustrating the composition by two units (i.e., U1 and U2). The lower panel shows exemplary spectrogram representation of a single song unit (i.e., U2).

Humpback whale songs gradually change over time and song progression is most notable on an annual timescale (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Darling, 2002). This song development is most likely a result of the humpback whale's ability to immitate sounds and to innovate new vocalizations and the neverending quest for novelty is probably driven by sexual selection (i.e., both inter- and intrasexual selection; Noad *et al.*, 2000; Cerchio *et al.*, 2001; Mercado *et al.*, 2005). Two different forms of song development can be differentiated in humpback whales, namely evolutions and revolutions (Garland *et al.*, 2011; Garland

et al., 2017; Allen et al., 2018; Garland and McGregor, 2020). Evolution is the most observed form of song development in humpback whales, describing the progressive change of song, including the addition, deletion, and/or substitution of units, phrases and themes and all males within a population incorporate these changes into their own song (Winn and Winn, 1978a; Payne, 1983; Garland and McGregor, 2020). The continous evolution of song can lead to increasing complexity, notable in the number of distinct units or themes composing a song (Allen *et al.*, 2018). Song revolution, on the other hand, is less common and so far has only been described for the humpback whale populations of the western South Pacific and Indian Ocean (Noad et al., 2000; Garland et al., 2011; Garland et al., 2013b; Garland et al., 2015b; Garland et al., 2017). Song revolutions are described as the rapid and complete replacement of a song by another distinct song from a different population which is usually accompanied by a reduction in song complexity (Allen et al., 2018). Therefore song revolutions may be a result of the cognitive limit of humpback whales when learning complex song structures (Allen et al., 2018). The continous process of learning new songs is most likely driven by cultural transmission, which is defined as the social sharing of information and learning of behaviors among conspecifics (Rendell and Whitehead, 2001; Garland et al., 2011; Garland and McGregor, 2020). In contrast to, for example, migratory behavior, which is shaped by vertical (parent-offspring) cultural transmission, singing behavior in humpback whales is thought to be shaped by horizontal cultural transmission among unrelated conspecifics of similar age classes (Garland et al., 2011). This horizontal cultural transmission also allows the exchange of song material among populations when singing males meet on the feeding grounds or during migration, or when single males visit multiple breeding grounds (Payne and Guinee, 1983; Helweg et al., 1998; Darling and Sousa-Lima, 2005; Darling et al., 2019). Therefore, the degrees of song similarity among populations can be indicative of population mixing (Garland *et al.*, 2015b). To date, the functionality of humpback whale male song is not entirely understood, but songs are thought

to increase the chances of reproduction for individual whales by mediating inter- and/or intrasexual interactions, similar as in songbirds (Herman, 2017). Song complexity potentially is a result of intersexual selection, driven by female preference for more complex or new vocal repertoires (Tyack, 1981; Cerchio *et al.*, 2001), whereas song convergence might be driven by intra-sexual vocal competition resulting in song copying (Mercado *et al.*, 2005). The presence and characteristics of a male humpback whale's song might also convey fitness of the singer to the female or even stimulate the female's recipitivity (Winn and Winn, 1978a; Chu and Harcourt, 1986; Herman, 2017). Additionally, humpback whale song might mediate male-male interactions, such as aggression, dominance or cooperation (Darling *et al.*, 2006; Cholewiak, 2008). In an alternative scenario, the often parallel chorusing of multiple males on the breeding grounds could be a form of mutualism in the framework of a lekking system (i.e., aggregation of males that females visit for mating; Herman, 2017). Communal singing, in this scenrio, could be a broadly propagating spatial signal that is supposed to attract females to a lek instead of attracting females to individual singers (Herman, 2017). In the same context, songs could also serve as signals to attract other humpback whales to newly colonized wintering grounds (Clapham and Zerbini, 2015; Herman, 2017). The most likely scenario is that humpback whale song has a multipurpose role in the humpback whale mating system. The majority of songs were therefore recorded on the low-latitude breeding grounds where breeding takes place, but evidence increases that singing is also common during migration and on the feeding grounds during different times of the year (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; McSweeney *et al.*, 1989; Noad and Cato, 2007; Smith *et al.*, 2008; Garland *et al.*, 2011; Stimpert *et al.*, 2012; Kowarski *et al.*, 2018; Ross-Marsh *et al.*, 2020).

#### Migration and vocal behavior

Monitoring humpback whale acoustic presence and behavior, for example singing, can help to understand small-scale and large-scale movement patters, such as migration (e.g., Clapham and Mattila, 1990; Charif *et al.*, 2001; Dunlop *et al.*, 2008). Most baleen whale species migrate annually between winter and summer habitats (Stern, 2009). Usually, summer habitats are productive mid- to high-latitude waters, where baleen whales spent most of their time feeding, therefore termed summer feeding grounds (Clapham, 2018). For migratory baleen whale species, such as the humpback whale, winter habitats are located in unproductive low-latitude waters, where the whales usually fast, engage in reproductive activities and give birth (Clapham, 2018). Why baleen whales migrate has been discussed intensely. While it is clear, why baleen whales visit high-productivity areas during summer, the reason for visiting low-productivity areas close to the equator for breeding remains speculative. Experts, as of now, suggest a combination of two reasons being responsible for the annual migration of most baleen whales to their

tropical breeding grounds and great part of this theory is derived from observations of humpback whales. First, shallow tropical areas, which are usually preferred by pregnant females to give birth (Hindell, 2009), seem to provide shelter to minimize the risk of predation by killer whales or sharks on new-born calves (Stern, 2009; Derville et al., 2018). Second, the migration to low-latitude areas could be an evolutionary holdover from the period of the glacial maximum, when cold and productive waters were located much closer to the equator (Stern, 2009). Except for one non-migratory humpback whale population in the Arabian Sea (Mikhalev, 1997), all humpback whale populations migrate between tropical breeding grounds and polar or sub-polar feeding grounds (Clapham, 2018) (Figure 1). Due to a maternally inherited site fidelity, humpback whales usually return every year to the breeding ground where they were born and often also show a clear preference for a specific feeding ground (most likely the one they first visited with their mothers (Clapham, 2018). In the Northern Hemisphere, at least six different breeding grounds are recognized by the International Whaling Commission (IWC): Asia and Northern Philippines, Hawaii, Mexico, Central America, West Indies, and Cape Verde Islands, from where whales migrate to the polar and subpolar waters of the North Pacific and North Atlantic (Figure 3) (Donovan, 1991; Calambokidis et al., 2001; Stevick et al., 2006; Cooke, 2018). In the Southern Hemisphere, at least 10 different breeding grounds are recognized by the IWC: Brazil, West Africa, East Africa, Madagascar, West Australia, East Australia, multiple smaller aggregations in Oceania, and Columbia/Ecuador, from where whales migrate to the Southern Ocean or southern subpolar waters (Figure 3) (International Whaling Commission, 2006; 2011). Connectivity among breeding grounds usually correlates with the geographical distance between these areas (Calambokidis et al., 2001; Rosenbaum et al., 2017). Especially in the Southern Hemisphere, the degree of longitudinal movements on the Antarctic feeding grounds most likely relates to the degree of connectivity between two respective breeding grounds (Calambokidis et al., 2001; Stevick et al., 2003; Rosenbaum et al., 2017). In the Northern Hemisphere, extensive Photo-ID studies, both at breeding and feeding grounds, as well as along the migration routes, created a comprehensive picture of the Northern Hemisphere humpback whale stock structure (e.g., Calambokidis et al., 2001; Stevick et al., 2006), which can aid population and ecosystem management and conservation efforts. In the Southern Hemisphere, comparative results through Photo-ID studies are limited by the reduced availability of photos from the feeding grounds due

to the high logistic effort for studies in the Southern Ocean. The IWC divided the Southern Ocean and adjacent subpolar waters into six management areas (International Whaling Commission, 2006), but only humpback whales from management area I (60°W-120°W), around the Antarctic Peninsula have been studied over longer time scales (i.e., multiple years; e.g., Olavarria et al., 2007; Dalla Rosa et al., 2008; Friedlaender et al., 2008; Acevedo et al., 2017). The Antarctic management area I is frequented by humpback whales that mainly originate from the breeding stock off Columbia/Ecuador (stock G) and to some extent also by humpback whales from French Polynesia (stock F) (Acevedo et al., 2017; Albertson et al., 2018). From the other Antarctic management areas, the picture of feeding ground occupation by the different breeding stocks is much less clear, although the IWC assumes humpback whales to migrate to management areas within a similar longitudinal range as their respective breeding stocks (International Whaling Commission, 2006; 2011), a notion also supported by recent satellite tagging studies (e.g., Horton et al., 2001; Zerbini et al., 2011; Rosenbaum et al., 2014). On the other hand, evidence exists that humpback whales from different breeding stocks mix on the feeding grounds in the Southern Ocean (Amaral et al., 2016; Rosenbaum et al., 2017; Riekkola et al., 2018). Longitudinal movements of humpback whales in the Southern Ocean seem to be quite common and most likely are necessary to maximize feeding opportunities (Amaral et al., 2016; Rosenbaum et al., 2017; Riekkola et al., 2019). While humpback whales feed and migrate, social interactions among group members, including mother-calf pairs, are common and individuals produce a great variety of vocalizations, termed social sounds (Dunlop et al., 2008; Fournet et al., 2014). Social sounds, especially when they are exchanged between mother and calf, do not reach high intensities and can, therefore, only be detected over short distances (Dunlop et al., 2013; Videsen et al., 2017). Humpback whale song, in contrast, is detectable over tens of kilometers (Au et al., 2006) permitting monitoring of humpback whale presence over larger scales. Hence, the arrival and departure of humpback whales on breeding and feeding grounds or the spatio-temporal delineation of migration routes can be studied by analyzing continuous underwater sound recordings to detect the onset and cessation of singing behavior (e.g., Clapham and Mattila, 1990; Clark and Clapham, 2004a; Vu et al., 2012; Cerchio et al., 2016; Warren et al., 2020).



Figure 3. World map illustrating the approximate geographical locations of humpback whale breeding and feeding grounds. Red ovals represent known breeding grounds (10 for the Southern Hemisphere and six for the Northern Hemisphere), green shading represent the feeding areas and blue patch represents the area inhabited by the only non-migratory humpback whale population in the Arabian Sea. Arrows represent schematically migration routes between breeding and feeding grounds.

#### Song on the feeding grounds

Through the availability of long-term passive acoustic data from mid and high latitude areas, Northern Hemisphere humpback whales are known to sing primarily (excluding breeding ground singing) during the late autumn prior to migartion, during migration, and/or during the spring following migration, although year-round singing has also been registered for mid-latitude feeding grounds (Mattila *et al.*, 1987; McSweeney *et al.*, 1989; Clapham and Mattila, 1990; Clark and Clapham, 2004a; Vu *et al.*, 2012). Spring and autumn have therefore been defined as shoulder seasons directly following and preceding the breeding season (i.e., post- and pre-breeding shoulder seasons, respectively; Stimpert *et al.*, 2012; Vu *et al.*, 2012; Magnúsdóttir *et al.*, 2015). Songs recorded on feeding grounds were composed of the same hierarchical structure as on the breeding grounds, although in some cases, less complex song sequences or fragments of songs were registered (Mattila *et al.*, 1987; McSweeney *et al.*, 1989; Magnúsdóttir *et al.*, 2015; Kowarski *et al.*, 2019; Magnúsdóttir and Lim, 2019). For Northern Hemisphere humpback whales, the analysis of feeding ground songs suggests that immature males conduct "off-season" singing on the feeding grounds and during

migration to practice singing (Kowarski *et al.*, 2019). Opportunistic singing outside the breeding grounds and/or breeding season was also interpreted as low-cost reproductive advertisement by males, e.g., to access females that failed to conceive during the breeding season, although actual mating activities, too date, have never been observed outside the breeding grounds (Clark and Clapham, 2004a; Vu *et al.*, 2012). The fact that humpback whales sing on the feeding grounds is furthermore thought to facilitate cultural transmission of new songs within the breeding population and potentially also between different breeding stocks (Magnúsdóttir and Lim, 2019).

On Southern Hemisphere feeding grounds, the data on humpback whale song occurrence and dynamics are still limited both spatially and temporally. To date, two studies have presented recordings of song from Antarctic waters comprising four days from two sites (Stimpert *et al.*, 2012; Garland *et al.*, 2013a). One study collected acoustic data near a humpback whale 'super-group' off western South Africa and described the song that was recorded there (Gridley *et al.*, 2018) while another study reported on the migratory timing of singing humpback whales passing central New Zealand (Warren *et al.*, 2020).

Due to the annual population-wide convergence on one specific song type, humpack whale songs can be used to determine stock affilitation of singers (Payne and Guinee, 1983; McSweeney *et al.*, 1989; Gabriele and Frankel, 2002; Garland *et al.*, 2013a; Herman, 2017). In the Southern Hemisphere, humpback whales migrating through the Cook Strait in central New Zealand and feeding around the Balleny islands were identified by their song to originate from the breeding population of eastern Australia/New Caledonia (stock E; Garland *et al.*, 2013a; Warren *et al.*, 2020).

Thus, the identification and structural analysis of humpback whale songs from Southern Hemisphere feeding grounds can provide a unique source of information which can be used to close existing knowledge gaps on humpback whale behavioural ecology and migratory links, especially in remote regions, such as the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO). At least two humpback whale populations are thought to migrate to the ASSO (stock A and B; International Whaling Commission, 2011), but information on distribution, movements, and behaviour of humpback whales in this area is largely unavailable (Zerbini *et al.*, 2011; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013; Rosenbaum *et al.*, 2014).

#### The Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean

#### Ecological importance

The ASSO is one of the most productive areas of the Southern Ocean and sustains a wide variety of predators including marine birds, mammals and bony fishes (Deacon, 1979; Knox, 2007). The ASSO ecosystem is dominated by dynamic sea ice, the eastward-flowing Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC) and its associated fronts, and the Weddell Sea Gyre (Figure 4) (Deacon, 1979; Orsi et al., 1995; Nicol et al., 2008). The Polar Front constitutes the northern limit of the Southern Ocean, located as far north as 50°S in the Atlantic sector (Orsi et al., 1995). Various island groups uniquely characterize the northern part of the ASSO (Orsi et al., 1995). The high concentration of nutrient-rich Upper Circumpolar Deep Water at the southern boundary of the ACC creates a number of productivity hotspots in the ASSO (Tynan, 1998). The Weddell Gyre acts as a isolating current system regulating temperature in the Weddell Sea and efficiently circulates nutrients, phytoplankton, and zooplankton throughout great parts of the ASSO (Deacon, 1979; Siegel, 2016). Both the Weddell Gyre and the ACC function as transport mechanisms for the recruitment of zooplankton larvae from, for example, the West Antarctic Peninsula (i.e., the 'conveyor belt' mechanism; Figure 4; Siegel, 2016). The formation of sea ice in winter is a major driver of ocean overturning circulation through the release of dense brine into the water column. Sea ice concentration and extent both during winter and summer have major effects on primary as well as secondary production (Nicol et al., 2008). Sea ice serves as a colonization platform for sea ice algae which form an important food resource for pelagic herbivores in winter (Nicol, 2006; Nicol et al., 2008; Flores et al., 2012b). During the springtime sea ice melt, nutrients are released and communities of ice algae seed the surface waters with an initial population of algae, resulting in massive ice edge blooms (Nicol et al., 2008).



Figure 4. The Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO). The Polar Front defines the northern limit of the Southern Ocean. The southern boundary of the eastward flowing Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC) and the Weddell Gyre are key oceanographic features of the ASSO that affect ecological processes.

The ASSO, as well as many other parts of the Southern Ocean, is described as a 'krill-based-ecosystem', in which the Antarctic krill (*Euphausia superba*) acts as a keystone species (Siegel and Loeb, 1995; Nicol *et al.*, 2008). Antarctic krill occurs on a circumpolar scale in large concentrations and high densities, mainly associated with the continental shelf break (Nicol, 2006). The reproductive strategy and life cycle of the Antarctic krill is entirely adapted to the environmental conditions of the Southern Ocean including sea ice dynamics, ocean circulations and light availability, allowing for an optimized recruitment of krill populations (Nicol, 2006; Flores *et al.*, 2012b). In the ASSO, krill densities are highest were the Weddell Sea Gyre meets the ACC (see Figure 4) and the regional krill abundance in summer is positively correlated with the sea ice extent from the previous winter (Nicol, 2006). In

comparison to other sectors of the Southern Ocean (i.e., Indian Ocean sector and Pacific sector), the ASSO is colder, more productive (in terms of primary production), and sustaining greater densities of Antarctic krill (Deacon, 1979). The abundance of Antarctic krill, in the ASSO, is key to the subsistence of various Antarctic and seasonally visiting predator species, as crabeater seals (*Lobodon carcinophaga*), Adélie penguins (*Pygoscelis adeliae*), and multiple baleen whale species (Knox, 2007).

#### Humpback whales and other baleen whales in the Southern Ocean ecosystem

The Southern Ocean ecosystem sustains many thousand baleen whales in addition to many other smaller krill predator species, such as penguins and pinnipeds (Knox, 2007; Leaper et al., 2008; Boyd, 2009). Eight different baleen whale species, namely the Antarctic blue whale (Balaenoptera musculus intermedia), the pygmy blue whale (Balaenoptera musculus brevicauda), the fin whale, the Antarctic minke whale (Balaenoptera bonaerensis), the dwarf minke whale (Balaenoptera acutorostrata subspecies), the Southern right whale (Eubalaean australis), the sei whale (Balaenoptera borealis), and the humpback whale, are considered *true* Antarctic baleen whales due to their dependence on the Southern Ocean as a habitat (Boyd, 2009). These baleen whale species are highly adapted to efficiently exploit Antarctic krill occurring in high densities and at predictable locales (Nicol et al., 2008) with different baleen whale species usually occupying slightly distinct ecological niches (i.e., specializing on krill in different life-stages; Friedlaender et al., 2006; Friedlaender et al., 2009; Friedlaender et al., 2011). The occurrence of Antarctic krill is dependent on the availability of phytoplankton and especially the availability of large diatoms (Nicol et al., 2010; Siegel, 2016). In the Southern Ocean, the growth of phytoplankton and particularly large diatoms is limited by the availability of dissolved iron in surface waters (Boyd et al., 2007). Baleen whales take an important part in the Southern Ocean iron cycle because these whales recycle iron in surface waters when defecating rapidly dispersing iron-rich feces which, in turn, fertilize phytoplankton blooms (Smetacek and Nicol, 2005; Nicol et al., 2010).

Many baleen whales visit the Southern Ocean as seasonal visitors during the summer months when productivity rates are highest (Knox, 2007). Recent studies, however, also highlighted the importance of this area as an overwintering ground for multiple baleen whale species, such as the Antarctic blue whale, the Antarctic minke whale, and the humpback whale (Širović *et al.*, 2004; Širović *et al.*, 2009;

Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013; Thomisch *et al.*, 2016; Filun *et al.*, 2020). Overwintering whales are thought to exploit additional prey resources to fuel growth, pregnancy, or lactation (Craig *et al.*, 2003; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013; Thomisch *et al.*, 2016; Filun *et al.*, 2020). For Antarctic blue whales and Antarctic minke whales, the acoustic recordings of song, moreover, suggested that overwintering individuals also spatially shift their reproductive behavior from low latitudes to the Southern Ocean (Thomisch *et al.*, 2016; Filun *et al.*, 2020).

Humpback whales are one of the most abundant whale species in the Southern Ocean (Branch and Butterworth, 2001). The ASSO is equivalent to management area II (0°-60°W) as defined by the International Whaling Commission (IWC) and at least two humpback whale breeding stocks from the South Atlantic are thought to visit this area during summer: breeding stock A from the southwest Atlantic and breeding stock B from the southeast Atlantic (International Whaling Commission, 2011). The breeding stocks G and C (from the south-eastern Pacific and the south-western Indian Ocean, respectively) are thought to migrate to feeding grounds in the direct vicinity of the ASSO (i.e., within management areas I and III; International Whaling Commission, 2011). Due to the logistical difficulties of data collection in the Southern Ocean, available information on, for example, humpback whale distribution, behavior, and habitat use is generally biased towards lower-latitude regions and/or the summer season (Gibbons *et al.*, 2003; Engel and Martin, 2009; Rosenbaum *et al.*, 2009; Zerbini *et al.*, 2011; Bombosch *et al.*, 2014; Rosenbaum *et al.*, 2014; Amaral *et al.*, 2016). Information on feeding ground occupation by the different humpback whale breeding stocks is lacking, but crucial to management decisions on ecosystem and population conservation (International Whaling Commission, 2011; 2016; Teschke *et al.*, 2016).

#### Passive acoustic monitoring to study humpback whales in the Southern Ocean

Passive acoustic monitoring (PAM) using autonomous recording systems is one of the most efficient tools to investigate large-scale and long-term patterns in baleen whale occurrence and behavior (e.g., Širović *et al.*, 2013; Risch *et al.*, 2014a; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2014; Davis *et al.*, 2017). In the case of the Southern Ocean, PAM is the only tool to study (vocalizing) whales year-round because these data can be collected independently of factors like weather, daylight, and sea ice concentration (Širović *et* 

*al.*, 2004; Širović *et al.*, 2009; Širović and Hildebrand, 2011; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013; Thomisch *et al.*, 2016; Miller and Miller, 2018; Roca and Van Opzeeland, 2019; Filun *et al.*, 2020; Shabangu *et al.*, 2020). The implementation of a large-scale and long-term PAM system in the ASSO (Rettig *et al.*, 2013a) allows for the investigation of the acoustic ecology of multiple vocally active marine mammal species in parallel and the generation of baseline data to detect species' responses to environmental and anthropogenic impacts.

Humpback whales have been studied intensively with PAM because humpback whales are vocally active during most times of the year related to different types of behavior (e.g., D'Vincent *et al.*, 1985; Clark and Clapham, 2004a; Darling and Sousa-Lima, 2005; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013; Magnúsdóttir *et al.*, 2014; Fournet *et al.*, 2015). A prerequisite for using PAM to study animal presence or behavior is the production of sounds by the respective animals, meaning that silent individuals will remain undetected. Not much is known about the rates of acoustic activity in humpback whales, except that vocalization rates are highly variable (i.e., 0.1-10 vocalizations per minute; Dunlop *et al.*, 2008; Indeck *et al.*, 2020). Consequently, the absence of humpback whale sound detections does not necessarily imply the physical absence of humpback whales, rather the acoustic activity of humpback whales can be interpreted as "presence-only" data (Moore *et al.*, 2012; Gregr *et al.*, 2013). Nevertheless, spatiotemporal patterns in presence and behavior, such as singing behavior, can be assessed with PAM and for humpback whales, this information is mostly lacking in the ASSO (Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013). The analysis of PAM data from the ASSO can help to approach central questions, such as 'How do humpback whales respond to environmental changes?' or 'Which humpback whale breeding stocks mix on the ASSO feeding grounds?'.

## Objectives

This PhD thesis project aims at the investigation of humpback whale ecology using an extensive passive acoustic dataset from the ASSO.

The following objectives structured the work during the three-year project duration and shaped the results described in the four presented manuscripts as well as some preliminary results which are discussed in the synthesis:

- Develop tools to efficiently detect and classify humpback whale vocalizations and song structures
- 2. Use the acoustic presence of humpback whales to infer spatio-temporal patterns in their distribution and relate these patterns to variabilities in the environment
- 3. Investigate the spatio-temporal pattern in humpback whale song occurrence and structure in the ASSO to fill knowledge gaps on humpback whale behavioral ecology in the Southern Ocean
- 4. Asses if the ASSO feeding ground is frequented by different humpback whale breeding populations by using song comparison analyses

## References

- Acevedo, J., Aguayo-Lobo, A., Allen, J., Botero-Acosta, N., Capella, J., Castro, C., Rosa, L. D., Denkinger, J., Félix, F., Flórez-González, L., Garita, F., Guzmán, H. M., Haase, B., Kaufman, G., Llano, M., Olavarría, C., Pacheco, A. S., Plana, J., Rasmussen, K., Scheidat, M., Secchi, E. R., Silva, S., and Stevick, P. T. (2017). "Migratory preferences of humpback whales between feeding and breeding grounds in the eastern South Pacific," Marine Mammal Science 33, 1035-1052.
- Albertson, G., Friedlaender, A., Steel, D., Aguayo-Lobo, A., Bonatto, S., Caballero, S., Constantine, R., Cypriano-Souza, A., Engel, M., and Garrigue, C. (2018). "Temporal stability and mixed-stock analyses of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the nearshore waters of the Western Antarctic Peninsula," Polar Biology 41, 323-340.
- Alexander, R. D. (1974). "The evolution of social behavior," Annual review of ecology and systematics 5, 325-383.
- Allen, J. A., Garland, E. C., Dunlop, R. A., and Noad, M. J. (2018). "Cultural revolutions reduce complexity in the songs of humpback whales," Proceedings of the Royal Society B 285, 20182088.
- Amaral, A. R., Loo, J., Jaris, H., Olavarria, C., Thiele, D., Ensor, P., Aguayo, A., and Rosenbaum, H. C. (2016). "Population genetic structure among feeding aggregations of humpback whales in the Southern Ocean," Marine Biology 163, 1-13.
- Au, W. W. L., and Hastings, M. C. (2008). Principles of marine bioacoustics (Springer New York).
- Au, W. W. L., Pack, A. A., Lammers, M. O., Herman, L. M., Deakos, M. H., and Andrews, K. (2006). "Acoustic properties of humpback whale songs," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 120, 1103-1110.
- Aubin, T., and Jouventin, P. (1998). "Cocktail-party effect in king penguin colonies," Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 265, 1665-1673.
- Barrett-Lennard, L. G. (2000). "Population structure and mating patterns of killer whales (Orcinus orca) as revealed by DNA analysis," (University of British Columbia).
- Bass, A. H., and Clark, C. W. (2003). "The physical acoustics of underwater sound communication," in Acoustic communication (Springer), pp. 15-64.
- Berta, A., Ekdale, E. G., and Cranford, T. W. (2014). "Review of the cetacean nose: form, function, and evolution," The Anatomical Record 297, 2205-2215.
- Bombosch, A., Zitterbart, D. P., Van Opzeeland, I., Frickenhaus, S., Burkhardt, E., Wisz, M. S., and Boebel, O. (2014). "Predictive habitat modelling of humpback (Megaptera novaeangliae) and Antarctic minke (Balaenoptera bonaerensis) whales in the Southern Ocean as a planning tool for seismic surveys," Deep-Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 91, 101-114.
- Boyd, I. L. (2009). "Antarctic marine mammals," in Encyclopedia of marine mammals, edited by W. F. Perrin, B. Würsig, and J. G. M. Thewissen (Academic Press, New York), pp. 42-46.
- Boyd, P. W., Jickells, T., Law, C., Blain, S., Boyle, E., Buesseler, K., Coale, K., Cullen, J., De Baar, H. J., and Follows, M. (2007). "Mesoscale iron enrichment experiments 1993-2005: synthesis and future directions," Science 315, 612-617.
- Bradbury, J. W., and Vehrencamp, S. L. (1998). "Principles of animal communication."
- Branch, T., and Butterworth, D. (2001). "Estimates of abundance south of 60°S for cetacean species sighted frequently on the 1978/79 to 1997/98 IWC/IDCR-SOWER sighting surveys," Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 3, 251-270.

- Buchan, S. J., Gutierrez, L., Balcazar-Cabrera, N., and Stafford, K. M. (2019). "Seasonal occurrence of fin whale song off Juan Fernandez, Chile," Endangered Species Research 39, 135-145.
- Calambokidis, J., Steiger, G. H., Straley, J. M., Herman, L. M., Cerchio, S., Salden, D. R., Jorge, U. R., Jacobsen, J. K., Ziegesar, O. V., and Balcomb, K. C. (2001). "Movements and population structure of humpback whales in the North Pacific," Marine mammal science 17, 769-794.
- Cerchio, S., Jacobsen, J. K., and Norris, T. F. (2001). "Temporal and geographical variation in songs of humpback whales, Megaptera novaeangliae: synchronous change in Hawaiian and Mexican breeding assemblages," Animal Behaviour 62, 313-329.
- Cerchio, S., Willson, A., Muirhead, C., Minton, G., Collins, T., Baldwin, R., Sarrouf Willson, M., and Al Harthi, S. (2016). "Preliminary report on long-term detection of Arabian Sea humpback whale vocalizations off Oman," IWC, Bled.
- Charif, R. A., Clapham, P. J., and Clark, C. W. (2001). "Acoustic detections of singing humpback whales in deep waters off the British Isles," Marine Mammal Science 17, 751-768.
- Charlesworth, D., and Willis, J. H. (2009). "The genetics of inbreeding depression," Nature reviews genetics 10, 783-796.
- Chen, Z., and Wiens, J. J. (2020). "The origins of acoustic communication in vertebrates," Nature communications 11, 1-8.
- Cholewiak, D. (2008). "Evaluating the role of song in the humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) breeding system with respect to intra-sexual interactions."
- Cholewiak, D. M., Sousa-Lima, R. S., and Cerchio, S. (2013). "Humpback whale song hierarchical structure: Historical context and discussion of current classification issues," Marine Mammal Science 29, E312-E332.
- Chu, K., and Harcourt, P. (1986). "Behavioral correlations with aberrant patterns in humpback whale songs," Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 19, 309-312.
- Clapham, P., and Zerbini, A. (2015). "Are social aggregation and temporary immigration driving high rates of increase in some Southern Hemisphere humpback whale populations?," Marine Biology 162, 625-634.
- Clapham, P. J. (2018). "Humpback whale: Megaptera novaeangliae," in Encyclopedia of marine mammals (Elsevier), pp. 489-492.
- Clapham, P. J., and Mattila, D. K. (1990). "Humpback Whale Songs as Indicators of Migration Routes," Marine Mammal Science 6, 155-160.
- Clark, C. W., and Clapham, P. (2004). "Acoustic monitoring on a humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) feeding ground shows continual singing into late spring," Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences 271, 1051-1057.
- Cooke, J. G. (2018). "Megaptera novaeangliae," edited by T. I. R. L. o. T. Species, and 2018.
- Craig, A. S., Herman, L. M., Gabriele, C. M., and Pack, A. A. (2003). "Migratory timing of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the central north Pacific varies with age, sex and reproductive status," Behaviour 140, 981-1001.
- Cranford, T. W. (2000). "In Search of Impulse Sound Sources in Odontocetes " in Hearing by Whales and Dolphins (Springer Handbook of Auditory Research series), edited by W. W. L. Au, A. N. Popper, and R. R. Fay (Springer-Verlag, New York), pp. 109-156.
- Cranford, T. W., Amundin, M. E., and Norris, K. S. (1996). "Functional morphology and homology in the odontocete nasal complex: implications for sound generation " Journal of Morphology 228, 223-285.
- Cranford, T. W., Elsberry, W. R., Van Bonn, W. G., Jeffress, J. A., Chaplin, M. S., Blackwood,D. J., Carder, D. A., Kamolnick, T., Todd, M. A., and Ridgway, S. H. (2011)."Observation and analysis of sonar signal generation in the bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops)

truncatus): evidence for two sonar sources," Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 407, 81-96.

- Croll, D. A., Clark, C. W., Acevedo, A., Tershy, B., Flores, S., Gedamke, J., and Urban, J. (2002). "Only male fin whales sing loud songs," Nature 417, 809-809.
- D'Vincent, C. G., Nilson, R. M., and Hanna, R. E. (1985). "Vocalization and coordinated feeding behavior of the humpback whale in southeastern Alaska," Sci. Rep. Whales Res. Inst 36, 41-47.
- Dalla Rosa, L., Secchi, E., Maia, Y. G., Zerbini, A., and Heide-Jørgensen, M. (2008). "Movements of satellite-monitored humpback whales on their feeding ground along the Antarctic Peninsula," Polar Biology 31, 771-781.
- Darling, J. (2002). "Song," in Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals, edited by W. F. Perrin, B. Würsig, and J. G. M. Thewissen (Academic Press, London), pp. 1124-1126.
- Darling, J. D., Acebes, J. M. V., Frey, O., Urbán, R. J., and Yamaguchi, M. (2019). "Convergence and divergence of songs suggests ongoing, but annually variable, mixing of humpback whale populations throughout the North Pacific," Scientific reports 9, 1-14.
- Darling, J. D., Jones, M. E., and Nicklin, C. P. (2006). "Humpback whale songs: Do they organize males during the breeding season?," Behaviour, 1051-1101.
- Darling, J. D., and Sousa-Lima, R. S. (2005). "Songs indicate interaction between humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) populations in the western and eastern South Atlantic Ocean," Marine Mammal Science 21, 557-566.
- Davis, G. E., Baumgartner, M. F., Bonnell, J. M., Bell, J., Berchok, C., Bort Thornton, J., Brault, S., Buchanan, G., Charif, R. A., Cholewiak, D., Clark, C. W., Corkeron, P., Delarue, J., Dudzinski, K., Hatch, L., Hildebrand, J., Hodge, L., Klinck, H., Kraus, S., Martin, B., Mellinger, D. K., Moors-Murphy, H., Nieukirk, S., Nowacek, D. P., Parks, S., Read, A. J., Rice, A. N., Risch, D., Širović, A., Soldevilla, M., Stafford, K., Stanistreet, J. E., Summers, E., Todd, S., Warde, A., and Van Parijs, S. M. (2017). "Long-term passive acoustic recordings track the changing distribution of North Atlantic right whales (Eubalaena glacialis) from 2004 to 2014," Scientific Reports 7, 13460.
- Deacon, G. (1979). "The Weddell Gyre," Deep Sea Research Part A. Oceanographic Research Papers 26, 981-995.
- Deecke, V. B., Barrett-Lennard, L. G., Spong, P., and Ford, J. K. (2010). "The structure of stereotyped calls reflects kinship and social affiliation in resident killer whales (Orcinus orca)," Naturwissenschaften 97, 513-518.
- Delarue, J., Todd, S. K., Van Parijs, S. M., and Di Iorio, L. (2009). "Geographic variation in Northwest Atlantic fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus) song: Implications for stock structure assessment," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 125, 1774-1782.
- Derville, S., Torres, L. G., and Garrigue, C. (2018). "Social segregation of humpback whales in contrasted coastal and oceanic breeding habitats," Journal of Mammalogy 99, 41-54.
- Donovan, G. P. (1991). "A review of IWC stock boundaries," in Genetic ecology of whales and dolphins, edited by R. A. Hoelzel (The International Whaling Commission, Cambridge), pp. 39-68.
- Dormer, K. J. (1979). "Mechanism of sound production and air recycling in delphinids: cineradiographic evidence," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 65, 229-239.
- Dunlop, R. A., Cato, D. H., and Noad, M. J. (2008). "Non-song acoustic communication in migrating humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Marine Mammal Science 24, 613-629.

- Dunlop, R. A., Cato, D. H., Noad, M. J., and Stokes, D. M. (2013). "Source levels of social sounds in migrating humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 134, 706-714.
- Edds-Walton, P. L. (1997). "Acoustic communication signals of mysticete whales," Bioacustics 8, 47-60.
- Engel, M., and Martin, A. (2009). "Feeding grounds of the western South Atlantic humpback whale population," Marine Mammal Science 25, 964-969.
- Filun, D., Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Brey, T., Širović, A., Spiesecke, S., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2020). "Frozen verses: Antarctic minke whales (Balaenoptera bonaerensis) call predominantly during austral winter," Royal Society Open Science 7, 192112.
- Fine, M. L., and Parmentier, E. (2015). "Mechanisms of fish sound production," in Sound communication in fishes (Springer), pp. 77-126.
- Flores, H., van Franeker, J. A., Siegel, V., Haraldsson, M., Strass, V., Meesters, E. H., Bathmann, U., and Wolff, W. J. (2012). "The Association of Antarctic Krill Euphausia superba with the Under-Ice Habitat," PLoS ONE 7, e31775.
- Ford, J. K. (2018). "Dialects," in Encyclopedia of marine mammals (Elsevier), pp. 253-254.
- Ford, J. K. B. (1991). "Vocal Traditions among Resident Killer Whales (Orcinus-Orca) in Coastal Waters of British-Columbia," Can J Zool 69, 1454-1483.
- Fordyce, R. E. (2018). "Cetacean evolution," in Encyclopedia of marine mammals (Elsevier), pp. 180-185.
- Fournet, M., Szabo, A. R., and Mellinger, D. K. (2014). "Social calling behavior in Southeast Alaskan humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae): Communication and context," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 136, 2153-2154.
- Fournet, M. E., Szabo, A., and Mellinger, D. K. (2015). "Repertoire and classification of nonsong calls in Southeast Alaskan humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 137, 1-10.
- Freeberg, T. M., Dunbar, R. I., and Ord, T. J. (2012). "Social complexity as a proximate and ultimate factor in communicative complexity," (The Royal Society).
- Friedlaender, A., Fraser, W. R., Patterson, D., Qian, S. S., and Halpin, P. N. (2008). "The effects of prey demography on humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) abundance around Anvers Island, Antarctica " Marine Mammal Science 31, 1217-1224.
- Friedlaender, A. S., Halpin, P. N., Qian, S. S., Lawson, G. L., Wiebe, P. H., Thiele, D., and Read, A. J. (2006). "Whale distribution in relation to prey abundance and oceanographic processes in shelf waters of the Western Antarctic Peninsula," Marine Ecology Progress Series 317, 297-310.
- Friedlaender, A. S., Johnston, D. W., Fraser, W. R., Burns, J., Patrick N, H., and Costa, D. P. (2011). "Ecological niche modeling of sympatric krill predators around Marguerite Bay, Western Antarctic Peninsula," Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography In Press, Corrected Proof.
- Friedlaender, A. S., Lawson, G. L., and Halpin, P. N. (2009). "Evidence of resource partitioning between humpback and minke whales around the western Antarctic Peninsula," Marine Mammal Science 25, 402-415.
- Gabriele, C., and Frankel, A. (2002). "The occurrence and significance of humpback whale songs in Glacier Bay, Southeastern Alaska," Arctic Research of the United States 16, 42-47.
- Garland, E. C., Gedamke, J., Rekdahl, M. L., Noad, M. J., Garrigue, C., and Gales, N. (2013a)."Humpback whale song on the Southern Ocean feeding grounds: Implications for cultural transmission," PLoS ONE 8, e79422.
- Garland, E. C., Goldizen, A. W., Lilley, M. S., Rekdahl, M. L., Garrigue, C., Constantine, R., Hauser, N. D., Poole, M. M., Robbins, J., and Noad, M. J. (2015). "Population structure

of humpback whales in the western and central South Pacific Ocean as determined by vocal exchange among populations," Conservation Biology 29, 1198-1207.

- Garland, Ellen C., Goldizen, Anne W., Rekdahl, Melinda L., Constantine, R., Garrigue, C., Hauser, Nan D., Poole, M. M., Robbins, J., and Noad, Michael J. (2011). "Dynamic Horizontal Cultural Transmission of Humpback Whale Song at the Ocean Basin Scale," Current Biology 21, 687-691.
- Garland, E. C., and McGregor, P. K. (2020). "Cultural Transmission, Evolution, and Revolution in Vocal Displays: Insights From Bird and Whale Song," Front Psychol 11, 2387.
- Garland, E. C., Noad, M. J., Goldizen, A. W., Lilley, M. S., Rekdahl, M. L., Garrigue, C., Constantine, R., Daeschler Hauser, N., Michael Poole, M., and Robbins, J. (2013b).
  "Quantifying humpback whale song sequences to understand the dynamics of song exchange at the ocean basin scale," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 133, 560-569.
- Garland, E. C., Rendell, L., Lamoni, L., Poole, M. M., and Noad, M. J. (2017). "Song hybridization events during revolutionary song change provide insights into cultural transmission in humpback whales " Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, 7814-7821.
- Gero, S., Gordon, J., and Whitehead, H. (2013). "Calves as social hubs: dynamics of the social network within sperm whale units," Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 280, 20131113.
- Gero, S., Whitehead, H., and Rendell, L. (2016). "Individual, unit and vocal clan level identity cues in sperm whale codas," Royal Society Open Science 3, 150372.
- Gibbons, J., Capella, J. J., and Valladares, C. (2003). "Rediscovery of a humpback whale, Megaptera novaeangliae, feeding ground in the Straits of Magellan, Chile," Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 5, 203-208.
- Gregr, E. J., Baumgartner, M. F., Laidre, K. L., and Palacios, D. M. (2013). "Marine mammal habitat models come of age: the emergence of ecological and management relevance," Endangered Species Research 22, 205-212.
- Gridley, T., Silva, M., Wilkinson, C., Seakamela, S., and Elwen, S. H. (2018). "Song recorded near a super-group of humpback whales on a mid-latitude feeding ground off South Africa," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 143, EL298-EL304.
- Helweg, D., Jenkins, P., Cat, D., McCauley, R., and Garrigue, C. (1998). "Geographic variation in South Pacific humpback whale songs," Behaviour 135, 1-27.
- Herman, L. M. (2017). "The multiple functions of male song within the humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) mating system: review, evaluation, and synthesis," Biological Reviews 92, 1795-1818.
- Hindell, M. A. (2009). "Breeding Sites," in Encyclopedia of marine mammals (Elsevier), pp. 169-171.
- Horton, T. W., Holdaway, R. N., Zerbini, A. N., Hauser, N., Garrigue, C., Andriolo, A., and Clapham, P. J. (2001). "Straight as an arrow: humpback whales swim constant course tracks during long-distance migration," Biology Letters 7, 674-679.
- Indeck, K. L., Girola, E., Torterotot, M., Noad, M. J., and Dunlop, R. A. (2020). "Adult femalecalf acoustic communication signals in migrating east Australian humpback whales," Bioacoustics, 1-25.
- International Whaling Commission (2006). "Report of the scientific committee. Annex H. Report of the sub-committee on the other southern hemisphere whale stocks," J Cetacean Res Manag 8 (supplement), 51-1701.
- International Whaling Commission (2011). "Report on the workshop on the comprehensive assessment of Southern Hemisphere humpback whales," Journal of Cetacean Research and Management Special Issue 3, 1-50.

- International Whaling Commission (2016). "Annex H: Report of the Sub-Committee on Other Southern Hemisphere Whale Stocks," edited by S. D. Report of the Scientific Committee, CA, USA.
- Janik, V. M. (2009). "Whale song," Current Biology 19, R109-R111.
- Janik, V. M. (2014). "Cetacean vocal learning and communication," Curr Opin Neurobiol 28, 60-65.
- Janik, V. M., and Sayigh, L. S. (2013). "Communication in bottlenose dolphins: 50 years of signature whistle research," Journal of Comparative Physiology A 199, 479-489.
- Janik, V. M., Sayigh, L. S., and Wells, R. S. (2006). "Signature whistle shape conveys identity information to bottlenose dolphins," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103, 8293-8297.
- Janik, V. M., and Slater, P. J. B. (1997). "Vocal learning in mammals," Advances in the study of behaviour 26, 59 99.
- Knox, G. A. (2007). Biology of the Southern Ocean (CRC press, Boca Raton).
- Kowarski, K., Evers, C., Moors-Murphy, H., Martin, B., and Denes, S. L. (2018). "Singing through winter nights: Seasonal and diel occurrence of humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) calls in and around the Gully MPA, offshore eastern Canada," Marine Mammal Science 34, 169-189.
- Kowarski, K., Moors-Murphy, H., Maxner, E., and Cerchio, S. (2019). "Western North Atlantic humpback whale fall and spring acoustic repertoire: Insight into onset and cessation of singing behavior," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 145, 2305-2316.
- Kyhn, L. A., Tougaard, J., Jensen, F., Wahlberg, M., Stone, G., Yoshinaga, A., Beedholm, K., and Madsen, P. T. (2009). "Feeding at a high pitch: Source parameters of narrow band, high-frequency clicks from echolocating off-shore hourglass dolphins and coastal Hector's dolphins," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 125, 1783-1791.
- Ladich, F. (2000). "Acoustic communication and the evolution of hearing in fishes," Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 355, 1285-1288.
- Leaper, R., Bannister, J. L., Branch, T. A., Clapham, P. J., Donovan, G. P., Matsuoka, K., Reilly, S., and Zerbini, A. N. (2008). "A review of abundance, trends and foraging parameters of baleen whales in the Southern Hemisphere," Paper SC/60. EM3 presented to the IWC Scientific Committee June.
- Magnúsdóttir, E., Rasmussen, M., Lammers, M., and Svavarsson, J. (2014). "Humpback whale songs during winter in subarctic waters," Polar Biology 37, 427-433.
- Magnúsdóttir, E. E., and Lim, R. (2019). "Subarctic singers: Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song structure and progression from an Icelandic feeding ground during winter," PloS one 14, e0210057.
- Magnúsdóttir, E. E., Miller, P. J., Lim, R., Rasmussen, M. H., Lammers, M. O., and Svavarsson, J. (2015). "Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song unit and phrase repertoire progression on a subarctic feeding ground," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 138, 3362-3374.
- Marino, L. (2002). "Convergence of complex cognitive abilities in cetaceans and primates," Brain, behavior and evolution 59, 21-32.
- Marino, L., Connor, R. C., Fordyce, R. E., Herman, L. M., Hof, P. R., Lefebvre, L., Lusseau, D., McCowan, B., Nimchinsky, E. A., and Pack, A. A. (2007). "Cetaceans have complex brains for complex cognition," PLoS Biol 5, e139.
- Mattila, D. K., Guinee, L. N., and Mayo, C. A. (1987). "Humpback whale songs on a North Atlantic feeding ground," Journal of Mammalogy 68, 880-883.
- McDonald, M. A., Mesnick, S.L., Hildebrand, J.A. (2006). "Biogeographic characterisation of blue whale song worldwide: using song to identify populations," Journal of Cetacean Research Management 8, 55-65.

- McSweeney, D., Chu, K., Dolphin, W., and Guinee, L. (1989). "North Pacific humpback whale songs: A comparison of southeast Alaskan feeding ground songs with Hawaiian wintering ground songs," Marine Mammal Science 5, 139-148.
- Mercado, E., Herman, L. M., and Pack, A. A. (2005). "Song copying by humpback whales: themes and variations," Animal Cognition 8, 93-102.
- Mikhalev, Y. A. (1997). "Humpback whales Megaptera novaeangliae in the Arabian Sea," Marine Ecology Progress Series 149, 13-21.
- Miller, B. S., and Miller, E. J. (2018). "The seasonal occupancy and diel behaviour of Antarctic sperm whales revealed by acoustic monitoring," Scientific reports 8, 1-12.
- Miller, E. H. (2009). "Territorial behavior," in Encyclopedia of marine mammals (Elsevier), pp. 1156-1166.
- Mitoyen, C., Quigley, C., and Fusani, L. (2019). "Evolution and function of multimodal courtship displays," Ethology 125, 503-515.
- Moore, S. E., Stafford, K. M., Melling, H., Berchok, C., Wiig, Ø., Kovacs, K., Lydersen, C., and Richter-Menge, J. (2012). "Comparing marine mammal acoustic habitats in Atlantic and Pacific sectors of the High Arctic: year-long records from Fram Strait and the Chukchi Plateau," Polar Biology 35, 475-480.
- Munday, P. L., Dixson, D. L., Donelson, J. M., Jones, G. P., Pratchett, M. S., Devitsina, G. V., and Døving, K. B. (2009). "Ocean acidification impairs olfactory discrimination and homing ability of a marine fish," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106, 1848-1852.
- Nicol, S. (2006). "Krill, currents, and sea ice: Euphausia superba and its changing environment," Bioscience 56, 111-120.
- Nicol, S., Bowie, A., Jarman, S., Lannuzel, D., Meiners, K. M., and van der Merwe, P. (2010). "Southern Ocean iron fertilization by baleen whales and Antarctic krill," Fish and Fisheries 11, 203-209.
- Nicol, S., Worby, A., and Leaper, R. (2008). "Changes in the Antarctic sea ice ecosystem: potential effects on krill and baleen whales," Marine and Freshwater research 59, 361-382.
- Noad, M. J., and Cato, D. H. (2007). "Swimming speeds of singing and non-singing humpback whales during migration," Marine Mammal Science 23, 481-495.
- Noad, M. J., Cato, D. H., Bryden, M., Jenner, M.-N., and Jenner, K. C. S. (2000). "Cultural revolution in whale songs," Nature 408, 537-537.
- Norris, K. S., and Evans, E. C. (1988). "On the Evolution of Acoustic Communication Systems in Vertebrates," in Animal Sonar (Springer), pp. 655-669.
- Nummela, S., and Thewissen, J. (2008). "The physics of sound in air and water," Sensory evolution on the threshold: adaptations in secondarily aquatic vertebrates, 175-181.
- Olavarria, C., Baker, C. S., Garrigue, C., Poole, M., Hauser, N., Caballero, S., Florez-Gonzalez, L., Brasseur, M., Bannister, J., Capella, J., Clapham, P., Dodemont, R., Donoghue, M., Jenner, C., Jenner, M. N., Moro, D., Oremus, M., Paton, D., Rosenbaum, H., and Russell, K. (2007). "Population structure of South Pacific humpback whales and the origin of the eastern Polynesian breeding grounds," Marine Ecology Progress Series 330, 257-268.
- Orsi, A. H., Whitworth III, T., and Nowlin Jr, W. D. (1995). "On the meridional extent and fronts of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current," Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 42, 641-673.
- Payne, K. (1983). "Progressive changes in the songs of humpback whales Megaptera novaeangliae: A detailed analysis of two seasons in Hawaii," Communication and behavior of whales, 9-57.
- Payne, K., and Payne, R. (1985). "Large scale changes over 19 years in songs of humpback whales in Bermuda," Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie 68, 89-114.

- Payne, R., and Guinee, L. (1983). "Humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) songs as an indicator of stocks," in Communication and behavior of whales, edited by R. Payne (Westview Press, Boulder), pp. 333-358.
- Payne, R. S., and Mcvay, S. (1971). "Songs of Humpback Whales," Science 173, 585-597.
- Pitman, R. L., and Durban, J. W. (2012). "Cooperative hunting behavior, prey selectivity and prey handling by pack ice killer whales (Orcinus orca), type B, in Antarctic Peninsula waters," Marine Mammal Science 28, 16-36.
- Price, A. C., Weadick, C. J., Shim, J., and Rodd, F. H. (2008). "Pigments, patterns, and fish behavior," Zebrafish 5, 297-307.
- Pryor, K. W. (1990). "Non-acoustic communication in small cetaceans: glance, touch, position, gesture, and bubbles," in Sensory abilities of cetaceans (Springer), pp. 537-544.
- Reidenberg, J. S., and Laitman, J. T. (2007). "Discovery of a low frequency sound source in mysticeti (Baleen whales): Anatomical establishment of a vocal fold homolog," Anatomical Record-Advances in Integrative Anatomy and Evolutionary Biology 290, 745-759.
- Rendell, L., and Whitehead, H. (2001). "Culture in whales and dolphins," Behavioral and brain sciences 24, 309-324.
- Rendell, L., and Whitehead, H. (2005). "Spatial and temporal variation in sperm whale coda vocalizations: stable usage and local dialects," Animal Behaviour 70, 191-198.
- Rettig, S., Boebel, O., Menze, S., Kindermann, L., Thomisch, K., and van Opzeeland, I. (2013). "Local to basin scale arrays for passive acoustic monitoring in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean," in 1st International Conference and Exhibition on Underwater Acoustics, edited by J. Papadakis, and L. Bjorno (Corfu Island, Greece), pp. 1669-1674.
- Riekkola, L., Andrews-Goff, V., Friedlaender, A., Constantine, R., and Zerbini, A. N. (2019)."Environmental drivers of humpback whale foraging behavior in the remote Southern Ocean," Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology 517, 1-12.
- Riekkola, L., Zerbini, A. N., Andrews, O., Andrews-Goff, V., Baker, C. S., Chandler, D., Childerhouse, S., Clapham, P., Dodemont, R., Donnelly, D., Friedlaender, A., Gallego, R., Garrigue, C., Ivashchenko, Y., Jarman, S., Lindsay, R., Pallin, L., Robbins, J., Steel, D., Tremlett, J., Vindenes, S., and Constantine, R. (2018). "Application of a multidisciplinary approach to reveal population structure and Southern Ocean feeding grounds of humpback whales," Ecological Indicators 89, 455-465.
- Risch, D., Castellote, M., Clark, C., Davis, G., Dugan, P., Hodge, L., Kumar, A., Lucke, K., Mellinger, D., Nieukirk, S., Popescu, C., Ramp, C., Read, A., Rice, A., Silva, M., Siebert, U., Stafford, K., Verdaat, H., and Van Parijs, S. (2014). "Seasonal migrations of North Atlantic minke whales: novel insights from large-scale passive acoustic monitoring networks," Movement Ecology 2, 24.
- Roca, I. T., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2019). "Using acoustic metrics to characterize underwater acoustic biodiversity in the Southern Ocean," Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation, 1-12.
- Rogers, L. J., and Kaplan, G. T. (2002). Songs, roars, and rituals: Communication in birds, mammals, and other animals (Harvard University Press).
- Rosenbaum, H. C., Kershaw, F., Mendez, M., Pomilla, C., Leslie, M. S., Findlay, K. P., Best, P. B., Collins, T., Vely, M., and Engel, M. H. (2017). "First circumglobal assessment of Southern Hemisphere humpback whale mitochondrial genetic variation and implications for management," Endangered Species Research 32, 551-567.
- Rosenbaum, H. C., Maxwell, S. M., Kershaw, F., and Mate, B. (2014). "Long-Range Movement of Humpback Whales and Their Overlap with Anthropogenic Activity in the South Atlantic Ocean," Conservation Biology 28, 604-615.
- Rosenbaum, H. C., Pomilla, C., Mendez, M., Leslie, M. S., Best, P. B., Findlay, K. P., Minton, G., Ersts, P. J., Collins, T., Engel, M. H., Bonatto, S. L., Deon, P., Kotze, G. H., Meyer,
M., Barentse, J., Thornton, M., Razafindrakoto, Y., Ngouessono, S., Vely, M., and Kiszka, J. (2009). "Population Structure of Humpback Whales from Their Breeding Grounds in theSouth Atlantic and Indian Oceans," PLoS ONE 4, e7318. doi:7310.1371/journal.pone.0007318.

- Ross-Marsh, E., Elwen, S., Prinsloo, A., James, B., and Gridley, T. (2020). "Singing in South Africa: monitoring the occurrence of humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song near the Western Cape," Bioacoustics, 1-17.
- Ryan, M. J. (1986). "Factors influencing the evolution of acoustic communication: biological constraints," pp. 70-82.
- Shabangu, F. W., Andrew, R. K., Yemane, D., and Findlay, K. P. (2020). "Acoustic seasonality, behaviour and detection ranges of Antarctic blue and fin whales under different sea ice conditions off Antarctica," Endangered Species Research 43, 21-37.
- Siegel, V. (2016). Biology and ecology of Antarctic krill (Springer).
- Siegel, V., and Loeb, V. (1995). "Recruitment of Antarctic Krill Euphausia-Superba and Possible Causes for Its Variability," Marine Ecology Progress Series 123, 45-56.
- Širović, A., and Hildebrand, J. A. (2011). "Using passive acoustics to model blue whale habitat off the Western Antarctic Peninsula," Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 58, 1719-1728.
- Širović, A., Hildebrand, J. A., and Wiggins, S. M. (2009). "Blue and fin whale acoustic presence around Antarctica during 2003 and 2004," Marine Mammal Science 25, 125-136.
- Širović, A., Hildebrand, J. A., Wiggins, S. M., McDonald, M. A., Moore, S. E., and Thiele, D. (2004). "Seasonality of blue and fin whale calls and the influence of sea ice in the Western Antarctic Peninsula," Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 51, 2327-2344.
- Širović, A., Williams, L. N., Kerosky, S. M., Wiggins, S. M., and Hildebrand, J. A. (2013). "Temporal separation of two fin whale call types across the eastern North Pacific," Marine Biology 160, 47-57.
- Smetacek, V., and Nicol, S. (2005). "Polar ocean ecosystems in a changing world," Nature 437, 362-368.
- Smith, J. N., Goldizen, A. W., Dunlop, R. A., and Noad, M. J. (2008). "Songs of male humpback whales, Megaptera novaeangliae, are involved in intersexual interactions," Animal Behaviour 76, 467-477.
- Stafford, K. M., Moore, S. E., Laidre, K. L., and Heide-Jorgensen, M. P. (2008). "Bowhead whale springtime song off West Greenland," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 124, 3315-3323.
- Stern, S. J. (2009). "Migration and movement patterns," in Encyclopedia of marine mammals (Elsevier), pp. 726-730.
- Stevick, P. T., Allen, J., Bérubé, M., Clapham, P. J., Katona, S. K., Larsen, F., Lien, J., Mattila, D. K., Palsbøll, P. J., Robbins, J., Sigurjónsson, J., Smith, T. D., Øien, N., and Hammond, P. S. (2003). "Segregation of migration by feeding ground origin in North Atlantic humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Journal of Zoology 259, 231-237.
- Stevick, P. T., Allen, J., Clapham, P. J., Katona, S. K., Larsen, F., Lien, J., Mattila, D. K., Palsboll, P. J., Sears, R., Sigurjonsson, J., Smith, T. D., Vikingsson, G., Oien, N., and Hammond, P. S. (2006). "Population spatial structuring on the feeding grounds in North Atlantic humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Journal of Zoology 270, 244-255.
- Stimpert, A. K., Peavey, L. E., Friedlaender, A. S., and Nowacek, D. P. (2012). "Humpback whale song and foraging behavior on an Antarctic feeding ground," PLoS ONE 7, e51214.

- Teschke, K., Pehlke, H., Deininger, M., Jerosch, K., and Brey, T. (2016). "Scientific background document in support of the development of a CCAMLR MPA in the Weddell Sea (Antarctica)–Version 2016."
- Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Clark, C. W., Hagen, W., Spiesecke, S., Zitterbart, D. P., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2016). "Spatio-temporal patterns in acoustic presence and distribution of Antarctic blue whales Balaenoptera musculus intermedia in the Weddell Sea," Endangered Species Research 30, 239-253.
- Torres, L. G. (2017). "A sense of scale: Foraging cetaceans' use of scale-dependent multimodal sensory systems," Marine Mammal Science 33, 1170-1193.
- Tyack, P. (1981). "Interactions between singing Hawaiian humpback whales and conspecifics nearby," Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 8, 105-116.
- Tyack, P. (1998). "Acoustic communication under the sea," in Animal acoustic communication (Springer), pp. 163-220.
- Tyack, P. L. (1997). "Development and social functions of signature whistles in bottlenose dolphins Tursiops truncatus," Bioacoustics 8, 21-46.
- Tyack, P. L. (2008). "Implications for marine mammals of large-scale changes in the marine acoustic environment," Journal of Mammalogy 89, 549-558.
- Tyack, P. L., and Miller, E. H. (2002). "Vocal anatomy, acoustic communication and echolocation," Marine mammal biology: An evolutionary approach, 142-184.
- Tynan, C. T. (1998). "Ecological importance of the Southern Boundary of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current," Nature 392, 708-710.
- Van Opzeeland, I., Van Parijs, S., Kindermann, L., Burkhardt, E., and Boebel, O. (2013).
   "Calling in the cold: pervasive acoustic presence of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in Antarctic coastal waters," PLoS One 8, 1-7.
- Van Opzeeland, I. C., Samaran, F., Stafford, K. M., Findlay, K., Gedamke, J., Harris, D., and Miller, B. S. (2014). "The Southern Ocean Hydrophone Network (SOHN): Circum-Antarctic passive acoustic monitoring of Antarctic blue and fin whales," IWC SC/65b/Forinfo10.
- Videsen, S. K., Bejder, L., Johnson, M., and Madsen, P. T. (2017). "High suckling rates and acoustic crypsis of humpback whale neonates maximise potential for mother–calf energy transfer," Functional Ecology 31, 1561-1573.
- Vu, E. T., Risch, D., Clark, C. W., Gaylord, S., Hatch, L. T., Thompson, M. A., Wiley, D. N., and Van Parijs, S. M. (2012). "Humpback whale song occurs extensively on feeding grounds in the western North Atlantic Ocean," Aquatic Biology 14, 175-183.
- Warren, V. E., Constantine, R., Noad, M., Garrigue, C., and Garland, E. C. (2020). "Migratory insights from singing humpback whales recorded around central New Zealand," Royal Society Open Science 7, 201084.
- Winn, H., Thompson, T., Cummings, W., Hain, J., Hudnall, J., Hays, H., and Steiner, W. (1981).
  "Song of the humpback whale—population comparisons," Behavioral ecology and sociobiology 8, 41-46.
- Winn, H., and Winn, L. (1978). "The song of the humpback whale Megaptera novaeangliae in the West Indies," Marine Biology 47, 97-114.
- Wozniak, B., and Dera, J. (2007). Light absorption in sea water (Springer).
- Wyatt, T. D. (2003). Pheromones and animal behaviour: communication by smell and taste (Cambridge university press).
- Zerbini, A., Andriolo, A., Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Moreira, S. C., Pizzorno, J. L., Maia, Y. G., Vanblaricom, G. R., and Demaster, D. P. (2011). "Migration and summer destinations of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the western South Atlantic Ocean," Journal of Cetacean Research and Management, Special Issue 3, 113-118.

Chapter I

## Large-scale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean

#### This chapter is published

**Schall, E.**, Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Spiesecke, S., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2020). Large-scale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Royal Society Open Science, 7(12), 201347.

## ROYAL SOCIETY OPEN SCIENCE

#### royalsocietypublishing.org/journal/rsos

## Research



**Cite this article:** Schall E, Thomisch K, Boebel O, Gerlach G, Spiesecke S, Van Opzeeland I. 2020 Large-scale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. *R. Soc. Open Sci.* **7**: 201347. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.201347

Received: 4 August 2020 Accepted: 9 November 2020

Subject Category:

Ecology, conservation, and global change biology

Subject Areas:

ecology/oceanography/behaviour

#### **Keywords:**

passive acoustic monitoring, humpback whale, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, feeding ground, Southern Ocean, Weddell Sea

#### Author for correspondence:

Elena Schall e-mail: elena.schall@awi.de

Electronic supplementary material is available online at https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.c. 5221455.

## Large-scale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean

Elena Schall<sup>1</sup>, Karolin Thomisch<sup>1</sup>, Olaf Boebel<sup>1</sup>, Gabriele Gerlach<sup>2,3</sup>, Stefanie Spiesecke<sup>1</sup> and Ilse Van Opzeeland<sup>1,2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Ocean Acoustics Lab, Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Klußmannstraße 3d, 27570 Bremerhaven, Germany
 <sup>2</sup>Helmholtz Institute for Functional Marine Biodiversity, Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Ammerländer Heerstraße 231, 26129 Oldenburg, Germany
 <sup>3</sup>Animal Biodiversity and Evolutionary Biology, Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Ammerländer Heerstraße 114-118, 26129 Oldenburg, Germany

(D) ES, 0000-0002-7740-5466

Southern Hemisphere humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) inhabit a wide variety of ecosystems including both lowe and high-latitude areas. Understanding the habitat selection<sup>x</sup> of humpback whale populations is key for humpback whale stock management and general ecosystem management. In the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO), the investigation of baleen whale distribution by sighting surveys is temporally restricted to the austral summer. The implementation of autonomous passive acoustic monitoring, in turn, allows the study of vocal baleen whales year-round. This study describes the results of analysing passive acoustic data spanning 12 recording positions throughout the ASSO applying a combination of automatic and manual analysis methods to register humpback whale acoustic activity. Humpback whales were present at nine recording positions with higher acoustic activities towards lower latitudes and the eastern and western edges of the ASSO. During all months, except December (the month with the fewest recordings), humpback whale acoustic activity was registered in the ASSO. The acoustic presence of humpback whales at various locations in the ASSO confirms previous observations that part of the population remains in high-latitude waters beyond austral summer, presumably to feed. The spatial and temporal extent

 $\odot$  2020 The Authors. Published by the Royal Society under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/, which permits unrestricted use, provided the original author and source are credited.

2

of humpback whale presence in the *ASSO* suggests that this area may be used by multiple humpback whale breeding populations as a feeding ground.

### 1. Introduction

Humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) inhabit all major oceans and have adapted to diverse ecosystems, including polar and subpolar ecosystems mainly to feed during the summer months, and equatorial ecosystems almost exclusively to breed and calve throughout the winter months (e.g. [1–5]). To reach the most productive feeding areas, humpback whales undertake one of the longest mammalian migrations, stretching between their low-latitude breeding grounds and mid- to highlatitude feeding grounds [6,7]. As in other baleen whale species, migratory behaviour, in humpback whales, is characterized by population-specific spatio-temporal patterns, but is also flexible in terms of destinations and timing, including the omission or delay of migration or the spatial adaptation of migration routes [3,7–10]. Less extreme migratory deviations are very common in many baleen whale populations worldwide. Individuals or groups of baleen whales frequently extend their stay in productive feeding areas beyond the summer months in order to maximize energy uptake [9,11]. The Southern Ocean includes the most important feeding areas for baleen whales in the Southern Hemisphere [12], but knowledge on the year-round distribution of baleen whales in many regions of the Southern Ocean is still limited due to the restricted accessibility of these areas outside the summer months. Baseline information on baleen whale distribution and ecology is key for understanding their role as large predators in structuring the Southern Ocean ecosystem [13].

One presumed high-latitude feeding area for humpback whales is the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (hereinafter referred to as ASSO). The ASSO is equivalent to the management area II defined by the International Whaling Commission (IWC) and is thought to serve as a feeding area for two humpback whale breeding stocks from the South Atlantic: breeding stock A from the southwest Atlantic and breeding stock B from the southeast Atlantic [14]. The ASSO is a typical Southern Ocean ecosystem dominated by sea ice dynamics, the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC) and associated fronts and boundaries, and the Weddell Sea Gyre [15–17]. Sea ice concentration and extent both during winter and summer have major effects on primary as well as secondary production [15]. The Southern Boundary of the ACC creates various productivity hotspots around the Antarctic continent due to its high concentration of nutrient-rich Upper Circumpolar Deep Water [18]. The Weddell Gyre acts as an insulating current system which regulates temperature in the Weddell Sea and efficiently circulates nutrients, phytoplankton and zooplankton throughout great parts of the ASSO [16,19]. Both the Weddell Gyre and the ACC function as transport mechanisms (e.g. the 'conveyor belt') for the recruitment of zooplankton larvae from other Antarctic regions such as the West Antarctic Peninsula [19]. In comparison with the other sectors of the Southern Ocean (i.e. Indian Ocean sector and Pacific sector), the ASSO is colder, more productive (in terms of primary production), and therefore sustaining larger densities of Antarctic krill (Euphausia superba) [16]. The abundant availability of Antarctic krill is key to the subsistence of various Antarctic and seasonally visiting predator species, such as crabeater seals (Lobodon carcinophaga), Adélie penguins (Pygoscelis adeliae) and humpback whales [12].

Recent studies using passive acoustic monitoring (PAM) have discovered that at least parts of the Antarctic blue whale and humpback whale populations even remain in the *ASSO* during austral winter [11,20]. Large-scale trends of the humpback whale distribution, however, remain unexplored. Particularly, in the oceanic regions of the *ASSO*, the distribution patterns of humpback whales are to date largely unknown, although these regions are assumed to be the main migratory destinations of humpback whales from the South Atlantic [21–24].

Technological advances in the fishing industry and predicted climate change might open up new opportunities for the krill fishery shifting fishing grounds further south, where most favourable krill habitats are located [25,26]. Insights into spatio-temporal patterns in the distribution of humpback whales throughout the *ASSO* are therefore of crucial importance for effective management and conservation planning, e.g. by the International Whaling Commission [24]. Furthermore, the scientific community has also proposed the establishment of a Marine Protected Area (MPA) in the Weddell Sea, which aims to also include areas ecologically relevant to large marine predators [25]. Baseline data on the distribution and abundance of species that rely on the resources provided by the Weddell Sea area, such as humpback whales, are crucial for the planning and eventually also the approval of an MPA in the *ASSO*.

This study aims to investigate the year-round distribution of humpback whales over the full spatial range of the *ASSO* by analysing the passive acoustic data collected by a network of 12 simultaneously recording receivers. Humpback whales are a highly vocal species producing sounds on the breeding and feeding grounds as well as during migration, which makes them a suitable species for PAM-based studies [20,27,28]. Through the analysis of a spatially extensive dataset from the *ASSO*, we will explore the spatio-temporal variability in the occupancy of potential feeding areas in the *ASSO* by Southern Hemisphere humpback whales.

## 2. Material and methods

#### 2.1. Passive acoustic data

Humpback whale acoustic behaviour was investigated using data from 12 recording positions throughout the *ASSO* (table 1 and figure 1), which recorded simultaneously in 2013 (figure 2). Passive acoustic recordings were obtained using SonoVaults (Develogic GmbH, Hamburg; Reson TC4037-3 hydrophone, -193 dB re1 V  $\mu$ Pa<sup>-1</sup> hydrophone sensitivity, 48 dB amplification gain, 24 bits resolution) operated on a continuous recording scheme and with a sampling rate of 5333 or 9600 Hz (table 1). The recorders were deployed as part of oceanographic moorings with multiple instruments installed on a vertical line which usually extended to 800 m as the shallowest depth (to avoid being damaged by drifting icebergs; except for the mooring position W12 off Elephant Island, where the water depth was only 300 m) (see also [29–31] for more information on the HAFOS moorings).

#### 2.2. Automatic detection and classification of humpback whale vocalizations

All available passive acoustic data were processed by the 'low-frequency detection and classification system' (LFDCS) developed by Baumgartner & Mussoline [32] and a custom-made acoustic-context filter to detect humpback whale acoustic presence on an hourly basis. LFDCS was set up with a customized call library based on the most common vocalization types of humpback whales and other acoustically abundant Antarctic marine mammal species (i.e. Antarctic minke whale (*Balaenoptera bonaerensis*), killer whale (*Orcinus orca*), Weddell seal (*Leptonychotes weddellii*), crabeater seal, leopard seal (*Hydrurga leptonyx*) and Ross seal (*Ommatophoca rossii*)) [27,32–37]. Parameter settings and thresholds of LFDCS and the acoustic context filter were tuned employing multiple test datasets to optimize the automatic detection of humpback whale vocalizations to the requirements of this study. Detailed information on set-up and test runs of the automatic detection process are provided in the electronic supplementary material. Resulting detected hours with presumed humpback whale acoustic presence are termed *presumed Humpback Whale Presence* (*pHWP*) hereinafter.

#### 2.3. Manual post-processing of detection results

To limit the temporal effort of manual post-processing, only even *pHWP* hours (i.e. hours starting at 00.00, 02.00, 04.00, 06.00, 08.00, 10.00, 12.00, 14.00, 16.00, 18.00, 20.00, 22.00) were included in the further analysis. We evaluated if subsampling only the even hours would not affect the results by performing comparative analyses for two recorders (from 2011) for which all hours were manually analysed. From this full dataset, only even hours were subsampled and the acoustic presence at odd hours was interpolated (condition: two consecutive even hours with acoustic presence determines acoustic presence in intermediate odd hour). When comparing the interpolated results with the original results, similarity between the subsampledinterpolated and full datasets was above 95%. Therefore, acoustic presence in consecutive even hours in the large majority of cases indicates acoustic presence in the intermediate odd hour. Given that the number of acoustic presence hours is underestimated, i.e. approximately halved, our results are all presented as proportions of hours per day or per month. Four human analysts revised even pHWPhours visually and aurally for the presence of humpback whale vocalizations by creating spectrograms in Raven Pro 1.5 (Hann Window, 1025–1790 window size, 80% overlap, 2048 DFT size; Bioacoustics Research Program 2014). Spectrograms were screened for humpback whale vocalizations by viewing windows of 60 s duration, spanning 0 to 1.80 kHz. Hours with confirmed humpback whale acoustic presence (herein referred to as confirmed Humpback Whale Presence; cHWP) could contain both humpback whale social calls and humpback whale song. The level of agreement in manually classifying *cHWP* and false-positive hours between the principal analyst and the other three analysts was calculated on



Figure 1. Bathymetric map of the ASSO and the geographical positions of the 12 bottom-moored recorders included in this study.

| Table ' | 1.   | Information    | on  | passive | acoustic | recordings | included | in | the | dataset. | For | reference | to | earlier | publications, | the | original |
|---------|------|----------------|-----|---------|----------|------------|----------|----|-----|----------|-----|-----------|----|---------|---------------|-----|----------|
| mooring | g I[ | ) is listed in | bra | ckets.  |          |            |          |    |     |          |     |           |    |         |               |     |          |

| mooring ID   | latitude    | longitude    | recorder<br>ID | sampling<br>frequency (Hz) | deployment<br>depth (m) |
|--------------|-------------|--------------|----------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|
| W1 (AWI227)  | 59 2.82° S  | 000 5.78° E  | SV1025         | 5333                       | 1020                    |
| W2 (AWI229)  | 63 59.85° S | 000 1.84° E  | SV1010         | 5333                       | 998                     |
| W3 (AWI230)  | 66 2.01° S  | 000 3.12° E  | SV1009         | 5333                       | 949                     |
| W4 (AWI232)  | 68 59.94° S | 000 4.38° E  | SV1011         | 5333                       | 958                     |
| W5 (AWI248)  | 65 58.09° S | 012 15.12° W | SV1013         | 5333                       | 1081                    |
| W6 (AWI245)  | 69 3.480° S | 017 23.32° W | SV1012         | 5333                       | 1065                    |
| W7 (AWI249)  | 70 53.55° S | 028 53.47° W | SV1014         | 5333                       | 1085                    |
| W8 (AWI209)  | 66 36.45° S | 027 7.26° W  | SV1028         | 5333                       | 1007                    |
| W9 (AWI208)  | 65 37.23° S | 036 25.32° W | SV1030         | 5333                       | 956                     |
| W10 (AWI217) | 64 22.94° S | 045 52.12° W | SV1020         | 5333                       | 960                     |
| W11 (AWI207) | 63 42.09° S | 050 49.61° W | SV1033         | 9600                       | 1012                    |
| W12 (AWI251) | 61 1.07° S  | 055 58.67° W | SV1008         | 5333                       | 212                     |

varying test datasets of at least 150 *pHWP* hours (presented in Results). Hourly humpback whale acoustic presences were transformed into proportion of *cHWP* hours per day. Proportions of *cHWP* hours per day were averaged per month and respective standard deviations were calculated or the monthly acoustic presence was calculated as the number of *cHWP* hours per month divided by the total number of recording hours of the respective month.

#### 2.4. Sea ice data

The sea ice concentration data used for this study were extracted from: a combination of satellite sensor data from the Nimbus-7 Scanning Multichannel Microwave Radiometer (SMMR), the Defense Meteorological Satellite Program (DMSP) -F8, -F11 and -F13 Special Sensor Microwave/Im rs (SSM/Is) and the DMSP-F17 Special Sensor Microwave Imager/Sounder (SSMIS), with a grid size of 25 km [38]. The data were used to calculate the daily sea ice concentration of the area within 50 km radius around each recording location, with the Daily Antarctic Sea Ice Concentration packages in Matlab



Figure 2. Timeline showing the availability of passive acoustic data collected throughout 2013 for the 12 recording positions in the ASSO.

[39]. The radius of 50 km was chosen because the acoustic range of humpback whales in the *ASSO* was estimated at 2–78 km [20]. Additionally, the data were used to calculate monthly averages of sea ice concentrations for the *ASSO* and plotted as maps with the Antarctic Mapping Tools and Daily Antarctic Sea Ice Concentration packages in Matlab [39,40]. In order to test for correlations between humpback whale acoustic presence and the local sea ice concentration, the Pearson correlation coefficient was calculated for four different temporal regimes: Comparing monthly averages, comparing three-monthly averages starting in January (i.e. JFM, AMJ, etc.), comparing three-monthly averages starting in March (i.e. MAM, JJA, etc.).

## 3. Results

In total, 74 628 h of recordings were processed, of which 13 049 were *pHWP* hours. Roughly half of these hours were post-processed by human analysts and, summing all recording locations, 983 h were verified as *cHWP* hours (table 2). Among the four analysts, the level of agreement in classifying *cHWP* or false positive hours was between 93% and 97%.

#### 3.1. Spatial pattern

During austral summer and autumn (January–June) in 2013, nine of the 12 recording positions recorded humpback whale vocalizations (table 2). At the positions W10, W11 and W7 humpback whale acoustic presence could not be confirmed in 2013 (i.e. considering only the even recording hours were included in the analyses; table 2 and figure 3). At most recording positions (W9, W8, W6 and W4), the monthly acoustic presence of humpback whales was not higher than 10% (figure 3). The recording positions W5 and W12 registered monthly humpback whale acoustic presences of up to 20% and at the recording position off Elephant Island (W12), humpback whales were acoustically active during all recorded months of the year 2013 (figure 3). The highest monthly acoustic presences of humpback whales (i.e. greater than 20%) were confirmed at the four recording positions W3, W2 and W1 on the Greenwich Meridian (figure 3). Monthly acoustic presences of 0% were only registered in areas with a sea ice concentration of at least 50%. In the central Weddell Sea, humpback whales were only sporadically acoustically present (i.e. less than or equal to 10%), which presumably was

6



**Figure 3.** Percentage of acoustic presence of humpback whales in the *ASSO* averaged per recording location and month for the year 2013. Size and colour of dots indicates a respective range of percentage of hours per month with humpback whale acoustic presence. The monthly averaged sea ice concentrations are depicted at a  $25 \times 25$  km resolution.

| mooring ID | total hours | pHWP hours | hours post-processed | cHWP hours |
|------------|-------------|------------|----------------------|------------|
| W1         | 5140        | 584        | 284                  | 200        |
| W2         | 5538        | 628        | 306                  | 157        |
| W3         | 6316        | 826        | 428                  | 203        |
| W4         | 7386        | 1958       | 993                  | 23         |
| W5         | 6649        | 1440       | 739                  | 77         |
| W6         | 7630        | 163        | 85                   | 10         |
| W7         | 6424        | 312        | 157                  | 0          |
| W8         | 7077        | 1639       | 823                  | 16         |
| W9         | 6973        | 1159       | 594                  | 46         |
| W10        | 2767        | 452        | 230                  | 0          |
| W11        | 5558        | 923        | 460                  | 0          |
| W12        | 7170        | 2965       | 1476                 | 251        |
| total      | 74 628      | 13 049     | 6575                 | 983        |

**Table 2.** Overview of recording hours, presumed humpback whale acoustic presence (*pHWP*) hours, post-processed hours and confirmed humpback whale acoustic presence (*cHWP*) hours per recording location and as an overall sum.

related to the fact that the area was covered with sea ice over extended periods (figure 3). At positions W11, W10 and W7, which were covered by sea ice almost year-round, humpback whales were acoustically absent throughout 2013.

#### 3.2. Intra-annual temporal pattern

From January until May 2013, at least 50% of recording positions registered humpback whale acoustic presences (figures 3 and 4). In March 2013, humpback whales were acoustically present at the largest proportion of the recording positions (9 out of 12). At recording position W6, for example, humpback whales were acoustically present exclusively during a continuous period of 4 days, between 18 March 2013 and 21 March 2013. At the recording position W5, humpback whales were acoustically present in January, February and March 2013 (figure 4). April 2013 was the month with the highest



**Figure 4.** Average proportion of confirmed humpback whale presence (*cHWP*) hours per month at the nine recording positions, W1, W2, W3, W4, W5, W6, W8, W9 and W12 from January until December 2013 (orange bars). Vertical error bars show the respective standard deviations and continuous grey bars represent months without recording data. The blue solid lines and the right *y*-axis depict the daily averaged sea ice concentration per location within a 50 km radius (average sea ice concentration data for recording position W12 has to be interpreted with caution, as data pixels along the coast, covering both oceanic and ice shelf areas, remain masked in the dataset used, i.e. are biased towards high values). At three recording positions (W7, W10 and W11) humpback whales were acoustically absent, graphs are therefore not displayed.

proportion of *cHWP* hours summed over all recording positions. Off Elephant Island (W12) the peak periods for humpback whale acoustic presence were March until May and October and November (figure 4). During the months January and February and June until September only sporadic acoustic presence (i.e. only single hours) was confirmed at the recording position W12 (figure 4). Similarly, sporadic acoustic presence of humpback whales was registered for January/February until August/ July at recording positions W8 and W9, respectively (figure 3). At the recording positions W1 to W3 at the Greenwich Meridian the acoustic presence of humpback whales was strongly seasonal: humpback whales were acoustically present between January and July with peak periods in March until June (depending on the position; figure 4). By contrast, at the southernmost recording position at the Greenwich Meridian (W4), *cHWP* hours were confirmed sporadically in the months January, February, March, April and July (figure 4).

#### 3.3. Diurnal pattern

The data of most recording positions did not show diurnal patterns in humpback whale acoustic presence when comparing the proportions of (even) hours of the day with confirmed humpback whale acoustic presence per month against each other. For example, at the recording position W12 off Elephant Island (figure 5), but also at the positions W3, W4, W5, W6, W8 and W9, humpback whales were acoustically present during seemingly random hours of the day (W7, W10 and W11 did not record humpback whale vocalizations at all). Only at the recording positions W1 and W2 a weak diurnal pattern can be detected during the months May and June (figure 5). During these months,



Figure 5. Diurnal pattern per month at the recording positions W1, W2 and W12. At the three recording positions W7, W10 and W11 humpback whales were acoustically absent, graphs are therefore not displayed. The diurnal pattern at W3, W4, W5, W6, W8 and W9 was similarly random as at W12, therefore these graphs are also not displayed. Proportions of confirmed humpback whale presence (*cHWP*) hours were calculated for each hour of the day and month of the year 2013. The y-axes only display even hours, because only even hours were analysed in this study.

humpback whales were less acoustically active in the morning and during midday (i.e. from 06.00/08.00 until 14.00/16.00; figure 5).

#### 3.4. Spatio-temporal trends in relation to sea ice

The spatial pattern of humpback whale acoustic presence in the ASSO can be reduced to a longitudinal and a latitudinal trend. The longitudinal trend was characterized by minimal average proportions of *cHWP* hours at the central longitudes of the study area, while at the western and eastern edges of the study area the highest average proportions of *cHWP* hours were recorded. In turn, the latitudinal trend was clearly linear, with increasing average proportions of hourly acoustic presences at decreasing latitudes (i.e. from south to north). Both spatial trends are connected to the spatial extent of the sea ice cover which temporally opened up especially at the western, eastern and northern edges of the ASSO, but which was present year-round in the southern-central part of the Weddell Sea (figure 3).

The intra-annual temporal pattern of humpback whale acoustic presence in the ASSO was not clearly driven by sea ice concentration. Monthly and three-monthly averages of humpback whale acoustic presence were only weakly correlated with the local sea ice concentration (within a 50 km radius). The pronounced seasonal acoustic presence of humpback whales at the Greenwich Meridian (three oceanic recording positions W1–W3) nevertheless seems to be connected to the presence of sea ice. During the rapid decrease in sea ice concentration in the beginning of summer, humpback whale acoustic presence was generally low at the Greenwich Meridian (figure 4). The first acoustic activity of humpback whales in the season was within 1 day and 56 days after the sea ice concentration dropped below 15% (for definition sea ice edge, see [41]). At all three oceanic recording positions (i.e. W1–W3), the proportion of cHWP hours peaked simultaneously with the rapid increase of the sea ice concentration in late summer/autumn (figure 4). The last acoustic activity of humpback whales in the season was within 39 to 67 days after the sea ice concentration exceeded 15%. At all recording locations on the Greenwich Meridian, the proportion of *cHWP* hours declined when the sea ice concentration exceeded 50% (figure 4).

### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1. Spatial distribution

Our results confirm earlier observations that the ASSO is likely to form an important feeding area for humpback whales from the South Atlantic (breeding stock A off the coast of Brazil and stock B off the coast of Angola/Gabon, see [14]). Humpback whales are known to migrate between ocean basins and migration from the eastern South Pacific and western Indian Ocean into the ASSO has been suggested as well [6,14,42]. The highest proportions of *cHWP* hours were recorded at the eastern and western edges of our study area, which are the direct longitudinal extensions of the South American and

African continents. In the Southern Hemisphere, migrating humpback whales are often observed to travel along or close to coastlines, where coastal fronts are thought to aid navigation and provide chances for opportunistic feeding [23,43–45]. The eastern and western acoustic hotspots in our data could therefore reflect humpback whale migratory routes along the eastern/western coastline of South America/South Africa extending south towards the Antarctic continent. Satellite tracking studies targeting humpback whales off Brazil, Gabon and South Africa revealed possible summer feeding destinations north of 60° S in the waters around South Georgia, the South Sandwich Islands and Bouvet Island, but did not register any movements inside the Southern Ocean [21–24]. Besides the favourable position in terms of distance to breeding areas, the eastern and western edges of the *ASSO* could also present areas of elevated food availability; the coastal areas around the northern part of the Western Antarctic Peninsula are known for high densities of Antarctic krill and smaller krill hotspots can also be found along the Greenwich Meridian [19,46].

Alternatively, the observed longitudinal trend could reflect an underlying latitudinal trend. At the eastern and western edges of the *ASSO*, data collection was biased towards lower latitudes, where generally more calls were recorded compared with the higher latitude recording sites. Our data show a clear latitudinal trend with the highest proportions of *cHWP* hours at the most northern recording positions. There are several possible explanations if this trend is real. First, it could be related to the trade-off between the cost of migration and the energetic gain of feeding in high-latitude waters [47,48]. Southern Hemisphere humpback whales migrate southward with the retreating sea ice edge to search for high densities of near-surface swarms of euphausiids in order to maximize their energy intake [47,48]. To minimize the energetic effort, they possibly only travel as far south as necessary to restore energy reserves. An alternative explanation for the observed latitudinal trend is that humpback whales decrease their vocal activity as they move south, e.g. determined by decreasing hormone levels in spring [49]. Humpback whales are sometimes sighted south of 70° S, indicating that single whales are roaming these waters, but might not be acoustically active during this time [50]. Further collection of passive acoustic data over a longer period of time (i.e. longer than one year) combined with visual data are underway and will make it possible to draw further conclusions on these observations.

#### 4.2. Seasonal and diurnal patterns in humpback whale acoustic presence

Humpback whale movement strategies in the *ASSO* are probably optimized in terms of the energy gain and costs, most likely driving intra-annual and potentially even diurnal patterns of acoustic presence in the *ASSO*. Individual humpback whales are likely to adapt their habitat selection and migratory behaviour on the feeding grounds based on their life stage, reproductive status and body condition, as has been confirmed for many baleen whale species [7,51]. This diverse repertoire of migratory behaviour and the ability to adapt to the local environment probably explains the observed seasonal fluctuation in humpback whale acoustic absence and presence throughout the study area.

Summarizing all recording positions, our data indicate humpback whale presence in the *ASSO* during all months of the year, except December. However, for all locations, overall data coverage for December was poor (only a few days during December 2012) which could have affected detection probability of calls. In January and February, also only low proportions of *cHWP* hours were recorded at all recording locations, while overall data coverage was good for these months. These months could either be the time with the fewest or no humpback whales present in the *ASSO*, or represent a period during which whales do not or only rarely vocalize. From ship-based sighting surveys, it is known that humpback whales are regularly sighted in the *ASSO* from December to February [50,52–60], indicating that humpback whales are physically present in the area but may be less vocal during this time. This finding temporally matches the singing pause registered for Northern Hemisphere humpback whales from June to August, when humpback whales probably concentrate on feeding activities to rapidly restore their energy budgets [61].

The virtually basin-wide and near year-round acoustic presence of humpback whales reported in this study suggests that individuals frequenting this area may regularly deviate from the traditional migration model. During austral winter, at least some humpback whales seem to remain in areas of the *ASSO* without sea ice cover, e.g. the waters around Elephant Island or coastal polynyas close to the Antarctic continent (recording position W4 and also see [20]). Similar to what has been reported for humpback whales from other ocean basins, humpback whales migrating in and out of the *ASSO* are likely to exhibit diverse migration strategies [20], potentially including sex- and age-dependent differences in timing of migration, as well as the complete omission of migration during some years [7,9,51,62,63]. During March, humpback whales were acoustically present at the most recording locations

simultaneously (nine out of 12). March could be the time of the year, when most humpback whales, including all sex and age classes, are arriving at the feeding areas in the Southern Ocean, which in turn causes a higher spatial dispersal of feeding individuals or groups to avoid competition. April, May, June were the months with the highest proportions of *cHWP* hours recorded during this study. A high proportion of the acoustic activity during these months was attributed to singing humpback whale males (preliminary analyses show up to 50% of the vocal activity consists of song which is known to be exclusively produced by males; Schall *et al.* unpublished data). The austral fall forms part of the 'prebreeding shoulder season', which is the period preceding the breeding season. During this time humpback whale males start singing before or while migrating to the breeding grounds, presumably to improve their chances of mating success [5]. During the months August/September generally low proportions of *cHWP* hours were recorded at all recording locations. August and September most likely represent the months during which fewest individual humpback whales are present in the *ASSO*, because most (vocally active) individuals spend this time at their low-latitude breeding grounds [10,64,65].

Our recordings did not exhibit any clear diurnal pattern for the acoustic activity of humpback whales in the *ASSO*, which suggests opportunistic sound production during random times of the day. During austral summer, humpback whales might prioritize restoring their energy reserves in a time-efficient manner and might be concentrating most of their activities on feeding and searching for prey. In the waters off the western Antarctic Peninsula, tagging studies have shown that humpback whales follow a diel feeding pattern, with most feeding dives occuring at night when krill swarms are closer to the surface [66]. This vertical migration in Antarctic krill has been described for various regions in the Southern Ocean, although the pattern is not consistent for all regions across the Southern Ocean (see [19] for overview). Humpback whales in the *ASSO* might therefore feed and vocalize rather opportunistically, adapting their behaviour to changes in local prey availability and the presence of conspecifics.

#### 4.3. Spatio-temporal trends and sea ice

The estimated correlation between humpback whale acoustic presence and sea ice concentration was weak. It cannot be excluded that this weak correlation is a consequence of inaccuracies in the sea ice concentration data, which might be biased towards high values due to merging ice shelf areas with oceanic areas for pixels intersecting the coast [38]. The recordings from the Greenwich Meridian suggest that humpback whales moved south, following the retreating sea ice edge. Humpback whales generally seem to prefer open water or larger ice-free areas within the sea ice (i.e. polynyas), which is probably related to the easier access to ice-free space for breathing [20,67]. Along the sea ice edge, humpback whale feeding groups could also be exploiting the high densities of krill, characteristic for the marginal ice zone [19,68]. The dynamic interactions between nutrient supply by melting sea ice, open water fuelling primary production and sea ice as a key habitat for juvenile krill [69–71] influence prey availability for humpback whales in the *ASSO* in a complex spatio-temporal arrangement [72].

#### 4.4. The ASSO humpback whale feeding ground

The *ASSO* is probably a feeding ground for at least two humpback whale breeding populations [6,14,42]. The distinct peaks of acoustic activity detected at the eastern and western edges and potentially even the differentiation of temporal patterns (i.e. the western edge with a rather continuous acoustic presence pattern and the eastern edge with a seasonal acoustic presence pattern) may be reflective of the presence of two distinct humpback whale populations. The spatial segmentation of the *ASSO* feeding ground for the distinct humpback whale breeding populations as well as the potential overlap in the occupied area among these populations represents baseline knowledge necessary for efficient stock management and deserves further investigation. Our study, among many others (e.g. [11,20,73]), has proven remote PAM as very effective for the study of highly mobile marine mammal species in the Southern Ocean. The more detailed analysis of humpback whale acoustic recordings can provide further information on male singing behaviour, which is thought to a be a population-specific reproductive display [74,75].

The attribution of specific feeding grounds to the humpback whale populations in the Southern Hemisphere, as well as the level of connectivity among these distinct breeding stocks are still largely unresolved [24]. Both the political difficulties of implementing dynamic conservation strategies for migratory species as well as the need to estimate the ecological capacity of the *ASSO* food web for krill fishery stock management, would profit from insights in the distribution range for individual humpback whale stocks. Ongoing investigations of humpback whale songs in the *ASSO* are therefore aimed at obtaining such fundamental insights into the population-specific distribution patterns within this important Southern Ocean feeding ground.

11

Ethics. Permission for mooring installation was granted to the Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz-Zentrum for Polarund Meeresforschung by the Federal Environment Office (Umweltbundesamt UBA): Expedition ANT - XXIX/2 UBA permit no. I 3.5-94003-3/286, Expedition PS89 UBA permit no. II 2.8-94003-3/324.

Data accessibility. Data on the acoustic presence of humpback whales in the *ASSO* is uploaded on Dryad (https://doi.org/10. 5061/dryad.ncjsxkss0 [76]). Sea ice concentration data can be downloaded from MathWorks and the National Snow and Ice Data Centre (https://www.mathworks.com/matlabcentral/fileexchange/50126-daily-antarctic-sea-ice-concentration) (https://nsidc.org/data/NSIDC-0051/versions/1). Visual sighting data from the *ASSO* are uploaded on PANGAEA (https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.896842; https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.840382; https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.819861; https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.819866; https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.783806; https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.819866; https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.783806; https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.760340).

Authors' contributions. E.S. analysed the data and wrote the manuscript. K.T. participated in some data collection and helped draft the manuscript. O.B. participated in collecting data and coordinated the study. G.G. guided the analysis and helped draft the manuscript. S.S. collected all the data. I.V.O. coordinated the study, collected part of the data and helped draft the manuscript. All the authors reviewed and contributed to the final document edits. All the authors gave the final approval for publication.

Competing interests. We declare we have no competing interests.

Funding. Funding sources are equivalent to affiliations.

Acknowledgements. Thanks to Develogic GmbH, Hamburg, to the logistics department of the Alfred Wegener Institute, Bremerhaven, the mooring team of the AWI's physical oceanography department, to Reederei F. Laeisz GmbH, Rostock and the crew of RV Polarstern expedition ANT-XXIX/2 and PS89, for their contribution to the development, set-up or maintenance of the passive acoustic recording array. We thank Maria Mallet and Katharina Hiemer for assistance with the manual post-processing of acoustic data and the whole team of the Ocean Acoustics Laboratory for the productive discussions on this study. We also want to thank Mark Baumgartner and Genevieve Davis for the assistance in setting up LFDCS.

## References

- Clapham PJ. 2002 Humpback whale Megaptera novaeangliae. In Encyclopedia of marine mammals (eds WF Perrin, B Würsig, JGM Thewissen), pp. 589–592. London, UK: Academic Press.
- Pinto de sa Alves LC, Andriolo A, Zerbini A, Altmayer Pizzorno JL, Clapham P. 2009 Record of feeding by humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in tropical waters off Brazil. *Mar. Mammal Sci.* 45, 416–419. (doi:10.1111/j.1748-7692.2008.00249.x)
- Mikhalev YA. 1997 Humpback whales Megaptera novaeangliae in the Arabian Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 149, 13–21. (doi:10.3354/meps149013)
- Gibbons J, Capella JJ, Valladares C. 2003 Rediscovery of a humpback whale, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, feeding ground in the Straits of Magellan, Chile. J. Cetacean Res. Manage. 5, 203–208.
- Stimpert AK, Peavey LE, Friedlaender AS, Nowacek DP. 2012 Humpback whale song and foraging behavior on an Antarctic feeding ground. *PLoS ONE* 7, e51214. (doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0051214)
- Stevick PT, Neves MC, Johansen F, Engel MH, Allen J, Marcondes MCC, Carlson C. 2010 A quarter of a world away: female humpback whale moves 10 000 km between breeding areas. *Biol. Lett.* 7, 299–302. (doi:10.1098/rsbl. 2010.0717)
- Geijer CKA, Notarbartolo di Sciara G, Panigada S. 2016 Mysticete migration revisited: are Mediterranean fin whales an anomaly? *Mamm. Rev.* 46, 284–296. (doi:10.1111/mam.12069)
- 8. Barendse J, Best PB, Thornton M, Pomilla C, Carvalho I, Rosenbaum HC. 2010 Migration

redefined? Seasonality, movements and group composition of humpback whales *Megaptera novaeangliae* off the west coast of South Africa. *Afr. J. Mar. Sci.* **32**, 1–22. (doi:10.2989/ 18142321003714203)

- Brown MR, Corkeron PJ, Hale PT, Schultz KW, Bryden MM. 1995 Evidence for a sex-segregated migration in the humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*). Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 259, 229–234. (doi:10.1098/rspb.1995.0034)
- Dawbin WH. 1966 The seasonal migratory cycle of humpback whales. In *Whales, dolphins and porpoises* (ed. K Norris), pp. 145–170. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Thomisch K, Boebel O, Clark CW, Hagen W, Spiesecke S, Zitterbart DP, Van Opzeeland I.
   2016 Spatio-temporal patterns in acoustic presence and distribution of Antarctic blue whales *Balaenoptera musculus intermedia* in the Weddell Sea. *Endangered Species Res.* **30**, 239–253. (doi:10.3354/esr00739)
- 12. Knox GA. 2007 *Biology of the Southern Ocean*, 2nd edn. Boca Raton, FL: CRC press.
- Nicol S, Bowie A, Jarman S, Lannuzel D, Meiners KM, van der Merwe P. 2010 Southern Ocean iron fertilization by baleen whales and Antarctic krill. *Fish Fisheries* **11**, 203–209. (doi:10.1111/j. 1467-2979.2010.00356.x)
- International Whaling Commission. 2011 Report on the workshop on the comprehensive assessment of Southern Hemisphere humpback whales. J. Cetacean Res. Manage. Spec. Issue 3, 1–50.
- Nicol S, Worby A, Leaper R. 2008 Changes in the Antarctic sea ice ecosystem: potential effects on krill and baleen whales. *Mar.*

Freshwater Res. **59**, 361–382. (doi:10.1071/ MF07161)

- Deacon G. 1979 The Weddell Gyre. *Deep Sea Res. Part A. Oceanog. Res. Papers* 26, 981–995. (doi:10.1016/0198-0149(79)90044-X)
- Orsi AH, Whitworth III T, Nowlin Jr WD. 1995 On the meridional extent and fronts of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current. *Deep Sea Res. Part I.* 42, 641–673. (doi:10.1016/0967-0637(95)00021-W)
- Tynan CT. 1998 Ecological importance of the Southern Boundary of the Antarctic Circumpolar current. *Nature* **392**, 708–710. (doi:10.1038/33675)
- 19. Siegel V. 2016 *Biology and ecology of Antarctic krill*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Van Opzeeland I, Van Parijs S, Kindermann L, Burkhardt E, Boebel O. 2013 Calling in the cold: pervasive acoustic presence of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in Antarctic coastal waters. *PLoS ONE* 8, 1–7. (doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0073007)
- Zerbini AN *et al.* 2006 Satellite-monitored movements of humpback whales *Megaptera novaeangliae* in the southwest Atlantic Ocean. *MEPS* 313, 295–304. (doi:10.3354/ meps313295)
- Zerbini A, Andriolo A, Heide-Jørgensen MP, Moreira SC, Pizzorno JL, Maia YG, Vanblaricom GR, Demaster DP. 2011 Migration and summer destinations of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in the western South Atlantic Ocean. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. Spec. Issue 3, 113–118. (doi:10.47536/jcrm.vi.315)
- 23. Rosenbaum HC, Maxwell SM, Kershaw F, Mate B. 2014 Long-range movement of humpback

whales and their overlap with anthropogenic activity in the South Atlantic Ocean. *Conserv. Biol.* **28**, 604–615. (doi:10.1111/cobi.12225)

- International Whaling Commission. 2016 Annex H: Report of the Sub-Committee on Other Southern Hemisphere Whale Stocks; 22 May-3 June 2015.
- Teschke K, Pehlke H, Deininger M, Jerosch K, Brey T. 2016 Scientific background document in support of the development of a CCAMLR MPA in the Weddell Sea (Antarctica). Version 2016.
- Deininger M, Koellner T, Brey T, Teschke K. 2016 Towards mapping and assessing Antarctic marine ecosystem services—the Weddell Sea case study. *Ecosyst. Serv.* 22, 174–192. (doi:10. 1016/j.ecoser.2016.11.001)
- Dunlop RA, Cato DH, Noad MJ. 2008 Non-song acoustic communication in migrating humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*). *Mar. Mammal Sci.* 24, 613–629. (doi:10.1111/j.1748-7692.2008.00208.x)
- Payne RS, Mcvay S. 1971 Songs of humpback whales. *Science* **173**, 585–597. (doi:10.1126/ science.173.3997.585)
- Rettig S, Boebel O, Menze S, Kindermann L, Thomisch K, van Opzeeland I. 2013 Local to basin scale arrays for passive acoustic monitoring in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. In 1st Int. Conf. and Exhibition on Underwater Acoustics; Corfu Island, Greece; 2013, pp. 1669–1674. (eds J Papadakis, L Bjorno).
- Boebel O. 2015 The expedition PS89 of the research vessel POLARSTERN to the Weddell Sea in 2014/2015. Berichte zur Polar- und Meeresforschung = Reports on polar and marine research, Bremerhaven, Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research 689, pp. 1–149.
- Boebel 0. 2013 The expedition of the research vessel 'Polarstern' to the Antarctic in 2012/2013 (ANT-XXIX/2). Berichte zur Polar- und Meeresforschung = Reports on polar and marine research, Bremerhaven, Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research 671, pp. 1–99.
- Baumgartner MF, Mussoline SE. 2011 A generalized baleen whale call detection and classification system. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 129, 2889–2902. (doi:10.1121/1.3562166)
- Klinck H, Mellinger DK, Klinck K, Hager J, Kindermann L, Boebel O. 2010 Long-range underwater vocalizations of the crabeater seal (*Lobodon carcinophaga*). J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 128, 474–479. (doi:10.1121/1.3442362)
- Risch D *et al.* 2014 Mysterious bio-duck sound attributed to the Antarctic minke whale (*Balaenoptera bonaerensis*). *Biol. Lett.* **10**, 20140175. (doi:10.1098/rsbl.2014.0175)
- Schall E, Van Opzeeland I. 2017 Calls produced By ecotype C killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) off the Eckstrom Iceshelf, Antarctica. *Aquat. Mammals* 43, 117–126. (doi:10.1578/AM.43.2.2017.117)
- Van Opzeeland I, Van Parijs S, Bornemann H, Frickenhaus S, Kindermann L, Klinck H, Plötz J, Boebel O. 2010 Acoustic ecology of Antarctic pinnipeds. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 414, 267–291. (doi:10.3354/meps08683)
- Stimpert AK, Au WW, Parks SE, Hurst T, Wiley DN. 2011 Common humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) sound types for

passive acoustic monitoring. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 129, 476-482. (doi:10.1121/1.3504708)

- Cavalieri D, Parkinson C, Gloersen P, Zwally H. 1996 Sea ice concentrations from Nimbus-7 SMMR and DMSP SSM/I-SSMIS passive microwave data, version 1. Boulder, CO: NASA National Snow and Ice Data Center Distributed Active Archive Center 10.
- Greene CA. 2020 Daily Antarctic sea ice concentration. MATLAB Central File Exchange. https://de.mathworks.com/matlabcentral/ fileexchange/50126-daily-antarctic-sea-iceconcentration.
- Greene CA, Gwyther DE, Blankenship DD. 2017 Antarctic mapping tools for MATLAB. *Comput. Geosci.* 104, 151–157. (doi:10.1016/j.cageo. 2016.08.003)
- 41. Tynan CT, Thiele D. 2003 Report on Antarctic ice edge definition by the ad hoc working group on ice data collection in the Antarctic. In *Paper: SC/ 55/19, submitted to the Scientific Committee of the International Whaling Commission.*
- Pomilla C, Rosenbaum HC. 2005 Against the current: an inter-oceanic whale migration event. *Biol. Lett.* 1, 476–479. (doi:10.1098/rsbl.2005.0351)
- Garrigue C, Clapham PJ, Geyer Y, Kennedy AS, Zerbini AN. 2015 Satellite tracking reveals novel migratory patterns and the importance of seamounts for endangered South Pacific humpback whales. *R. Soc. Open Sci.* 2, 150489. (doi:10.1098/rsos.150489)
- Félix F, Guzmán HM. 2014 Satellite tracking and sighting data analyses of southeast Pacific humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*): is the migratory route coastal or oceanic? *Aquat. Mammals* 40, 329–340. (doi:10.1578/AM.40.4. 2014.329)
- Reinke J, Lemckert C, Meynecke J-O. 2016 Coastal fronts utilized by migrating humpback whales, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, on the Gold Coast, Australia. *J. Coast. Res.* **75**, 552–556. (doi:10.2112/SI75-111.1)
- Atkinson A *et al.* 2008 Oceanic circumpolar habitats of Antarctic krill. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 362, 1–23. (doi:10.3354/meps07498)
- 47. Lockyer C. 1981 Growth and energy budgets of large baleen whales from the Southern Hemisphere. In *Mammals in the sea vol. 3:* general papers and large cetaceans (ed. J Gordon Clark), pp. 379–487, Rome: Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations.
- Owen K, Kavanagh AS, Warren JD, Noad MJ, Donnelly D, Goldizen AW, Dunlop RA. 2016 Potential energy gain by whales outside of the Antarctic: prey preferences and consumption rates of migrating humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*). *Polar Biol.* **40**, 1–13. (doi:10.1007/s00300-016-1951-9)
- Cates KA, Atkinson S, Gabriele CM, Pack AA, Straley JM, Yin S. 2019 Testosterone trends within and across seasons in male humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) from Hawaii and Alaska. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 279, 164–173. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2019.03.013)
- Burkhardt E. 2011 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise ANT-XXVI/3. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.

- Kennedy AS, Zerbini AN, Vásquez OV, Gandilhon N, Clapham PJ, Adam O. 2013 Local and migratory movements of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) satellite-tracked in the North Atlantic Ocean. *Can. J. Zool.* 92, 9–18. (doi:10.1139/cjz-2013-0161)
- Burkhardt E. 2013 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise ANT-XXVIII/4. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.
- Burkhardt E. 2011 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise ANT-XXVII/2. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.
- Burkhardt E. 2012 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise ANT-XXVII/3. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.
- Burkhardt E. 2013 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise ANT-XXIX/2. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.
- Burkhardt E. 2013 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise ANT-XXVIII/3. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.
- Burkhardt E. 2013 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise ANT-XXVIII/2. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.
- Burkhardt E. 2014 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise ANT-XXIX/3. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.
- Burkhardt E. 2018 Whale sightings during POLARSTERN cruise PS104 (ANT-XXXII/3). Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA.
- Dalla Rosa L, Secchi ER, Kinas PG, Santos MCO, Martins MB, Zerbini AN, Bethlem C. 2001 Photo-identification of humpback whales, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, off the Antarctic Peninsula: 1997/98 to 1999/2000. *Memoirs Qld. Museum* 47, 555–561.
- Vu ET, Risch D, Clark CW, Gaylord S, Hatch LT, Thompson MA, Wiley DN, Van Parijs SM. 2012 Humpback whale song occurs extensively on feeding grounds in the western North Atlantic Ocean. *Aquat. Biol.* 14, 175–183. (doi:10.3354/ ab00390)
- Stevick PT *et al.* 2003 Segregation of migration by feeding ground origin in North Atlantic humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*). *J. Zool.* 259, 231–237. (doi:10.1017/ S0952836902003151)
- Stamation KA, Croft DB, Shaughnessy PD, Waples KA. 2007 Observations of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) feeding during their southward migration along the coast of Southeastern New South Wales, Australia: identification of a possible supplemental feeding ground. *Aquat. Mammals* 33, 165. (doi:10.1578/AM.33.2.2007.165)
- Morete ME, Bisi TL, Pace RM, Rosso S. 2008 Fluctuating abundance of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in a calving ground off coastal Brazil. *J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK* 88, 1229. (doi:10.1017/S002531 5408000362)

#### 12

- Guidino C, Llapapasca MA, Silva S, Alcorta B, Pacheco AS. 2014 Patterns of spatial and temporal distribution of humpback whales at the southern limit of the southeast Pacific breeding area. *PLoS ONE* 9, e112627. (doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0112627)
- Friedlaender AS, Tyson RB, Stimpert AK, Read AJ, Nowacek DP. 2013 Extreme diel variation in the feeding behavior of humpback whales along the western Antarctic Peninsula during autumn. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* **494**, 281–289. (doi:10. 3354/meps10541)
- Bombosch A, Zitterbart DP, Van Opzeeland I, Frickenhaus S, Burkhardt E, Wisz MS, Boebel O. 2014 Predictive habitat modelling of humpback (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) and Antarctic minke (*Balaenoptera bonaerensis*) whales in the Southern Ocean as a planning tool for seismic surveys. *Deep-Sea Res. Part I: Oceanogr. Res. Papers* **91**, 101–114. (doi:10.1016/j.dsr. 2014 05 017)
- 68. Brierley AS *et al.* 2002 Antarctic krill under sea ice: elevated abundance in a narrow band just south of ice edge. *Science*

**295**, 1890–1892. (doi:10.1126/science. 1068574)

- Flores H, van Franeker JA, Siegel V, Haraldsson M, Strass V, Meesters EH, Bathmann U, Wolff WJ. 2012 The association of Antarctic krill *Euphausia superba* with the under-lce habitat. *PLoS ONE* 7, e31775. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0031775)
- Lara RJ, Haas C, Schnack-Schiel SB, Dieckmann GS, Kattner G. 1998 Biological soup within decaying summer sea ice in the Amundsen Sea, Antarctica. In *Antarctic Sea ice: biological* processes, interactions and variability (eds JF Splettstoesser, GAM Dreschhoff), Antarctic Research Series AGU, Washington, DC **73**, 161–171. (doi:10.1029/AR073p0161)
- Arrigo KR, van Dijken GL. 2015 Continued increases in Arctic Ocean primary production. *Prog. Oceanogr.* **136**, 60–70. (doi:10.1016/j. pocean.2015.05.002)
- Nicol S. 2006 Krill, currents, and sea ice: *Euphausia* superba and its changing environment. *Bioscience* 56, 111–120. (doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2006)056[0111:KCASIE]2.0.C0;2)

- Širović A, Hildebrand JA, Wiggins SM, McDonald MA, Moore SE, Thiele D. 2004 Seasonality of blue and fin whale calls and the influence of sea ice in the Western Antarctic Peninsula. *Deep Sea Res. Part II* 51, 2327–2344. (doi:10.1016/j. dsr2.2004.08.005)
- Herman LM. 2017 The multiple functions of male song within the humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) mating system: review, evaluation, and synthesis. *Biol. Rev.* 92, 1795–1818. (doi:10.1111/brv.12309)
- Garland EC, Goldizen AW, Rekdahl ML, Constantine R, Garrigue C, Hauser ND, Poole MM, Robbins J, Noad MJ. 2011 Dynamic horizontal cultural transmission of humpback whale song at the ocean basin scale. *Curr. Biol.* 21, 687–691. (doi:10.1016/j.cub. 2011.03.019)
- 76. Schall E, Thomisch K, Boebel O, Gerlach G, Spiesecke S, Van Opzeeland I. 2020 Data from: Large-scale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Dryad Digital Repository. (doi:10.5061/dryad.ncjsxkss0)

13

Chapter II

# Multi-year presence of humpback whales in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean but not during El Niño

#### This chapter is under review

**Schall, E.**, Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Mangia Woods, S., El-Gabbas, A., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2021). Multi-year presence of humpback whales in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean but not during El Niño. Under review in Nature Communications Biology.

#### Multi-year presence of humpback whales in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean but not during El Niño

#### Authors

Elena Schall<sup>1</sup>, Karolin Thomisch<sup>1</sup>, Olaf Boebel<sup>1</sup>, Gabriele Gerlach<sup>2,3</sup>, Sari Mangia Woods <sup>1,4</sup>, Ahmed El-Gabbas<sup>1</sup>, Ilse Van Opzeeland<sup>1,2</sup>

#### Affiliations

<sup>1</sup>Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, Germany <sup>2</sup>Helmholtz Institute for Functional Marine Biodiversity, Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany <sup>3</sup>Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany

<sup>4</sup>Marine Evolution and Conservation, Groningen Institute of Evolutionary Life Sciences, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

#### Abstract

Humpback whales are thought to undertake annual migrations between their low latitude breeding grounds and high latitude feeding grounds. However, under specific conditions, humpback whales sometimes change their migratory destination or skip migration overall. Here we document the surprising persistent presence of humpback whales in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean during five years (2011, 2012, 2013, 2017, and 2018). However, in the El Niño years 2015 and 2016, humpback whales were virtually absent. Our data show for the first time that humpback whales are systematically present in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean and suggest that these whales are particularly sensitive to climate oscillations which have profound effects on winds, sea ice extent, primary production, and especially krill productivity.

#### Introduction

Humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) inhabit all major oceans but these iconic large predators were thought to extend their range to polar and subpolar ecosystems only to feed during the summer months (Clapham, 2018). To reach these high latitude productive feeding areas, humpback whales undertake one of the longest mammalian migrations (Stevick et al., 2010). In the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO), the investigation of humpback whale distribution by ship-based sighting surveys is only feasible during the austral summer and still limited due to necessary logistic effort. Therefore, systematic data on their (yearround) presence, abundance, and spatial distribution are missing for the ASSO. Insights on distribution are however vital for understanding their present and future role as large predators in structuring the Southern Ocean ecosystem (Smetacek and Nicol, 2005; Nicol et al., 2010). A long-term autonomous passive acoustic monitoring (PAM) network was installed in 2010 to record humpback whales in their natural Antarctic environment yearround. Humpback whales are excellent candidates for PAM studies due to their year-round vocal activity of all sex and age classes (Stimpert et al., 2011b; Van Opzeeland et al., 2013; Dunlop, 2017). To improve the understanding of the ecological conditions under which humpback whales use the area as a feeding ground, we investigated the inter-annual changes in humpback whale acoustic presence in relation to three environmental parameters that are key to the Southern Ocean: 1) The Southern Annular Mode (SAM) which is the dominant pattern of natural climate variability in polar and subpolar regions of the Southern Hemisphere. 2) The El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) causes periodic fluctuation of sea surface temperature and air pressure originating from the tropical Pacific. Both climate oscillations have large effects on the Southern Ocean productivity (Loeb et al., 2009; Loeb and Santora, 2015; Siegel, 2016; Atkinson et al., 2019). 3) Local sea ice concentration (SIC) directly affects whale access to open water areas which is necessary for breathing. Indirect effects of local sea ice concentration entail its impact on the distribution of primary productivity, which in turn drives the distribution of Antarctic krill (Euphausia superba), the humpback whale's key prey species (Brierley et al., 2002; Van Opzeeland et al., 2013; Bombosch et al., 2014; Siegel, 2016). The large-scale mooring network in the ASSO that we have been maintaining for more than ten years(Rettig et al., 2013a) allowed us to relate the long-term trend in humpback whale acoustic presence to long-term trends in SIC and climate oscillations.

#### **Results and Discussion**

We analyzed passive acoustic data of five recording positions (G1-G5) on the Greenwich Meridian from a mooring network throughout the ASSO from December 2010 to September 2018 (Figure 1).



Figure 5. Bathymetric map of the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO) including the geographic positions of the HAFOS (Hybrid Antarctic Float Observation System) mooring network in the ASSO (coastline and bathymetry data were obtained from (Wessel and Smith, 1996; Amante and Eakins, 2009)). The five mooring positions, G1-G5, visualized with colored dots (i.e., red, green, orange, yellow, magenta), represent the recording locations of the receivers (moored between 2010 and 2018) which were analyzed during this study. Positions G1-G5 form part of the HAFOS long-term mooring network (gray dots(Rettig *et al.*, 2013a)). The other recording positions (W6-13) were only active during 2013 and were therefore not included here (but see (Schall *et al.*, 2020) for details). Light grey lines represent the minimum and maximum of the annual wintertime (21 June -21 September) maximum sea ice extent during the of the sea ice extent of the specific years with the maximum and minimum wintertime maximum sea ice extent, but - calculated independently for each longitude - the multi-year composite of the maximum and minimum of the wintertime maximum sea ice extent during this period.

At the four oceanic recording locations (G1-G4), humpback whales were acoustically present during summer and autumn of the years 2011, 2012, 2013, 2017, and 2018 (i.e., times at which data were available for each recording position), coinciding with periods of low SIC (Figure 2A, Supplementary material S2, S3). The high proportion of hours with humpback whale acoustic presence during autumn at G1-G4 coincided with the known timing of onset of singing behavior in Southern Hemisphere humpback whale males in lower latitude waters (Stimpert *et al.*, 2012; Garland *et al.*, 2013a). During this period, two or more individuals

often were vocalizing at the same time in our recordings and acoustic activity was registered at all four locations in parallel, indicating the presence of multiple animals. Close to the coastal recording location (G5) where high sea ice concentrations were common during most months, humpback whales were acoustically absent or appeared only at low rates (e.g., during the years 2011-2013; Supplementary material S2, S3). At the same position (G5) and one of the oceanic locations (G3), humpback whales were acoustically present also during winter months, when SIC reached almost 100% (Figure 2A, Supplementary material S2, S3). Although humpback whale winter acoustic presence was limited compared to the summer months, the occurrence of calls in winter was persistent between years occurring at multiple sites (Supplementary material S3).

In contrast to previous and following years, only very low numbers of humpback whale vocalizations were detected in 2015 and 2016 at all locations (Figure 2A, Supplementary material S2, S3), whereas vocalizations of other species, e.g., the Antarctic minke whale (*Balaenoptera bonaerensis*), were detected during this time (see (Filun *et al.*, 2020)), excluding a technical artifact. Our findings are supported by the absence of opportunistic visual observations of humpback whales in the ASSO during the summer seasons 2014/2015 and 2015/2016 and only a few sightings during systematic ship-based and aerial surveys during January 2015 (Boebel, 2015; Herr *et al.*, 2018a; b; Burkhardt, 2020). During the same years, 2015 and 2016, when humpback whales were virtually absent, SAM and ENSO (represented by the Oceanic Niño Index, ONI) both simultaneously were in strong positive phases and one of the strongest El Niño phases since the beginning of measurements was registered (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and Department of Commerce, 2019) (Figure 2B).



Figure 2. **A**: Average proportion of hours with humpback whale acoustic presence per month from the four oceanic recording locations (G1-G4) on the Greenwich Meridian from December 2010 until September 2018 (red bars). Grayshaded areas represent months without recording data. The blue solid line and the right y-axis depict the daily averaged sea ice concentration within a 50 km radius around recording locations. **B**: Climatic variations from 2011 until 2018 indicated by three-month running means of the Southern Annular Mode index (SAM) as a dominant pattern of natural climate variability in polar and subpolar regions of the Southern Hemisphere and the Oceanic Niño Index (ONI) representing the periodic fluctuation of sea surface temperature and air pressure originating from the tropical Pacific. Time span of strong El Niño phase in 2015/16 is indicated by the yellow rectangle. Vertical gray lines indicate the onset of summer (S) and winter (W) and vertical dotted lines indicate the onset of spring and autumn (based on equinoxes and solstices). Horizontal dashed line represents zero-orientation line.

Modeling the effect of SIC, SAM, and ONI on the acoustic presence of humpback whales at the study location revealed that mainly SIC and ONI explain the observed pattern of humpback whale acoustic presence in the ASSO. The smoothed effects of month and SIC were highly significant because these variables explain seasonality in humpback whale presence on the feeding ground (Table 1, Figure 3; (Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013; Bombosch *et al.*, 2014)) in five out of seven years. The model showed that the ONI in the positive phase predicts a significantly lower probability of humpback whale acoustic presence than ONI in neutral or negative phases (Table 1, Figure 3). The smoothed effect of the SAM index was not statistically significant (Table 1, Figure 3). The model prediction for the SAM index showed lower predicted values at negative and high positive index values, although with higher uncertainties (Figure 3). This appears reasonable when looking at the original time-series. The negative phases of SAM were usually registered during winter when acoustic presences are naturally low, and extreme positive phases were only registered during summer 2015 and 2016 (Figure 2). Uncertainties at extreme index values (also for ONI) are high because these

values are rare in the analyzed time-series, which potentially also explains the resulting nonsignificant effect of SAM. To quantify the relationship between humpback whale presence and climate indices with higher certainty, much longer time-series than presented here would be required.

Table 1. Summary of the best-fit model for the acoustic presence of humpback whales at stations G3/G4, including sea ice concentrations (SIC), SAM, and month as smooth terms, as well as ONI as a categorical predictor. Note that the factor levels of ONI as a categorical predictor are listed under the parametric coefficients.

| <b>Formula:</b> PA ~ s(SIC) + ONI + s(SAM) + s(Month) |          |            |         |              |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|----------|------------|---------|--------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Parametric coefficients:                              |          |            |         |              |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | Estimate | Std. Error | t value | Pr(> t )     |  |  |  |  |  |
| ONI Positive  | - 5.8490 | 0.9888     | - 5.915 | 3.87e-09 *** |  |  |  |  |  |
| ONI Positive – ONI Neutral                            | 3.6750   | 0.9682     | 3.796   | 0.000151 *** |  |  |  |  |  |
| ONI Positive – ONI Negative                           | 3.7672   | 1.0207     | 3.691   | 0.000229 *** |  |  |  |  |  |
| Approximate significance of smooth terms:             |          |            |         |              |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | edf      | Ref.df     | F       | p-value      |  |  |  |  |  |
| s(SIC)  | 3.381    | 3.381      | 9.576   | 1.34e-06 *** |  |  |  |  |  |
| s(SAM)  | 2.103    | 2.103      | 1.561   | 0.167        |  |  |  |  |  |
| s(Month)  | 4.635    | 8.000      | 4.387   | 7.23e-07 *** |  |  |  |  |  |
| R-sq.(adj) = 0.485                                    |          |            |         |              |  |  |  |  |  |



Figure 3. Model predictions of the best-fit model for the acoustic presence of humpback whales at stations G3/G4, including the smooth terms sea ice concentration (SIC), month, and SAM as well as ONI as a categorical predictor (see methods for further explanation of categories). Gray-shaded areas in line plots depict 95%-confidence intervals.

Local sea ice concentration is one of the most important environmental factors explaining the spatio-temporal distribution of baleen whales in the Southern Ocean (Širović *et al.*, 2004; Bombosch *et al.*, 2014; Thomisch *et al.*, 2016; Filun *et al.*, 2020). Similarly, sea ice dynamics play an important role in the intra-annual timing of humpback whale presence in the ASSO, showing that they move out of the area when SIC increases and that humpback whales are rarely present at SIC >80% (see also (Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013; Schall *et al.*, 2020)). Additionally, our new data indicate that large-scale climate variabilities drive the major interannual variability in the acoustic presence of humpback whales on a Southern Ocean feeding ground. The most likely pathway by which climate variabilities such as ENSO and SAM could affect humpback whale presence in the Southern Ocean is through their influence on Antarctic krill (*Euphausia superba*) (Loeb and Santora, 2015), since the availability and distribution of this primary prey species most likely is the main driver behind the spatio-temporal distribution of humpback whales in the *ASSO*.

Both SAM and ENSO are factors influencing the spatial distribution and biomass of Antarctic krill by affecting winds, cloud cover, currents, sea surface temperature, and sea ice extent (Yuan, 2004; Loeb et al., 2009; Loeb et al., 2010; Sallée et al., 2010; Kim and Orsi, 2014; Siegel, 2016; Atkinson et al., 2019). During the positive phase of SAM, the westerly wind belt surrounding the Antarctic continent contracts towards the continental shelf and climatic conditions north of the wind belt change to warmer, windier, and cloudier weather. During positive values of SAM, the oceanic feeding areas of humpback whales in the ASSO show signs of reduced sea ice extent, reduced primary production, and, in turn, also reduced krill densities (Siegel, 2016; Atkinson et al., 2019). Especially north of the Antarctic Polar Front, sea surface temperature increases and chlorophyll concentration decreases during positive SAM (Lovenduski and Gruber, 2005; Meredith et al., 2008). ENSO has the strongest effects on the Pacific sector of the Southern Ocean, including the Western Antarctic Peninsula<sup>8,35</sup>. The Western Antarctic Peninsula is a key habitat for Antarctic krill as a spawning and nursery ground, from which krill is transported with the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC) 'conveyor belt' into north-eastern areas of the ASSO (Siegel, 2016). During or after the positive phase of ENSO, El Niño caused warming and the reduction of sea ice at the Western Antarctic Peninsula. Due to these climate conditions, less krill might be recruited from the Antarctic Peninsula towards the oceanic regions of the ASSO, although this process is probably delayed by multiple months considering the estimated transport speed of the ACC (Hofmann et al., 1998; Loeb et al., 2009; Loeb and Santora, 2015; Siegel, 2016). Also, during years of El Niño, a manifestation of negative sea surface temperature anomalies in the

southwest Atlantic, termed the Antarctic dipole, is common which probably affects productivity in this area (Meredith et al., 2008; Loeb et al., 2009; Loeb and Santora, 2015). We therefore hypothesize that during the years 2015 and 2016, positive phases of both SAM and ENSO led to reduced densities of krill on the oceanic feeding grounds of humpback whales in the ASSO while potentially creating alternative prey resources in other areas. Among baleen whale species, the humpback whale is probably the most flexible when it comes to ecological requirements, being able to adapt to wide-ranging changes in the environment with alternative migration and feeding strategies (Witteveen et al., 2008; Barendse et al., 2010). This adaptivity is probably also the reason for the continued presence of at least some humpback whales in the ASSO during austral winter. Especially female and juvenile humpback whales tend to prolong their stay on the feeding grounds or even skip migration entirely in order to fuel growth, pregnancy, or lactation with additional winter feeding (Brown et al., 1995; Craig et al., 2003). During 2015 and 2016, the main part of the South Atlantic humpback whales (probably individuals from breeding stocks from South America and Africa(International Whaling Commission, 2011)) might have adapted their migration routes to exploit areas of high productivity elsewhere than in the ASSO (Barendse et al., 2010). For example, an unusual assemblage of humpback whale 'super groups' was documented in 2015 and 2016 in the southern Benguela upwelling system off South Africa (Findlay et al., 2017; Gridley et al., 2018). Furthermore, in 2016, exceptional recordings of humpback whale song were made close to the west coast of South Africa (Gridley et al., 2018; Ross-Marsh et al., 2020) which indicates not only the displacement of the feeding area but also multifaceted habitat use (i.e., also including reproductive activities) along this displacement. Humpback whales acoustically and physically absent from the ASSO during 2015 and 2016 might have been exploiting alternative habitats and prey resources along the west coast of South Africa (Barendse et al., 2010; Findlay et al., 2017) or other yet undiscovered high productivity areas in the South Atlantic or adjacent waters. To date, the current knowledge on spatio-temporal trends in productivity hotspots in the Southern Hemisphere is nevertheless too sparse to explain trends in migratory predator distribution with certainty. In this context, the maintenance and implementation of further long-term observation systems such as the HAFOS mooring network from which the analyzed recordings originate (see Figure 1 and (Rettig et al., 2013a)) are essential to detect and understand changes in this ecosystem and its functions.

Future climate change could cause the shift of ENSO and SAM towards higher frequencies of positive phases (Cai *et al.*, 2014; Atkinson *et al.*, 2019), which in turn might change the

overall occupancy of certain feeding areas or prey resources by humpback whales on a hemisphere-wide spatial scale. Our results clearly show that acoustic detection of whales can shed new light on biophysical interactions within the fascinating Southern Ocean ecosystem. Interannual trends in the distribution or health status (e.g.,(Bengtson Nash *et al.*, 2018)) of humpback whales and other baleen whales from the South Atlantic, but also other areas, warrant further investigation to provide information to whale stock and fishery management. Evaluating the sensitivity of keystone species to climate variabilities is essential to our understanding of the effects of climate-induced changes on the Southern Ocean ecosystem.

#### Methods

#### Passive acoustic data

Humpback whale acoustic behavior throughout the ASSO was investigated by analyzing a multi-year passive acoustic dataset (2010-2018) from five recording positions along the Greenwich Meridian (Table 2, Figure 1). Passive acoustic recordings were obtained using SonoVaults (Develogic GmbH, Hamburg) operated on a continuous recording scheme and with a sampling rate of 5,333 or 6,857 Hz (Table 2).

Table 2. Information on passive acoustic recordings included in this study. The different recording periods at the five mooring positions were covered by different SonoVault recording units. For reference to earlier publications, the original mooring ID is listed in brackets.

| Mooring<br>ID  | Latitude    | Longitude   | Recorder<br>ID | Sampling<br>Frequency<br>(Hz) | Deployment<br>Depth (m) | Recording Period   |
|----------------|-------------|-------------|----------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|--|
|                | 59 2.82 °S  |             | SV0002         | 5333                          | 1007                    | 2010-12-11 - 2011-05-21  |
| G1<br>(AWI227) |             | 000 5.78 °E | SV1025         | 5333                          | 1020                    | 2011-05-30<br>2011-06-14 - 2011-08-22<br>2012 12 11 - 2012 07 12   |
|                |             |             | SV1004         | 6857                          | 1070                    | 2012-12-11 - 2013-07-13<br>2016-12-22 - 2018-09-18   |
| <b>G2</b>      |             |             | SV1000         | 5333                          | 1007                    | 2010-12-15 - 2011-06-18  |
| $G_2$          | 63 59.85 °S | 000 1.84 °E | SV1010         | 5333                          | 998                     | 2012-12-14 - 2013-08-02  |
| (AW1223)       |             |             | SV1057         | 6857                          | 970                     | 2014-12-16 - 2016-05-19  |
| G3             | 66 2.01 °S  | 000 3.12 °Е | SV1001         | 5333                          | 934                     | 2010-12-16 - 2012-04-13  |
| (AWI230)       |             |             | SV1009         | 5333                          | 949                     | 2012-05-06 - 2012-09-17<br>2013-01-07 - 2013-09-27   |
|                |             | 000 1.51 °E | SV1002         | 5333                          | 1083                    | 2010-12-17 - 2012-02-05<br>2012-02-28 - 2012-07-30   |
| G4<br>(AWI231) | 66 30.71 °S |             | SV1058         | 6857                          | 973                     | 2012-08-04 - 2012-08-09<br>2012-08-11 - 2012-08-14<br>2014-12-18 - 2016-05-28                            |
|                |             |             | SV1023         | 6857                          | 859                     | 2016-12-26 - 2018-10-28  |
|                |             | 000 4.38 °E | SV1003         | 5333                          | 987                     | 2010-12-18 - 2012-05-09<br>2012-06-01 - 2012-08-10<br>2012 12 17 - 2012 05 28                            |
| G5<br>(AWI232) | 68 59.94 °S |             | SV1011         | 5333                          | 958                     | 2012-12-17 - 2013-05-28<br>2013-06-19 - 2013-11-13<br>2015-01-08 - 2015-01-26<br>2015 02 14 - 2015 02 21 |
|                |             |             | SV1059         | 6857                          | 999                     | 2015-02-14 - 2015-02-21  |

#### Automatic detection and classification of humpback whale vocalizations

All available passive acoustic data were processed by the 'Low Frequency Detection and Classification System' (LFDCS) developed by (Baumgartner and Mussoline, 2011a) and a custom-made acoustic-context filter to detect humpback whale acoustic presence at an hourly basis (humpback whales which did not produce any sounds remained undetected). LFDCS was set up with a customized call library based on the most common vocalization types of humpback whales and other acoustically abundant Antarctic marine mammal species (i.e., Antarctic minke whale, killer whale (*Orcinus orca*), Weddell seal (*Leptonychotes weddellii*), crabeater seal (*Lobodon carcinophaga*), leopard seal (*Hydrurga leptonyx*), and Ross seal (*Ommatophoca rossii*)) (Dunlop *et al.*, 2008; Klinck *et al.*, 2010; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2010; Stimpert *et al.*, 2011b; Risch *et al.*, 2014c; Schall and Van Opzeeland, 2017). Parameter settings and thresholds of LFDCS and the acoustic context filter were tuned employing multiple test datasets to optimize the automatic detection of humpback whale vocalizations to the requirements of this study. Detailed information on set up and test runs of the automatic detection process is provided in the Supplementary material (S1).

#### Manual post-processing of detection results

In order to limit the temporal effort of manual post-processing, only even hours (i.e., hours starting at 00:00, 02:00, 04:00, 06:00, 08:00, 10:00, 12:00, 14:00, 16:00, 18:00, 20:00, 22:00) were included in the further analysis. Four human analysts revised even hours with presumed humpback whale acoustic presence visually and aurally for the presence of humpback whale vocalizations by creating spectrograms in Raven Pro 1.5 (Hann Window, 1025-1790 window size, 80% overlap, 2048 DFT size (Bioacoustics *et al.*, 2014)). Spectrograms were screened for humpback whale vocalizations by viewing windows of 60 s duration, spanning 0 to 1.80 kHz. Hours with confirmed humpback whale acoustic presence could contain both humpback whale social calls and humpback whale song.

#### Environmental data

The SIC data used for this study were extracted from a combination of satellite sensor data from the Nimbus-7 Scanning Multichannel Microwave Radiometer (SMMR), the Defense Meteorological Satellite Program (DMSP) -F8, -F11, and -F13 Special Sensor Microwave/Imrs (SSM/Is), and the DMSP-F17 Special Sensor Microwave Imager/Sounder (SSMIS), with a grid size of 25 km (Cavalieri *et al.*, 1996). The data were used to calculate the daily SIC of the area within a 50 km radius around each recording location, with the Daily Antarctic Sea Ice Concentration packages in MATLAB (Greene, 2020). The radius of 50 km was chosen because the acoustic range of humpback whales in the ASSO was estimated at 2-78 km (Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013).

The two most common climate indices for the Southern Hemisphere, the Southern Annular Mode (SAM) (Marshall, 2003a) and the Oceanic Niño Index (ONI, representing ENSO variabilities) (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and Department of Commerce, 2019) were used in this study. SAM data was downloaded from the Climate Data Guide (Marshall and National Center for Atmospheric Research Staff (Eds), 2019) as monthly averages. ONI data was downloaded from the Climate Prediction Centre (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and Department of Commerce, 2019) as three-month running means.

#### Statistics and Reproducibility

To assess the impact of the three climate variables, SIC, ONI, and SAM on the acoustic presence of humpback whales in the ASSO, generalized additive mixed models (GAMMs) were applied in R (R Core Team, 2018). To model the effects of the three climate variables on the presence of humpback whales in the ASSO, the data from G3 and G4 were combined into a single time series (i.e., averaged daily SIC and daily averaged proportion of hours with humpback whale acoustic presence) because these recording positions were less than 50 km apart and provided the most complete time series (see Table 2 and Supplementary material S2). SAM and ONI were also converted into categorical variables with negative, neutral, and positive phases (index value < -0.5 = negative; index value between -0.5 and 0.5 = neutral; index value > 0.5 = positive; see (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and Climate Prediction Centre (CPC), 2019) for details on ONI categories. The same standard was applied for SAM to create a neutral buffer between positive and negative phases). Binomial GAMMs were applied to model the daily acoustic presence/absence of humpback whales at G3/4 as a function of Month, SIC, ONI (either continuous or categorical variable), and SAM (either continuous or categorical variable), including a model to account for temporal autocorrelation (functions gamm of the package mgcv (Wood, 2017) and corARMA of the package *nlme* (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2020) for an auto-regressive moving average (ARMA) model for the residuals). The optimal setup of starting values and orders for the implemented correlation structure was estimated in two ways: (1) with the function auto.arima (package forecast (Hyndman et al., 2020)), (2) by allowing the corARMA function to estimate its parameters directly from our data. Model selection was performed using the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), adjusted r-squared values, and the analyses of residuals.

#### Acknowledgments

Thanks to Develogic GmbH, Hamburg, to the logistics department of the Alfred Wegener Institute, Bremerhaven, the mooring team of the AWI's physical oceanography department, to Reederei F. Laeisz GmbH, Rostock, and the crews of RV Polarstern expeditions ANT-XXVII/2, ANT-XXIX/2, PS89, PS103 for their contribution to the development, setup or maintenance of the passive acoustic recording array. We thank Maria Mallet and Katharina Hiemer for assistance with the manual post-processing of acoustic data and the whole team of the Ocean Acoustics Lab for the productive discussions on this study. We also want to thank Mark Baumgartner and Genevieve Davis for the assistance in setting up LFDCS and Bettina Meyer for discussions on Antarctic krill ecology.

#### Data availability

The hourly humpback whale acoustic presence data that support the findings of this study are available on Dryad (https://datadryad.org/stash/dataset/doi:10.5061/dryad.ncjsxkss0) with the identifier https://doi.org/10.5061/dryad.ncjsxkss0.

#### **Author contributions**

E.S. analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. K.T. participated in some data collection and helped draft the manuscript. O.B. coordinated the study and collected the majority of the data. G.B. guided the analysis and helped draft the manuscript. S.MW. helped with data analysis. A.E-G. supervised the statistical analysis. I.V.O. coordinated the study, collected part of the data, and helped draft the manuscript. All the authors reviewed and contributed to the final document edits. All the authors gave the final approval for publication.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare no competing interests.

#### Literature

- Amante, C., and Eakins, B. W. (2009). "ETOPO1 arc-minute global relief model: procedures, data sources and analysis."
- Atkinson, A., Hill, S. L., Pakhomov, E. A., Siegel, V., Reiss, C. S., Loeb, V. J., Steinberg, D. K., Schmidt, K., Tarling, G. A., Gerrish, L., and Sailley, S. F. (2019). "Krill (Euphausia superba) distribution contracts southward during rapid regional warming," Nat Clim Change 9, 142-147.
- Barendse, J., Best, P. B., Thornton, M., Pomilla, C., Carvalho, I., and Rosenbaum, H. C. (2010). "Migration redefined? Seasonality, movements and group composition of humpback whales Megaptera novaeangliae off the west coast of South Africa," African Journal of Marine Science 32, 1-22.
- Baumgartner, M. F., and Mussoline, S. E. (2011). "A generalized baleen whale call detection and classification system," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 129, 2889-2902.
- Bengtson Nash, S. M., Castrillon, J., Eisenmann, P., Fry, B., Shuker, J. D., Cropp, R. A., Dawson, A., Bignert, A., Bohlin-Nizzetto, P., and Waugh, C. A. (2018). "Signals from the south; humpback whales carry messages of Antarctic sea-ice ecosystem variability," Global Change Biol 24, 1500-1510.
- Bioacoustics, Research, and Program (2014). "Raven Pro: Interactive Sound Analysis Software (Version 1.5)," (The Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY).
- Boebel, O. (2015). "The Expedition PS89 of the Research Vessel POLARSTERN to the Weddell Sea in 2014/2015," in Cruise Report (Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven).
- Bombosch, A., Zitterbart, D. P., Van Opzeeland, I., Frickenhaus, S., Burkhardt, E., Wisz, M. S., and Boebel, O. (2014). "Predictive habitat modelling of humpback (Megaptera novaeangliae) and Antarctic minke (Balaenoptera bonaerensis) whales in the Southern Ocean as a planning tool for seismic surveys," Deep-Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 91, 101-114.

- Brierley, A. S., Fernandes, P. G., Brandon, M. A., Armstromg, F., Millard, N. W., McPhail, S. D., Stevenson, P., Pebody, M., Perrett, J., Squires, M., Bone, D. G., and Griffiths, G. (2002). "Antarctic krill under sea ice: Elevated abundance in a narrow band just south of ice edge," Science 295, 1890-1892.
- Brown, M. R., Corkeron, P. J., Hale, P. T., Schultz, K. W., and Bryden, M. M. (1995)."Evidence for a sex-segregated migration in the humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 259, 229-234.
- Burkhardt, E. (2020). "Whale sightings during Polarstern cruise PS96 (ANT-XXXI/2)," (PANGAEA).
- Cai, W., Borlace, S., Lengaigne, M., Van Rensch, P., Collins, M., Vecchi, G., Timmermann, A., Santoso, A., McPhaden, M. J., and Wu, L. (2014). "Increasing frequency of extreme El Niño events due to greenhouse warming," Nat Clim Change 4, 111-116.
- Cavalieri, D., Parkinson, C., Gloersen, P., and Zwally, H. (1996). "Sea ice concentrations from Nimbus-7 SMMR and DMSP SSM/I-SSMIS passive microwave data, version 1," Boulder, Colorado USA, NASA National Snow and Ice Data Center Distributed Active Archive Center 10.
- Clapham, P. J. (2018). "Humpback whale: Megaptera novaeangliae," in Encyclopedia of marine mammals (Elsevier), pp. 489-492.
- Craig, A. S., Herman, L. M., Gabriele, C. M., and Pack, A. A. (2003). "Migratory timing of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the central north Pacific varies with age, sex and reproductive status," Behaviour 140, 981-1001.
- Dunlop, R. A. (2017). "Potential motivational information encoded within humpback whale non-song vocal sounds," Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 141, 2204-2213.
- Dunlop, R. A., Cato, D. H., and Noad, M. J. (2008). "Non-song acoustic communication in migrating humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Marine Mammal Science 24, 613-629.
- Filun, D., Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Brey, T., Širović, A., Spiesecke, S., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2020). "Frozen verses: Antarctic minke whales (Balaenoptera bonaerensis) call predominantly during austral winter," Royal Society Open Science 7, 192112.
- Findlay, K. P., Seakamela, S. M., Meÿer, M. A., Kirkman, S. P., Barendse, J., Cade, D. E., Hurwitz, D., Kennedy, A. S., Kotze, P. G. H., McCue, S. A., Thornton, M., Vargas-Fonseca, O. A., and Wilke, C. G. (2017). "Humpback whale "super-groups" – A novel low-latitude feeding behaviour of Southern Hemisphere humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the Benguela Upwelling System," PLOS ONE 12, e0172002.
- Garland, E. C., Gedamke, J., Rekdahl, M. L., Noad, M. J., Garrigue, C., and Gales, N. (2013)."Humpback whale song on the Southern Ocean feeding grounds: Implications for cultural transmission," PLoS ONE 8, e79422.
- Greene, C. A. (2020). "Daily Antarctic sea ice concentration " (MATLAB Central File Exchange).
- Gridley, T., Silva, M., Wilkinson, C., Seakamela, S., and Elwen, S. H. (2018). "Song recorded near a super-group of humpback whales on a mid-latitude feeding ground off South Africa," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 143, EL298-EL304.
- Herr, H., Viquerat, S., and Siebert, U. (2018a). "Aerial cetacean survey Southern Ocean 2014/2015," (PANGAEA).
- Herr, H., Viquerat, S., and Siebert, U. (2018b). "Ship based cetacean survey Southern Ocean 2014/2015," (PANGAEA).
- Hofmann, E. E., Klinck, J. M., Locarnini, R. A., Fach, B., and Murphy, E. (1998). "Krill transport in the Scotia Sea and environs," Antarctic Science 10, 406-415.

- Hyndman, R., Athanasopoulos, G., Bergmeir, C., Caceres, G., Chhay, L., O'Hara-Wild, M., Petropoulos, F., Razbash, S., Wang, E., and Yasmeen, F. (2020). "\_forecast: Forecasting functions for time series and linear models . R package version 8.11."
- International Whaling Commission (2011). "Report on the workshop on the comprehensive assessment of Southern Hemisphere humpback whales," Journal of Cetacean Research and Management Special Issue 3, 1-50.
- Kim, Y. S., and Orsi, A. H. (2014). "On the variability of Antarctic Circumpolar Current fronts inferred from 1992–2011 altimetry," Journal of Physical Oceanography 44, 3054-3071.
- Klinck, H., Mellinger, D. K., Klinck, K., Hager, J., Kindermann, L., and Boebel, O. (2010). "Long-range underwater vocalizations of the crabeater seal (Lobodon carcinophaga)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 128, 474-479.
- Loeb, V., Hofmann, E. E., Klinck, J. M., and Holm-Hansen, O. (2010). "Hydrographic control of the marine ecosystem in the South Shetland-Elephant Island and Bransfield Strait region," Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 57, 519-542.
- Loeb, V. J., Hofmann, E. E., Klinck, J. M., Holm-Hansen, O., and White, W. B. (2009). "ENSO and variability of the Antarctic Peninsula pelagic marine ecosystem," Antarctic Science 21.
- Loeb, V. J., and Santora, J. A. (2015). "Climate variability and spatiotemporal dynamics of five Southern Ocean krill species," Progress in Oceanography 134, 93-122.
- Lovenduski, N. S., and Gruber, N. (2005). "Impact of the Southern Annular Mode on Southern Ocean circulation and biology," Geophysical Research Letters 32, 1-4.
- Marshall, G., and National Center for Atmospheric Research Staff (Eds) (2019). "The climate data guide: Marshall Southern Annular Mode (SAM) index (Station-based)," edited by N. C. f. A. Research (National Center for Atmospheric Research, National Center for Atmospheric Research).
- Marshall, G. J. (2003). "Trends in the southern annular mode from observations and reanalyses," Journal of Climate 16, 4134-4143.
- Meredith, M. P., Murphy, E. J., Hawker, E. J., King, J. C., and Wallace, M. I. (2008). "On the interannual variability of ocean temperatures around South Georgia, Southern Ocean: Forcing by El Niño/Southern Oscillation and the southern annular mode," Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 55, 2007-2022.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and Department of Commerce (2019). "Climate Prediction Centre (CPC) Oceanic Nino Index," (Climate Prediction Centre (CPC)).
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), and Climate Prediction Centre (CPC) (2019). "Oceanic Nino Index."
- Nicol, S., Bowie, A., Jarman, S., Lannuzel, D., Meiners, K. M., and van der Merwe, P. (2010). "Southern Ocean iron fertilization by baleen whales and Antarctic krill," Fish and Fisheries 11, 203-209.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., and Sarkar, D. (2020). "\_nlme: Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R package version 3.1-145," (R CoreTeam).
- R Core Team (2018). "R: A language and environment for statistical computing," (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).
- Rettig, S., Boebel, O., Menze, S., Kindermann, L., Thomisch, K., and van Opzeeland, I. (2013). "Local to basin scale arrays for passive acoustic monitoring in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean," in 1st International Conference and Exhibition on Underwater Acoustics, edited by J. Papadakis, and L. Bjorno (Corfu Island, Greece), pp. 1669-1674.

- Risch, D., Gales, N. J., Gedamke, J., Kindermann, L., Nowacek, D. P., Read, A. J., Siebert, U., Van Opzeeland, I. C., Van Parijs, S. M., and Friedlaender, A. S. (2014).
  "Mysterious bio-duck sound attributed to the Antarctic minke whale (Balaenoptera bonaerensis)," Biology Letters 10, 20140175.
- Ross-Marsh, E., Elwen, S., Prinsloo, A., James, B., and Gridley, T. (2020). "Singing in South Africa: monitoring the occurrence of humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song near the Western Cape," Bioacoustics, 1-17.
- Sallée, J.-B., Speer, K., and Rintoul, S. (2010). "Zonally asymmetric response of the Southern Ocean mixed-layer depth to the Southern Annular Mode," Nature Geoscience 3, 273-279.
- Schall, E., Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Spiesecke, S., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2020). "Large-scale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean," Royal Society Open Science 7, 201347.
- Schall, E., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2017). "Calls produced by Ecotype C killer whales (Orcinus orca) off the Eckstrom iceshelf, Antarctica," Aquatic Mammals 43, 117-126.
- Siegel, V. (2016). Biology and ecology of Antarctic krill (Springer).
- Širović, A., Hildebrand, J. A., Wiggins, S. M., McDonald, M. A., Moore, S. E., and Thiele, D. (2004). "Seasonality of blue and fin whale calls and the influence of sea ice in the Western Antarctic Peninsula," Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 51, 2327-2344.
- Smetacek, V., and Nicol, S. (2005). "Polar ocean ecosystems in a changing world," Nature 437, 362-368.
- Spreen, G., Kaleschke, L., and Heygster, G. (2008). "Sea ice remote sensing using AMSR-E 89-GHz channels," J Geophys Res-Oceans 113, C02S03.
- Stevick, P. T., Neves, M. C., Johansen, F., Engel, M. H., Allen, J., Marcondes, M. C. C., and Carlson, C. (2010). "A quarter of a world away: female humpback whale moves 10 000 km between breeding areas," Biology Letters 7, 299-302.
- Stimpert, A. K., Au, W. W. L., Parks, S. E., Hurst, T., and Wiley, D. N. (2011). "Common humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) sound types for passive acoustic monitoring," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 129, 476-482.
- Stimpert, A. K., Peavey, L. E., Friedlaender, A. S., and Nowacek, D. P. (2012). "Humpback whale song and foraging behavior on an Antarctic feeding ground," PLoS ONE 7, e51214.
- Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Clark, C. W., Hagen, W., Spiesecke, S., Zitterbart, D. P., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2016). "Spatio-temporal patterns in acoustic presence and distribution of Antarctic blue whales Balaenoptera musculus intermedia in the Weddell Sea," Endangered Species Research 30, 239-253.
- Van Opzeeland, I., Van Parijs, S., Bornemann, H., Frickenhaus, S., Kindermann, L., Klinck, H., Plötz, J., and Boebel, O. (2010). "Acoustic ecology of Antarctic pinnipeds," Marine Ecology Progress Series 414, 267-291.
- Van Opzeeland, I., Van Parijs, S., Kindermann, L., Burkhardt, E., and Boebel, O. (2013).
   "Calling in the cold: pervasive acoustic presence of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in Antarctic coastal waters," PLoS One 8, 1-7.
- Wessel, P., and Smith, W. H. (1996). "A global, self-consistent, hierarchical, high-resolution shoreline database," Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth 101, 8741-8743.
- Witteveen, B. H., Foy, R. J., Wynne, K. M., and Tremblay, Y. (2008). "Investigation of foraging habits and prey selection by humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) using acoustic tags and concurrent fish surveys," Marine Mammal Science 24, 516-534.
- Wood, S. N. (2017). Generalized additive models: an introduction with R (CRC press).

Yuan, X. (2004). "ENSO-related impacts on Antarctic sea ice: a synthesis of phenomenon and mechanisms," Antarctic Science 16, 415.

Chapter III

## Acoustic metrics to asses humpback whale song unit structure from the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean

#### This chapter is under review

**Schall, E.**, Roca, I., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2021). Acoustic metrics to asses humpback whale song unit structure from the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Under review in the Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Special Issue 'Machine Learning in Acoustics'.

Acoustic metrics to asses humpback whale song unit structure from the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean

#### Elena Schall\*

Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Klußmannstraße 3d, 27570 Bremerhaven, Germany elena.schall@awi.de

#### Irene Roca\*

Helmholtz Institute for Functional Marine Biodiversity, Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Ammerländer Heerstraße 231, 26129 Oldenburg, Germany

irene.torrecilla.roca@hifmb.de

#### Ilse Van Opzeeland

Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Klußmannstraße 3d, 27570 Bremerhaven, Germany

k

Helmholtz Institute for Functional Marine Biodiversity, Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Ammerländer Heerstraße 231, 26129 Oldenburg, Germany ilse.van.opzeeland@awi.de

#### This paper is part of a special issue on Machine Learning in Acoustics

Running title: Acoustic metrics to asses humpback whale vocal traits
### ABSTRACT

Acoustic metrics aggregate the acoustic information of a complex signal into a unique number, assisting our interpretation of acoustic environments and providing a rapid and intuitive solution to analyze large passive acoustic datasets. Manual identification and characterization of intraspecific call trait variation has been largely used in a variety of sonic taxa. However, it is time consuming, relatively subjective, and measurements can suffer of low replicability. This study assesses the potential of using a combination of standardized and automatically computed acoustic metrics (AM) to train a supervised classification model, as an alternative to discrimination protocols and manual measurements to categorize humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song units from the Southern Ocean. Our random forest model successfully discriminated between the 12 humpback whale unit types (UT), achieving an average classification accuracy of 84%. UTs were further described and discussed in the context of the hierarchical structure of humpback whale song in the Southern Ocean. We show that accurate discriminant models based on relevant AM combinations, provide an interesting automated solution to use for simple, rapid and highly reproducible identification and comparison of vocalization types in humpback whale populations, with potential to be applied to both aquatic and terrestrial contexts, on other vocal species and over different acoustic scales.

# I. INTRODUCTION

Assessing the intraspecific variation of call traits in vocal species is vital to understand communication systems, its behavioral implications and the mechanisms by which evolutionary forces shape communicative processes (e.g., Slabbekoorn and Smith, 2002; Ladich, 2015). Qualitative and quantitative analyses of call trait variation are necessary to define passive acoustic markers to reliably detect species or population presence (e.g., Brandes, 2008; Stimpert et al., 2011a; Schall and Van Opzeeland, 2017) and asses repertoire differences among populations which may be indicators for speciation processes (e.g., Slabbekoorn and Smith, 2002; Riesch et al., 2012). The analysis of highly structured acoustic displays, such as the songs of whales and songbirds, is of particular interest to study cultural processes in non-human animals (Baker et al., 1984; Garland et al., 2011; Fayet et al., 2014; Allen et al., 2018). Reliable and reproducible parametrization and classification of call traits, however, is a prerequisite to explore such higher-level patterns in animals' acoustic displays. The manual identification and characterization of intraspecific call types by means of visually screening spectrographic images of sound has been widely used in a variety of taxa, including cetaceans, seals, birds and primates (e.g., Fischer and Hammerschmidt, 2002; Catchpole and Slater, 2003; Ballentine et al., 2004; Van Opzeeland et al., 2010; Schall and Van Opzeeland, 2017). However, it also has particular drawbacks (but see Janik, 1999) as it is time consuming, can be relatively subjective, and hence measurements can suffer of low replicability (e.g., Janik, 1999; Baumgartner and Mussoline, 2011a). Here we use automatically computed acoustic metrics as an alternative standardized method to characterize acoustic signals, thereby circumventing the hurdles and drawbacks of manual parametrization and classification of species' call traits.

Humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) represent an ideal model to explore the effectiveness of acoustic metrics to discriminate between discrete call type categories; the vocalizations of humpback whales cover a broad frequency range, they present intraspecific

variability both spectrally and temporally and comprise sounds used in different behavioral contexts. Humpback whale song (vocalizations produced exclusively by males in the context of breeding) is a strictly hierarchically structured acoustic display, which can be decrypted by the analysis of the smallest entity, termed unit, and the combination of units, termed phrases (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Cholewiak *et al.*, 2013). The qualitative differentiation of vocalization types is common for both social and song vocalizations (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Dunlop *et al.*, 2008). In most recent studies, manual measurements of vocalization parameters (e.g., duration, maximum frequency) or a combination of manual and automatic measurements are supplied to machine learning algorithms to validate the manual classification (Mercado and Kuh, 1998; Dunlop *et al.*, 2007; Green *et al.*, 2011; Garland *et al.*, 2013b; Allen *et al.*, 2017; Warren *et al.*, 2020). This reduces, to some extent, the subjectivity of the categorization and increases the replicability of results, yet it does not remove the uncertainty related to the manual parametrization of call types.

Acoustic metrics assist our interpretation of acoustic environments by aggregating the acoustic information of a complex signal into a unique number. They are designed to, e.g., capture the distribution of acoustic energy across time and/or frequency bands and can function as statistical summaries of sound recordings. The various acoustic metrics capture very different characteristics of the acoustic environment since they are based on different mathematical principles and are used to address diverse research questions (Sueur *et al.*, 2014). Standardized and automatically computed acoustic metrics (we will hereinafter refer to these as AM) provide a rapid, objective and intuitive solution to analyze large passive acoustic datasets. So far, AMs have been successfully used for different purposes in marine ecosystems, including: as proxies for biodiversity (Harris *et al.*, 2016; Desiderà *et al.*, 2019), to assess temporal or spatial variation in biotic acoustic activity (Parks *et al.*, 2014; Pieretti *et al.*, 2017), to describe habitat type and quality (Bertucci *et al.*, 2016; Butler *et al.*, 2016;

Ceraulo *et al.*, 2018), and to identify key ecosystem functions (Elise *et al.*, 2019). While most of this research has used a single AM to describe general acoustic diversity patterns, there is some evidence showing that a combination of AMs can be very efficient in discriminating species-specific vocalizations from natural marine acoustic environments (Roca and Van Opzeeland, 2019). However, to our knowledge, AMs to date have not been applied to discriminate between intraspecific call traits.

In this study we will explore the potential of a combination of AMs to characterize and discriminate between the intraspecific variation in song unit types from humpback whale songs from the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO) over five years. In addition, we describe and discuss the resulting discrete unit type categories in the context of the observed hierarchical structure (i.e., phrases) of the humpback whale songs visually characterized in a multi-year passive acoustic data set. With this we provide a robust framework that has the potential to be generalized to other ecological systems, allowing to categorize animal vocal traits in a more automated, rapid and reproducible manner.

### II. MATERIAL AND METHODS

### A. Data and data processing

Humpback whale acoustic behavior was investigated using data from 13 recording positions throughout the *ASSO* (Figure 1), which recorded in different periods between 2010 and 2018 (Figure S1). Passive acoustic recordings were obtained using SonoVaults (Develogic GmbH, Hamburg) operated on a continuous recording scheme and with sampling rates that differed between instruments being either 5,333, 6,857 or 9,600 Hz (Rettig *et al.*, 2013c).



Figure 1. Mooring positions included in this study. Mooring positions marked in orange and labelled with the prefix 'G' in the name are part of the multi-year Greenwich dataset (2010-2018). Mooring positions in red and labelled with the prefix 'W' in the name are part of the single-year Weddell dataset (2013). Mooring positions which are marked in orange and red are part of both datasets.

All available passive acoustic data (in total 186,074 hours) were processed by the 'Low Frequency Detection and Classification System' (LFDCS) developed by Baumgartner and Mussoline (2011a) and a custom-made acoustic-context filter to detect humpback whale acoustic presence at an hourly basis. LFDCS was set up with a customized call library based on the most common vocalization types of humpback whales and other acoustically abundant Antarctic marine mammal species (i.e., Antarctic minke whale (*Balaenoptera bonaerensis*), killer whale (*Orcinus orca*), Weddell seal (*Leptonychotes weddellii*), crabeater seal (*Lobodon carcinophaga*), leopard seal (*Hydrurga leptonyx*), and Ross seal (*Ommatophoca rossii*)) (Dunlop *et al.*, 2008; Klinck *et al.*, 2010; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2010; Stimpert *et al.*, 2011a; Risch *et al.*, 2014c; Schall and Van Opzeeland, 2017). Parameter settings and thresholds of LFDCS and the acoustic context filter were tuned employing multiple test datasets to optimize the automatic detection of humpback whale vocalizations to the requirements of this study. Detailed information on set up and test runs of the automatic detection process are provided in Schall *et al.* (2020).

#### **B.** Song presence

To avoid including false-positives, hours with detected humpback whale acoustic presence were revised visually and aurally from spectrograms created in Raven Pro 1.5 (Hann window, 1025-1790 window size, 80% overlap, 2048 DFT size) (Center for Conservation Bioacoustics, 2014). Preliminary analyses comparing humpback whale presence patterns between hourly and bi-hourly data showed no substantial differences (Schall *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, to reduce processing time, only even hours were post-processed and included in further analyses. Spectrograms were scanned for humpback whale vocalizations by viewing 60 s windows from 0 to 1.80 kHz. Humpback whale vocalizations that were organized in at least two different themes (i.e., a theme is defined as the repetition of one phrase type, see Cholewiak *et al.* (2013)) were manually classified as song. Remaining vocalizations, identified as humpback whale social calls, were not considered in this study.

### C. Vocal repertoire within songs

The song repertoire of humpback whales in the ASSO was investigated and catalogued by analyzing all even hours with high quality song sequences (i.e.,  $SNR \ge 10$  dB and at least to distinct themes discernible). Both the preceding and succeeding odd hours relative to the analyzed hour were also included in the analysis if those also contained high quality song sequences. Humpback whale vocalizations were manually logged within the spectrograms in Raven Pro (same spectrogram settings as above) and manually classified into distinct unit

types (hereinafter referred to as UT) according to the following criteria: differentiation of tonal or broadband characteristics, duration, frequency range and time-frequency slope. Within a humpback whale song sequence phrases were logged and classified according to the rules of unit repetition from Cholewiak *et al.* (2013). Phrases were identified with an uppercase letter (indicating the 1<sup>st</sup> UT), a lowercase letter (indicating the combination of following UTs) and a sequence of numbers (indicating the number of repetitions of each UT) in order to be able to breakdown to the original unit sequence (e.g., Aa13 indicates one repetition of UT1 and three repetitions of UT4a). The combination of letters essentially represents the phrase type, whereas the sequence of numbers only indicated UT usage for the downstream analysis process.

### D. AMs to characterize humpback whale song units

We selected > 20 acoustic clips per UT from the high-quality song recordings throughout the ASSO to include in the classification model, for a complete subset of 436 clips (Table 1). We sampled as many different years, months and locations as possible (Figure 1; and see Figure S1) in order to capture as much temporal, spatial, and individual variation as possible. All acoustic clips had a 3s length and were decimated to 5,000 Hz sampling frequency in MATLAB R2020b, to ensure processing consistency across the sampled data. We computed 21 different AMs (see detailed list in Table S1) for every acoustic clip in the subset. These AMs can be classified in three categories: (1) indices based on different algorithms to compute acoustic complexity, entropy or diversity (acoustic indices); (2) metrics measuring amplitude or background patterns (energy metrics); and (3) metrics computing ratios between acoustic activity over time and frequency bands (ratio metrics). To account for the complexity and variability in the spectral patterns between the different UTs, we additionally computed AEI, ADI, ACI, BI and NP metrics (see Table S1) on five relevant bandwidths: 0.01–0.25 kHz; 0.25–0.5 kHz; 0.5–1 kHz; 1–2.5 kHz; and the full bandwidth 0–

2.5 kHz, for a total of 44 AMs computed per acoustic clip. All AMs were computed using R (R Core Team, 2018). We used functions from the R package seewave (Sueur *et al.*, 2008) to calculate H, th, sh, ACI, NP and M, and from the R package soundecology (Villanueva-Rivera *et al.*, 2018) to calculate AEI, ADI, BI and NDSI.

### E. Automatic classification of song units

We used a random forest classification model (Breiman, 2001) as supervised machine learning algorithm to assess the robustness of the manual classification of humpback whale UTs and evaluate the discrimination potential of the AMs. Random forest models are widelyused tools that show high predictive accuracy and can cope with high-dimensional problems, complex interactions and even highly correlated predictor variables.

We applied the Boruta algorithm (Kursa and Rudnicki, 2010) to select relevant AMs to include as predictor variables in the random forest classification model. The Boruta algorithm iteratively removes the variables that are statistically less relevant than random probes. A random probe is a 'shadow' variable, whose values are obtained by shuffling values of the original variable across objects. The algorithm then performs a classification using all attributes (original variables and random probes) and computes their importance based on their contribution to the classification accuracy. The set of importance of shadow attributes is used as a reference to decide which original variable is truly important (shadow attributes' importance can be nonzero only due to random fluctuations). We used the Boruta function from the Boruta package (Kursa and Rudnicki, 2010) in R.

We used the randomForest function in the R randomForest package (Liaw and Wiener, 2002) to develop the random forest classification model. We ran an hyperparameter grid search using the R package ranger (Wright and Ziegler, 2015) on values for the total number of trees necessary to stabilize prediction error rates, the number of predictor variables to randomly sample from at each node, the minimum number of samples within the terminal nodes and the

maximum number of nodes (both define the degree of model complexity) and finally, the sizes of training and test data subsets to find the best model parameterization according to the above mentioned criteria. We grew 4,001 trees with a node size of 1 and tested 6 predictor variables at each split. For each tree constructed in the random forest, 2/3 of the data were subsampled with replacement to train the classification model and 1/3 was left out as a test set (i.e., Out-of-bag or OOB cases). The general misclassification rate of the model (general OOB estimate) is computed as the average across all OOB cases and trees. We used a conditional permutation scheme (Strobl *et al.*, 2008) to assess variable importance, in order to account for correlations that occurred between some of the AMs. We used the permimp function from the permimp package in R (Debeer and Strobl, 2020) with a 0.90 threshold value.

# III. RESULTS

We analyzed the humpback whale song composition from the ASSO between 2010 and 2018 by evaluating 302 song sessions (see Payne and Mcvay, 1971 for definition of song sessions) from 78 recording days (i.e., probably representative of individual singers due to a minimum pause of 24 hours between song recordings at the same recording position). In total we classified 29,304 units and 7,247 phrases from 5 years (i.e., 2011, 2012, 2013, 2017, 2018; remaining years had no high-quality song recordings).

## A. Humpback whale vocal repertoire in the ASSO

Humpback whale males in the ASSO feeding area produced ten unique UTs and two subtypes (in total 12 categories; i.e., UT1, UT3, UT4a, UT4b, UT5a, UT5b, UT6, UT8, UT10, UT12, UT18, UT19) to form their songs between the years 2011 and 2018. Missing numbers in the

list of unit types occur because these call types (e.g., UT2 or UT7) were only found in nonsong vocalization sequences, which were rarely found with acceptable signal-to-noise ratios and were therefore not included in this study. Ten of the 12 unit (sub-) types were tonal sounds (i.e., UT1, UT3, UT4a/b, UT5a/b, UT6, UT10, UT18, UT19) and two were broadband sounds (i.e., UT8 and UT12) (Figure 2). The ten tonal unit types were mainly characterized by differences in the slope of the time-frequency contour and their frequency range (Figure 2). The two broadband unit types were mainly different in their duration and frequency range. Nine out of the 12 types had most of their energy below 600 Hz (i.e., UT1, UT3, UT4a, UT5a, UT6, UT10, UT12, UT18, UT19) (Figure 2). Two of these unit types were characteristically below 120 Hz (i.e., UT18 and UT19). UT4b, UT5b, and UT8 had most of their energy above 600 Hz (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Example spectrograms to each humpback whale unit type (i.e., UT1-UT19). Spectrograms were created with a hamming window, a FFT size of 1800, a window size of 80ms, and a window overlap of 10ms.

Combinations of the 12 unit (sub-) types formed 62 distinct phrase types (i.e., Aa – Ib), organized in nine groups depending on the starting UT (e.g., group A starts with UT1 and group B starts with UT6). Only UT8 was never encountered at the beginning of a phrase. Phrase types were composed of one to four distinct UTs (see Figure 3 for three of the most common phrase types). Some unit and phrase types were only used in a single year and some were used over multiple years (Figure 4). Each year, humpback whales used between five and nine UTs to form the songs and the overlap among the unit repertoire from the different years was high (i.e., on average 43%; Figure 4). The average per-year phrase repertoire was 18.8 phrase types per year with a range between 10 and 28 phrase types (Figure 4). Among years, overlap in phrase repertoire was smaller than for the unit repertoire (i.e., on average 7%).



Figure 3. Spectrogram representations of three of the most common humpback whale phrase types (i.e., PTAa, PTBa, and PTCb) from the ASSO. Spectrograms were created with a hamming window, a FFT size of 1800, a window size of 120ms, and a window overlap of 30ms.



Figure 4. Heatmaps of unit and phrase repertoires per year with song recordings. *A* illustrates repertoire changes for unit types (e.g., unit types 01, 4a, and 19) between the years (i.e., 2011-2018). *B* illustrates the repertoire changes for phrase types (e.g., Aa, Ab, and Ib) between years. Color represents number of units or phrases per type and individual singer.

# B. Automatic classification of song units

The random forest model using a combination of AMs successfully discriminated between all 12 humpback whale UTs (see Figure S2 for detailed classification tree). Average model OOB error estimation was 16%. UT5b and UT4b had the highest missed detection rate (32% and 30% respectively), while UT5a and UT19 showed the lowest miss rate (3% and 0%

respectively; Table 1). The most important AM to discriminate between UTs were ACI and BI computed on the lower frequency bands (0.01–0.5 kHz). They were closely followed by AR, low frequency NDSI, and 0.01–0.25 kHz band computed ADI and AEI (Figure S3). Yet, the Boruta algorithm considered 43 out of the 44 metrics relevant for the classification.

Table 1. Random Forest confusion matrix and classification error for the 12-humpback whale UTs identified in the ASSO. The overall classification error (OOB) was 16%. First column contains the true UT categories, second column the number of samples (N) per UT and the subsequent columns comprise the classification output of the model for each UT category and the corresponding UT (class) error rate.

|      | N  | UT1 | UT3 | UT6 | UT8 | UT10 | UT12 | UT18 | UT19 | UT4a | UT4b | UT5a | UT5b | Class error |
|------|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|-------------|
| UT1  | 57 | 49  | 0   | 0   | 1   | 0    | 3    | 1    | 3    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0.14        |
| UT3  | 20 | 0   | 18  | 0   | 0   | 0    | 0    | 1    | 0    | 1    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0.10        |
| UT6  | 42 | 3   | 0   | 34  | 0   | 0    | 1    | 0    | 0    | 3    | 1    | 0    | 0    | 0.19        |
| UT8  | 38 | 0   | 0   | 0   | 28  | 1    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 5    | 0    | 0    | 4    | 0.26        |
| UT10 | 32 | 0   | 1   | 1   | 2   | 26   | 0    | 2    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0.19        |
| UT12 | 62 | 2   | 0   | 1   | 0   | 0    | 57   | 0    | 0    | 1    | 0    | 0    | 1    | 0.08        |
| UT18 | 27 | 1   | 2   | 0   | 0   | 0    | 0    | 24   | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0.11        |
| UT19 | 28 | 0   | 0   | 0   | 0   | 0    | 0    | 0    | 28   | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0.00        |
| UT4a | 53 | 3   | 0   | 0   | 1   | 1    | 0    | 0    | 4    | 41   | 0    | 2    | 1    | 0.23        |
| UT4b | 20 | 1   | 0   | 0   | 3   | 0    | 1    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 14   | 0    | 1    | 0.30        |
| UT5a | 29 | 0   | 0   | 1   | 0   | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 28   | 0    | 0.03        |
| UT5b | 28 | 0   | 0   | 1   | 1   | 2    | 0    | 0    | 0    | 5    | 0    | 0    | 19   | 0.32        |

### **IV. DISCUSSION**

Here, we show for the first time that a combination of mathematically-derived AMs can be used to characterize and accurately discriminate between humpback whale UTs and complement the qualitative classification of a complex acoustic display. This study provides a practical application and robust framework to validate the qualitative categorization of humpback whale song units and highlights the potential of this method for more general applications exploring acoustic trait variation.

In this study, we identified 12 different UTs from the song repertoire of humpback whales in the ASSO. Other studies assessing humpback whale song repertoire in the Southern and Northern Hemisphere have reported a higher number of UTs (e.g., Pace et al., 2010; Magnúsdóttir et al., 2015; Allen et al., 2017; Rekdahl et al., 2018). The small number of UTs reported here, with 10 unit types and two additional sub-types, can either reflect less complexity in the repertoire of humpback whales on the ASSO feeding ground or a classification tendency to divide the repertoire into a small number of categories (Allen et al., 2017). Less complexity in a feeding ground song repertoire may be typical and be caused by the production of songs which are still under development in the process of annual song evolutions and revolutions (Magnúsdóttir et al., 2015; Allen et al., 2018; Kowarski et al., 2019; Magnúsdóttir and Lim, 2019). The coarse differentiation of a smaller number of UTs is valuable to increase robustness of the classification and to generate generalized sound categories (Mercado and Kuh, 1998; Zsebők et al., 2018). The overlap among acoustic characteristics for this small number of UTs is already high, especially within a song sequence, when a singer gradually changes from one UT to another (Cholewiak et al., 2013), therefore the differentiation into more UTs would only increase this overlap. The consistency in the presented qualitative and quantitative classification of 12 UTs and their temporal stability over multiple years (see Figure 4), however, shows the potential of these UTs to

serve as passive acoustic markers to reliably (automatically) detect humpback whale acoustic presence in large datasets. Indeed, all 12 UTs are common in social and song repertoires of humpback whales from both the Southern and the Northern Hemisphere (e.g., Stimpert *et al.*, 2011a; Magnúsdóttir *et al.*, 2015; Rekdahl *et al.*, 2017; Fournet *et al.*, 2018a) and could, therefore, be potentially used as standardized humpback whale vocalization templates for studies worldwide.

Despite the relatively small number of UTs, the ASSO repertoire size is comparatively large in terms of number of phrase types (i.e., 62) for a 5 year period (Garland *et al.*, 2011; Magnúsdóttir *et al.*, 2015; Allen *et al.*, 2018; Rekdahl *et al.*, 2018). This large number of phrase types in the repertoire could be an indicator of multi-population singing activity in the ASSO, which is reflected in the recordings of multiple song types (hence a larger number of phrase types) per year originating from different breeding stocks (Payne and Guinee, 1983; Garland *et al.*, 2011). The comparison of phrase repertoires among populations or areas is complex due to the evolutionary nature of song (Cholewiak *et al.*, 2013) and shall not be addressed in this study. The constant development of song (also see Figure 4 for the visualization of phrase repertoire changes over multiple years) makes phrase types unideal candidates for reliable passive acoustic markers to detect humpback whale presence in PAM data.

The resulting repertoire of song units and phrases for humpback whales roaming in the ASSO may, however, be used in a number of applications including comparative analyses on temporal and spatial scales and exploring patterns in sound usage (e.g., Green *et al.*, 2011). Spatio-temporal patterns in humpback whale distribution and movements can be investigated on a large scale by using the described UTs as passive acoustic markers to detect humpback whale acoustic presence (Schall *et al.*, 2020). Repertoire stability and sharing within and

among populations can be assessed using reliable marker vocalizations (Fournet *et al.*, 2018a; Fournet *et al.*, 2018b). Furthermore, the results of this study may now facilitate a more standardized investigation of the complex processes of cultural transmission and cultural development of songs (i.e., evolutions and revolutions) on a temporal scale and among humpback whales on feeding grounds, migration routes, and breeding grounds, which previously was largely based on manual data processing (Darling and Sousa-Lima, 2005; Garland *et al.*, 2011; Garland *et al.*, 2013a; Allen *et al.*, 2018; Rekdahl *et al.*, 2018; Magnúsdóttir and Lim, 2019; Warren *et al.*, 2020).

While AMs have already shown their relevance in describing acoustic diversity patterns in different acoustic contexts, we show for the first time that a combination of AMs, rather than a single AM (also see Roca and Van Opzeeland (2019) for evidence on the discrimination of marine species identities), can be used to accurately categorize complex vocalization units in a supervised machine learning context. Our random forest model was able to accurately (84%) discriminate between the 12 UTs of humpback whales from the ASSO over a large range of years and sites. Other studies feeding manual (more subjective) measurements of vocalization parameters (e.g., min, max, peak frequency, duration) to machine learning algorithms to classify humpback whales and other marine mammal's vocalizations showed very similar, in some cases even higher, error rates. For example, random forest analysis also yielded relatively low average error rates when discriminating between 36 call types of beluga whales (Delphinapterus leucas) from the Beaufort Sea (83.2% accuracy; Garland et al. (2015a)), 11 call types of humpback whale from west coast of southern Africa (85%; Rekdahl et al. (2017)) and 16 call types of humpback whales from southeast Alaska (73%; Fournet et al. (2018a)). Higher average accuracy values have been shown when discriminating between call types of Bigg's killer whales (Orcinus orca) across three different regions in western Alaska (36 call types and 95% accuracy; Sharpe et al. (2019)). However, the manual

measurements used to generate the predictor variables in the latter study were complex and highly elaborated (i.e., including time consuming acoustic measurements) supporting the discrimination abilities of the model.

Model results on individual UT's misclassification rate showed relatively low values for all 12 humpback whale UTs described in this study (<30%; Table 2). We found the highest misclassification rates among the UT categories with the lowest sample sizes (i.e., UT4b and UT5b). However, other UTs with the same low sample sizes showed, in turn, very high accuracy scores (e.g., UT19 and UT03). This result, together with the general low error rates, firstly may reflect that, in our case, > 20 samples per UT were enough to obtain high accuracy results from the AM discrimination model. Secondly, AMs were successful to capture the variation in the spectral pattern of humpback whale UTs in our study. Other studies reporting a similar number of humpback whale UTs and using models constructed based on partial (manual) measurements, showed higher error rates for several of the categorized UTs (e.g., Rekdahl et al., 2017; Fournet et al., 2018a; Fournet et al., 2018b). Future research on the application of humpback whale UT models could further and quantitatively assess the optimal sample size per UT category to potentially increase the classification model's precision and estimate's robustness.

One advantage of including acoustic indices over other automated metrics used for classification is that acoustic indices provide integrative information about the spectral and temporal patterns characterizing each UT. This allows for a more intuitive and direct comparison between UTs. 43 out of 44 AMs were judged relevant according to the Boruta algorithm and included in the classification model. However, the conditional variable importance results showed interesting patterns in which some AMs, mainly computed in the 0-0.5kHz band, were of particular importance for the accurate discrimination between

humpback whale UTs in the ASSO. ACI and BI were in general the most important AMs, followed by acoustic indices NDSI, ADI and AEI. These results suggest that the variation in acoustic complexity and in the heterogeneity of the spectral and temporal patterns, mainly of the lower frequency band of the UT samples, played a major role in the discrimination between the 12 UTs identified for the humpback whales roaming the ASSO.

The selection and optimal combination of AM to use in predictive models to characterize UTs of any marine animal species will probably affect the model's efficiency and vary according to the acoustic context. It is of critical importance to choose relevant AMs to the ecological situation; that is, AMs of which the mathematical principle or algorithm is well suited to reflect and capture the spectral and temporal patterns of the target vocalizations. While automatically computed AMs palliate to some extent the relative subjectivity of manual measurements to construct the classification models, they still have some drawbacks. As manual measurements may be biased by background levels, background noise patterns have also shown to affect AMs to some extent (e.g., Gasc *et al.*, 2015) and therefore, can introduce some error when, e.g., using classification models to assess UTs in new acoustic environments. However, the importance of this caveat may be lessened when controlling for the acoustic quality of the newly selected UT samples and when the misclassification error rate of each UTs is checked to remain very low.

Accurate discriminant models trained with a combination of relevant AMs, as the one presented in this study, may provide an interesting automated solution to use for simple and rapid identification of specific humpback whale UTs in large datasets. Furthermore, suitable models could be trained with AMs – to characterize the acoustic patterns of UTs, and used to compare, in a quantitative and highly reproducible manner, UT repertoire composition between different humpback whale populations or across multiple years in a particular

population of interest. It still remains to be investigated, whether a suitable combination of AMs (as an alternative or complement to more complex, specific and manually computed metrics) in the context of other supervised learning algorithms, such as regression models, could successfully capture gradual changes in the temporal or spectral structure of humpback whale UTs.

The application of AMs and supervised classification models also have further potential for the analysis of humpback whale song composition. In future studies simple automatic segmentation algorithms based on signal-to-noise ratios can be applied to song sequences to identify sound snippets containing units (Pace *et al.*, 2010). Measured AMs and supervised classification models would translate song sequences (i.e., sequences of sound snippets) into strings of unit succession, which in turn can be supplied to string comparison methods for decoding the hierarchical structures of song (Garland *et al.*, 2012; Malige *et al.*, 2020). In addition, AMs might also provide valuable information for the differentiation of themes and song types by describing energy content and entropy in different frequency bands when directly applied to these higher-level song structures. We conclude that AMs exhibit high potential to provide useful tools for multiple applications that are far beyond the scope of their original purpose.

#### V. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Develogic GmbH, Hamburg, to the logistics department of the Alfred Wegener Institute, Bremerhaven, the mooring team of the AWI's physical oceanography department, to Reederei F. Laeisz GmbH, Rostock, and the crews of RV Polarstern expeditions ANT-XXVII/2, ANT-XXIX/2, PS89, PS103 for their contribution to the development, setup or maintenance of the passive acoustic recording array. We thank Isabell Viehweger for the assistance with the acoustic analysis and the whole team of the Ocean Acoustics Lab for the

productive discussions on this study. We also want to thank Mark Baumgartner and

Genevieve Davis for the assistance in setting up LFDCS.

### VI. ENDNOTE

See supplementary material at [URL will be inserted by AIP] for additional tables and figures.

# VII. LITERATURE

- Allen, J. A., Garland, E. C., Dunlop, R. A., and Noad, M. J. (2018). "Cultural revolutions reduce complexity in the songs of humpback whales," Proceedings of the Royal Society B 285, 20182088.
- Allen, J. A., Murray, A., Noad, M. J., Dunlop, R. A., and Garland, E. C. (2017). "Using selforganizing maps to classify humpback whale song units and quantify their similarity," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 142, 1943-1952.
- Baker, M. C., Cunningham, M. A., and Thompson Jr, A. D. (1984). "Cultural and genetic differentiation of two subspecies of white-crowned sparrow," The Condor 86, 359-367.
- Ballentine, B., Hyman, J., and Nowicki, S. (2004). "Vocal performance influences female response to male bird song: an experimental test," Behavioral Ecology 15, 163-168.
- Baumgartner, M. F., and Mussoline, S. E. (2011). "A generalized baleen whale call detection and classification system," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 129, 2889-2902.
- Bertucci, F., Parmentier, E., Lecellier, G., Hawkins, A. D., and Lecchini, D. (**2016**). "Acoustic indices provide information on the status of coral reefs: an example from Moorea Island in the South Pacific," Scientific Reports **6**, 33326.
- Brandes, T. S. (2008). "Automated sound recording and analysis techniques for bird surveys and conservation," Bird Conservation International 18, S163-S173.
- Butler, J., Stanley, J. A., and Butler IV, M. J. (2016). "Underwater soundscapes in near-shore tropical habitats and the effects of environmental degradation and habitat restoration," Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 479, 89-96.
- Catchpole, C. K., and Slater, P. J. (2003). *Bird song: biological themes and variations* (Cambridge university press).
- Ceraulo, M., Papale, E., Caruso, F., Filiciotto, F., Grammauta, R., Parisi, I., Mazzola, S., Farina, A., and Buscaino, G. (2018). "Acoustic comparison of a patchy Mediterranean shallow water seascape: Posidonia oceanica meadow and sandy bottom habitats," Ecological Indicators 85, 1030-1043.
- Cholewiak, D. M., Sousa-Lima, R. S., and Cerchio, S. (**2013**). "Humpback whale song hierarchical structure: Historical context and discussion of current classification issues," Marine Mammal Science **29**, E312-E332.
- Darling, J. D., and Sousa-Lima, R. S. (2005). "Songs indicate interaction between humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) populations in the western and eastern South Atlantic Ocean," Marine Mammal Science 21, 557-566.

- Debeer, D., and Strobl, C. (2020). "Conditional permutation importance revisited," Bmc Bioinformatics 21, 1-30.
- Desiderà, E., Guidetti, P., Panzalis, P., Navone, A., Valentini-Poirrier, C.-A., Boissery, P., Gervaise, C., and Di Iorio, L. (2019). "Acoustic fish communities: sound diversity of rocky habitats reflects fish species diversity," Marine Ecology Progress Series 608, 183-197.
- Dunlop, R. A., Cato, D. H., and Noad, M. J. (2008). "Non-song acoustic communication in migrating humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*)," Marine Mammal Science 24, 613-629.
- Dunlop, R. A., Noad, M. J., Cato, D. H., and Stokes, D. (2007). "The social vocalization repertoire of east Australian migrating humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 122, 2893-2905.
- Elise, S., Urbina-Barreto, I., Pinel, R., Mahamadaly, V., Bureau, S., Penin, L., Adjeroud, M., Kulbicki, M., and Bruggemann, J. H. (2019). "Assessing key ecosystem functions through soundscapes: a new perspective from coral reefs," Ecological Indicators 107, 105623.
- Fayet, A. L., Tobias, J. A., Hintzen, R. E., and Seddon, N. (2014). "Immigration and dispersal are key determinants of cultural diversity in a songbird population," Behavioral Ecology 25, 744-753.
- Fischer, J., and Hammerschmidt, K. (2002). "An overview of the Barbary macaque, Macaca sylvanus, vocal repertoire," Folia Primatologica 73, 32-45.
- Fournet, M. E., Gabriele, C. M., Culp, D. C., Sharpe, F., Mellinger, D. K., and Klinck, H. (2018a). "Some things never change: multi-decadal stability in humpback whale calling repertoire on Southeast Alaskan foraging grounds," Scientific reports 8, 1-13.
- Fournet, M. E., Jacobsen, L., Gabriele, C. M., Mellinger, D. K., and Klinck, H. (2018b)."More of the same: allopatric humpback whale populations share acoustic repertoire," PeerJ 6, e5365.
- Garland, E. C., Castellote, M., and Berchok, C. L. (2015). "Beluga whale (Delphinapterus leucas) vocalizations and call classification from the eastern Beaufort Sea population," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 137, 3054-3067.
- Garland, E. C., Gedamke, J., Rekdahl, M. L., Noad, M. J., Garrigue, C., and Gales, N. (2013a). "Humpback whale song on the Southern Ocean feeding grounds: Implications for cultural transmission," PLoS ONE 8, e79422.
- Garland, Ellen C., Goldizen, Anne W., Rekdahl, Melinda L., Constantine, R., Garrigue, C., Hauser, Nan D., Poole, M. M., Robbins, J., and Noad, Michael J. (2011). "Dynamic Horizontal Cultural Transmission of Humpback Whale Song at the Ocean Basin Scale," Current Biology 21, 687-691.
- Garland, E. C., Lilley, M. S., Goldizen, A. W., Rekdahl, M. L., Garrigue, C., and Noad, M. J. (2012). "Improved versions of the Levenshtein distance method for comparing sequence information in animals' vocalisations: tests using humpback whale song," Behaviour 149, 1413-1441.
- Garland, E. C., Noad, M. J., Goldizen, A. W., Lilley, M. S., Rekdahl, M. L., Garrigue, C., Constantine, R., Daeschler Hauser, N., Michael Poole, M., and Robbins, J. (2013b).
  "Quantifying humpback whale song sequences to understand the dynamics of song exchange at the ocean basin scale," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 133, 560-569.
- Gasc, A., Pavoine, S., Lellouch, L., Grandcolas, P., and Sueur, J. (**2015**). "Acoustic indices for biodiversity assessments: Analyses of bias based on simulated bird assemblages and recommendations for field surveys," Biological Conservation **191**, 306-312.

- Green, S. R., Mercado Iii, E., Pack, A. A., and Herman, L. M. (2011). "Recurring patterns in the songs of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Behavioural Processes 86, 284-294.
- Harris, S. A., Shears, N. T., and Radford, C. A. (2016). "Ecoacoustic indices as proxies for biodiversity on temperate reefs," Methods in Ecology and Evolution 7, 713-724.
- Janik, V. M. (**1999**). "Pitfalls in the categorization of behaviour: a comparison of dolphin whistle classification methods," Animal Behaviour **57**, 133-143.
- Klinck, H., Mellinger, D. K., Klinck, K., Hager, J., Kindermann, L., and Boebel, O. (**2010**). "Long-range underwater vocalizations of the crabeater seal (*Lobodon carcinophaga*)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America **128**, 474-479.
- Kowarski, K., Moors-Murphy, H., Maxner, E., and Cerchio, S. (**2019**). "Western North Atlantic humpback whale fall and spring acoustic repertoire: Insight into onset and cessation of singing behavior," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America **145**, 2305-2316.
- Kursa, M. B., and Rudnicki, W. R. (2010). "Feature selection with the Boruta package," J Stat Softw 36, 1-13.
- Ladich, F. (2015). Sound communication in fishes (Springer).
- Liaw, A., and Wiener, M. (2002). "Classification and regression by randomForest," R news 2, 18-22.
- Magnúsdóttir, E. E., and Lim, R. (**2019**). "Subarctic singers: Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song structure and progression from an Icelandic feeding ground during winter," PloS one **14**, e0210057.
- Magnúsdóttir, E. E., Miller, P. J., Lim, R., Rasmussen, M. H., Lammers, M. O., and Svavarsson, J. (2015). "Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song unit and phrase repertoire progression on a subarctic feeding ground," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 138, 3362-3374.
- Malige, F., Djokic, D., Patris, J., Sousa-Lima, R., and Glotin, H. (**2020**). "Use of recurrence plots for identification and extraction of patterns in humpback whale song recordings," Bioacoustics, 1-16.
- Mercado, E., and Kuh, A. (1998). "Classification of humpback whale vocalizations using a self-organizing neural network," in 1998 IEEE International Joint Conference on Neural Networks Proceedings. IEEE World Congress on Computational Intelligence (Cat. No. 98CH36227) (IEEE), pp. 1584-1589.
- Pace, F., Benard, F., Glotin, H., Adam, O., and White, P. (**2010**). "Subunit definition and analysis for humpback whale call classification," Applied Acoustics **71**, 1107-1112.
- Parks, S. E., Miksis-Olds, J. L., and Denes, S. L. (2014). "Assessing marine ecosystem acoustic diversity across ocean basins," Ecological Informatics 21, 81-88.
- Payne, R., and Guinee, L. (1983). "Humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) songs as an indicator of stocks," in *Communication and behavior of whales*, edited by R. Payne (Westview Press, Boulder), pp. 333-358.
- Payne, R. S., and Mcvay, S. (1971). "Songs of Humpback Whales," Science 173, 585-597.
- Pieretti, N., Martire, M. L., Farina, A., and Danovaro, R. (2017). "Marine soundscape as an additional biodiversity monitoring tool: A case study from the Adriatic Sea (Mediterranean Sea)," Ecological Indicators 83, 13-20.
- R Core Team (2018). "R: A language and environment for statistical computing," (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).
- Rekdahl, M., Tisch, C., Cerchio, S., and Rosenbaum, H. (**2017**). "Common nonsong social calls of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) recorded off northern Angola, southern Africa," Marine Mammal Science **33**, 365-375.
- Rekdahl, M. L., Garland, E. C., Carvajal, G. A., King, C. D., Collins, T., Razafindrakoto, Y., and Rosenbaum, H. (**2018**). "Culturally transmitted song exchange between humpback

whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the southeast Atlantic and southwest Indian Ocean basins," Royal Society open science **5**, 172305.

- Rettig, S., Boebel, O., Menze, S., Kindermann, L., Thomisch, K., and van Opzeeland, I. (2013). "Local to basin scale arrays for passive acoustic monitoring in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean."
- Riesch, R., Barrett-Lennard, L. G., Ellis, G. M., Ford, J. K., and Deecke, V. B. (2012).
  "Cultural traditions and the evolution of reproductive isolation: ecological speciation in killer whales?," Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 106, 1-17.
- Risch, D., Gales, N. J., Gedamke, J., Kindermann, L., Nowacek, D. P., Read, A. J., Siebert, U., Van Opzeeland, I. C., Van Parijs, S. M., and Friedlaender, A. S. (2014).
  "Mysterious bio-duck sound attributed to the Antarctic minke whale (*Balaenoptera bonaerensis*)," Biology Letters 10, 20140175.
- Roca, I. T., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2019). "Using acoustic metrics to characterize underwater acoustic biodiversity in the Southern Ocean," Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation, 1-12.
- Schall, E., Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Spiesecke, S., and Van Opzeeland, I.
   (2020). "Large-scale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean," Royal Society Open Science 7, 201347.
- Schall, E., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2017). "Calls produced by Ecotype C killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) off the Eckstrom iceshelf, Antarctica," Aquatic Mammals 43, 117-126.
- Sharpe, D. L., Castellote, M., Wade, P. R., and Cornick, L. A. (2019). "Call types of Bigg's killer whales (Orcinus orca) in western Alaska: using vocal dialects to assess population structure," Bioacoustics 28, 74-99.
- Slabbekoorn, H., and Smith, T. B. (2002). "Bird song, ecology and speciation," Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 357, 493-503.
- Stimpert, A. K., Au, W. W., Parks, S. E., Hurst, T., and Wiley, D. N. (2011). "Common humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) sound types for passive acoustic monitoring," J Acoust Soc Am 129, 476-482.
- Strobl, C., Boulesteix, A.-L., Kneib, T., Augustin, T., and Zeileis, A. (2008). "Conditional variable importance for random forests," Bmc Bioinformatics 9, 307.
- Sueur, J., Aubin, T., and Simonis, C. (2008). "Seewave, a free modular tool for sound analysis and synthesis," Bioacoustics 18, 213-226.
- Sueur, J., Farina, A., Gasc, A., Pieretti, N., and Pavoine, S. (2014). "Acoustic indices for biodiversity assessment and landscape investigation," Acta Acustica united with Acustica 100, 772-781.
- Van Opzeeland, I., Van Parijs, S., Bornemann, H., Frickenhaus, S., Kindermann, L., Klinck, H., Plötz, J., and Boebel, O. (2010). "Acoustic ecology of Antarctic pinnipeds," Marine Ecology Progress Series 414, 267-291.
- Villanueva-Rivera, L. J., Pijanowski, B. C., and Villanueva-Rivera, M. L. J. (2018). "Package 'soundecology'."
- Warren, V. E., Constantine, R., Noad, M., Garrigue, C., and Garland, E. C. (2020).
  "Migratory insights from singing humpback whales recorded around central New Zealand," Royal Society Open Science 7, 201084.
- Wright, M. N., and Ziegler, A. (2015). "ranger: A fast implementation of random forests for high dimensional data in C++ and R," arXiv preprint arXiv:1508.04409.
- Zsebők, S., Herczeg, G., Blázi, G., Laczi, M., Nagy, G., Török, J., and Garamszegi, L. Z. (2018). "Minimum spanning tree as a new, robust repertoire size comparison method: simulation and test on birdsong," Behavioral ecology and sociobiology 72, 48.

# Humpback whale song recordings suggest common feeding ground occupation by multiple populations

This chapter is under review

**Schall, E.**, Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Mangia Woods, S., Roca, I., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2021). Humpback whale song recordings suggest common feeding ground occupation by multiple populations. Under review in Nature Scientific Reports.

# Humpback whale song recordings suggest common feeding ground occupation by multiple populations

# Authors

Elena Schall<sup>1</sup>, Karolin Thomisch<sup>1</sup>, Olaf Boebel<sup>1</sup>, Gabriele Gerlach<sup>2,3</sup>, Sari Mangia Woods<sup>1,4</sup>, Irene Roca<sup>1,2</sup>, Ilse Van Opzeeland<sup>1,2</sup>

# Affiliations

<sup>1</sup>Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, Germany

<sup>2</sup>*Helmholtz Institute for Functional Marine Biodiversity, Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany* 

3Carl von Ossietzky University Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany

4Marine Evolution and Conservation, Groningen Institute of Evolutionary Life Sciences, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

# **Corresponding author**

Elena Schall, elena.schall@awi.de

On Expedition from 1/2/2021 to 1/4/2021, contact instead eschall@awi-polarstern.de

# Abstract

Humpback whale males are known to sing on their low-latitude breeding grounds, but evidence is increasing that songs are also commonly produced 'off-season' on the feeding grounds or during migration. This opens exciting opportunities to investigate migratory aggregations, study humpback whale behavioral plasticity and potentially even assign individual singers to specific breeding grounds. In this study, we analyzed passive acoustic data from 13 recording positions and multiple years (2011-2018) within the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO). Humpback whale song was detected at nine recording positions in five years. Most songs were recorded in May coinciding with the rapid increase in sea ice concentration at most recording positions. The spatio-temporal pattern in humpback whale singing activity on Southern Ocean feeding grounds is most likely shaped by local prey availability and humpback whale migratory strategies. Furthermore, the comparative analyses of song structures clearly show a differentiation of two song groups, of which one was solely recorded at the western edge of the ASSO and the other song group was recorded throughout the ASSO. This new finding suggests a common feeding ground occupation by multiple humpback whale populations in the ASSO, allowing for cultural and potentially even genetic exchange among populations.

# Introduction

Humpback whales annually undertake one of the longest mammalian migrations between their mid to high latitude feeding areas and low latitude breeding areas (Clapham, 2018). Various hypotheses on what drives baleen whale migration between such extremely spatially separated habitats have been put forward (Corkeron and Connor, 1999; Geijer et al., 2016), but to date, the reasons have not been understood entirely. On the breeding grounds, humpback whale sexual selection, copulation and parturition take place (Baker and Herman, 1984; Palsbøll et al., 1992; Herman, 2017). Besides physical advertisement and intra/intersexual competition strategies (i.e., escorting of females and physical aggression among males)(Baker and Herman, 1984; Palsbøll et al., 1992), humpback whale males also perform acoustic displays in the form of songs (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Herman, 2017). Humpback whale song is thought to fulfil a multi-purpose role within the species' mating system, in many aspects comparable to bird song (Kroodsma and Byers, 1991; Herman, 2017). Male humpback whale song production is thought to increase the chances of reproduction for individual males by mediating inter- and intrasexual interactions (Herman, 2017). The majority of songs are therefore produced on the low-latitude breeding grounds, but 'off-season' song has also repeatedly been recorded along migration routes and on feeding grounds during different times of the year (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; McSweeney et al., 1989; Noad and Cato, 2007; Smith et al., 2008; Garland et al., 2011; Stimpert et al., 2012; Vu et al., 2012; Kowarski et al., 2018; Ross-Marsh et al., 2020). Opportunistic singing outside the breeding grounds and/or season is interpreted as low-cost reproductive advertisement by males, e.g., to access females that failed to conceive during the breeding season, although to date copulation has never been visually observed outside the breeding grounds (Clark and Clapham, 2004b; Vu et al., 2012).

Not much is known on which humpback whale stocks use which areas for feeding in the Southern Hemisphere (International Whaling Commission, 2011; 2016). Given that songs are breeding population-specific, the presence of song on the feeding grounds opens the possibility to assess breeding stock affiliation by comparative analyses of songs (McSweeney *et al.*, 1989; Garland *et al.*, 2013a). As in many other baleen whale species, song in humpback whales can be used to determine stock affiliation, also on the feeding grounds (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Payne and Guinee, 1983; McSweeney *et al.*, 1989; Gabriele and Frankel, 2002; McDonald *et al.*, 2006; Delarue *et al.*, 2009; Garland *et al.*, 2013a; Herman, 2017). Male humpback whales on a specific breeding ground are known to converge closely on the same current rendition of song, termed song type (Winn and Winn, 1978a; Winn et al., 1981; Payne and Guinee, 1983; Payne and Payne, 1985a; Herman, 2017). Each song type is characterized by a distinct combination of themes, which in turn are built by the repetition of specific phrase types and each phrase type is composed of a unique combination of units (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Cholewiak et al., 2013). Songs recorded on feeding grounds are composed of the same hierarchical structure as on the breeding grounds, although in some cases less complex song sequences or fragments of songs were registered (Mattila et al., 1987; McSweeney et al., 1989; Stimpert et al., 2012; Magnúsdóttir et al., 2015; Kowarski et al., 2019; Magnúsdóttir and Lim, 2019). For Northern Hemisphere humpback whales, the analysis of feeding ground songs suggests that these mainly stem from immature males conducting "off-season" singing on the feeding grounds and during migration to practice singing (Kowarski et al., 2019). The fact that humpback whales sing on the feeding grounds is furthermore thought to facilitate cultural transmission of new songs within the breeding population, but potentially also between different stocks (Magnúsdóttir and Lim, 2019). On Southern Hemisphere feeding grounds, the data on humpback whale song occurrence and dynamics are still limited both spatially and temporally. At the same time, information on stock distributions while on the feeding grounds is lacking, but crucial to management decisions on ecosystem and population conservation (International Whaling Commission, 2011; 2016; Teschke et al., 2016). To date, two studies have presented song recordings from Antarctic waters comprising four days from two sites (Stimpert et al., 2012; Garland et al., 2013a). One further study collected acoustic data near a humpback whale 'super-group' off western South Africa and describes the song that was recorded there (Gridley et al., 2018). These studies showed that the identification and structural analysis of humpback whale song from austral feeding grounds can provide valuable information on humpback whale behavioural ecology and potentially even offer insight into the breeding stock origin of humpback whale males present in the feeding areas.

By analysing a passive acoustic data set spanning 13 recording positions deployed throughout the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (ASSO) covering multiple years between 2011 and 2018, this study is the first to investigate the large-scale spatio-temporal patterns in humpback whale song presence and structure in the Southern Ocean. By assessing how humpback whale song evolves over time, latitude, and longitude, we explore the comparability of feeding ground song with songs on the breeding grounds, the role of the ASSO as an alternative mating ground, and the potential multi-population use of the ASSO feeding area.

# Results

## Humpback whale song and non-song presence

In total, 186,074 hours of recordings were processed, of which 4,796 hours were verified to contain humpback whale vocalizations. The preliminary song category, HWS2 was found in 430 hours and the complex song category, HWS1 was found in 1,127 hours. The remaining 3,239 hours contained exclusively humpback whale social calls.

### Spatio-temporal pattern in the song presence

At most of the recording locations, the acoustic presence of humpback whales (i.e., detection of any humpback whale vocalizations including social calls) was dominated by the occurrence of humpback whale song. For almost all recording positions with records of humpback whale acoustic presence, humpback whale song also was identified in the recordings (Figure 3). The preliminary HWS2 was found in a similar spatio-temporal pattern as the complex HWS1, only in lower numbers (Figure 3). The earliest song of the year was detected at the recording position G1 on January 24, 2013 and the latest song of the year was detected at the same recording position on August 3, 2011 (Figure 7). Song recordings were seasonally restricted to the summer and autumn months (Figure 7). Most songs were detected at the recording locations G1, G1, G3, and G4 on the Greenwich Meridian in the months April, May, and June (Figure 3, Figure 7). During these months, songs were recorded continuously throughout the day or during random (even) hours of the day. March was the month when (complex) song was recorded at the most recording positions (i.e., five positions; Figure 3) Summarizing all song recordings over years and positions, the number of hours containing humpback whale song is highest in May. This peak coincides with the rapid increase in sea ice concentration in late summer/autumn (Figure 7). The first song recordings of the season were within 54 and 143 days after the sea ice concentration dropped below 15% (definition sea ice edge)(Tynan and Thiele, 2003). The last song recordings of the season were maximally 12 days after the sea ice concentration exceeded 15%.

Figure 6. Proportion of social calls, preliminary song and complex song of humpback whales in the ASSO averaged per recording location and month for the year 2013. The monthly averaged sea ice concentrations are depicted at a 25x25km resolution. (See Schall et al. 2020 for details on acoustic presence)





Figure 7. Proportion of HWS1 hours at the Greenwich Meridian averaged per month and recording location (G1-G4) from January 2011 until October 2018 (orange bars). Vertical error bars show the respective standard deviations and continuous grey bars represent months without recording data. The blue solid lines and the right y-axis depict the daily averaged sea ice concentration per location within a 50km radius.

# Effects of latitude and time of the year on song length and complexity

Measures of song session and song length did not show a clear trend in the course of the year and did not show any trend along a latitude gradient (Supplementary Material 1: Table S1, Figure S2). A slight increase of song session and song length could be observed from calendar day 120 to calendar day 182, with a maximum mean song session length of 1603 units and a maximum mean song length of 400.75 units on calendar day 182 (Supplementary Material 1: Figure S2).

The level of agreement between the manual unit classification and the result of the supervised machine learning approach was high with a OOB misclassification rate of 16% indicating a robust differentiation of units, phrases, themes and songs (i.e., 62 phrase types; see Supplementary Material 1: Table S2 and Supplementary Material 2). Resulting measures of unit, phrase and song complexity did not show a trend in the course of the year or along a latitude gradient (Supplementary Material 1: Table S1, Figure S2). Different levels of complexity were almost equally distributed throughout time and across latitude.

### Effects of longitude and year on song structure

The phrase repertoires of individual singers were strongly differentiated between the eastern and western edges of the ASSO. Two individuals (based on prior assumptions) recorded off Elephant Island (i.e., W1305/06/13 and W1305/10/13; Figure 6) used a phrase repertoire which was completely different to all other phrase repertoires, whereas one individual recorded off Elephant Island did use a phrase repertoire which was similar to the phrase repertoires recorded on the eastern edge of the ASSO (i.e., W1316/06/13; Figure 6; Supplementary Material 1: Table S2). All repertoires of the recording positions from the eastern edge of the ASSO (i.e., Greenwich Meridian) and the central Weddell Sea (i.e., all Weddell Sea recorders except the recorder close to Elephant Island) were highly similar to each other depending on the years 2011-2013 had the highest similarities to each other and repertoires from 2017 and 2018 had variable similarities between 30 and 80%. The phrase repertoires from 2011-2013 and 2017/18 were at least 50% different (Figure 6). Some individual singers within the same recording year shared the phrase repertoire to a 100% (Figure 6).



### Similarity of phrase repertoires

Figure 8. Bootstrapped dendrogram from hierachical clustering of set median song strings recorded at different locations and years, based on DCI analysis. Names on each branch belong to individual singers encoded with the name of the recording position (first 2-3 symbols, i.e., 'W13', 'G4',...) and the date of the recording (last 8 symbols, i.e., '05/06/13', '05/10/13',...). Bold lines indicate divisions that were likely to occur (i.e., AU > 95%) and red boxes indicate clusters which are strongly supported by the data.

The song structure in terms of theme order was again highly differentiated between the eastern and western edges of the ASSO. Two individual singers recorded of Elephant Island sang song sequences which had 0% similarity with all other song sequences recorded in this study (i.e., W1305/06/13 and W1305/10/13; Figure 7), while one individual singer recorded also off Elephant island sang a song sequence which was similar to the song sequences recorded at the eastern edge of the ASSO (i.e., W1316/06/13; Figure 7; Supplementary Material 1: Table S2). Except for these two distinct individual singers from 2013 off Elephant Island, all other recorded song sequences from the years 2011, 2012, and 2013 were similar in structure, i.e., with similarities between 30% and 70% (Figure 7; Supplementary Material 1: Table S2). Song sequences from 2017 and 2018 were only 20% similar to the song sequences from the other years and between the years 2017 and 2018 similarity was also low (i.e., 20%), except for two individual singers from 2018 which were recorded early in the season (i.e., G403/05/18 and G428/04/18; Figure 7; Supplementary Material 1: Table S2).



Figure 9. Bootstrapped dendrogram from hierachical clustering of set median song strings recorded at different locations and years, based on LSI analysis. Names on each branch belong to individual singers encoded with the name of the recording position (first 2-3 symbols, i.e., 'W13', 'G4',...) and the date of the recording (last 8 symbols, i.e., '05/06/13', '05/10/13',...). Bold lines indicate divisions that were likely to occur (i.e., AU > 95%) and red boxes indicate clusters which are strongly supported by the data.

# Discussion

### Spatio-temporal pattern

The present study is the first record of the large-scale occurrence of humpback whale song in the ASSO. Humpback whale song was recorded at nine of the 13 recording positions and multiple years of song recordings were registered in the course of this study. Our data was able to show for the first time that reproductive activities are likely to occur over a large spatio-temporal scale on the feeding grounds in the Southern Ocean. 2015 and 2016 were the only years with no
humpback whale song recordings, which is probably related to the physical absence of humpback whales from the area in these years due to unfavourable environmental conditions (E Schall, submitted manuscript).

The presence and absence of humpback whale song on the feeding ground might be directly determined by local prey availability, as whales might be spending more time searching for food when local prey abundance is low, negatively affecting the likelihood of displaying singing behaviour. In zebra finches (*Taeniopygia guttata*), experiments showed that singing rates decreased when the prey availability was reduced (Ritschard and Brumm, 2012). Both changes in body condition and time budget available for acoustic displays were suggested as two possible connections between the availability of food and singing behaviour. It can therefore not be ruled out that humpback whales were present in the area around the Greenwich Meridian in 2015 and 2016, but that individuals produced no or very little calls, possibly due to climate oscillations negatively affecting krill productivity, and therefore whales needing to spend more time foraging behaviour in humpback whales due to environmental changes could also explain the small interannual differences in the amount of song recorded among the years 2011, 2012, 2013, 2017, and 2018.

Spatially, humpback whale song was found at all recording positions where acoustic presence was registered except the southernmost recording position at the Greenwich Meridian (G5, Schall *et al.* (2020)). This recording position is the closest to the Antarctic continent among all analysed recording positions and most of the time of the year it is covered by sea ice. The environmental conditions at this recording position are very similar to the conditions at the coastal recording station PALAOA, where similarly only humpback whale social calls were recorded during many months of the years 2008 and 2009, but no humpback whale songs were registered (Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013). These combined results potentially support previous suggestions that the habitat close to the continent with an often dense ice cover might only be used by females and/or immature whales residing here throughout winter to presumably improve body condition (Craig *et al.*, 2003; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013). This migratory-segregation depending on sex, age, and reproductive status in humpback whales (Dawbin, 1997) possibly also explains the detection of social calls at other recording positions during the winter months when at the same time no humpback whale songs were recorded.

The detections of humpback whale songs were in general strongly seasonal. Male song production increased with the end of the summer/beginning of autumn alongside with rapidly increasing sea ice concentrations. Humpback whale males seem to travel as far south as the sea ice retreats in summer and also adapt their northward migration to the expansion of the sea ice in autumn (Thiele et al., 2004; Van Opzeeland et al., 2013; Bombosch et al., 2014). To optimize access to females, sexually mature males may not travel as far into the ice compared to females or immature males, to ensure their in-time arrival at the breeding grounds which may have reproductive advantages (Brown et al., 1995; Craig et al., 2003). While the males still roam on the feeding grounds, they already commence the so-called (pre-breeding) shoulder season with the start of song production (Stimpert et al., 2012; Vu et al., 2012; Garland et al., 2013a; Kowarski et al., 2018). In other baleen whale species, song production has also been documented to occur outside the breeding area and season (McDonald et al., 2006; Simon et al., 2010; Stafford et al., 2012; Risch et al., 2013; Oleson et al., 2014; Thomisch et al., 2016), but the precise functionality of "off-season" song remains unknown. Similarly, some humpback whale males still sing when they arrive at the feeding ground in spring (during the post-breeding shoulder season) (Vu et al., 2012; Magnúsdóttir et al., 2014; Kowarski et al., 2019), which in the case of the ASSO was only observed at Elephant island (W13). In tropical birds, the year-round production of song is related to territorial defense and is thought to play a role in interspecific communication (Brenowitz et al., 1997; Tobias et al., 2011). Singing activities in humpback whale males are thought to be triggered by elevated testosterone levels which slowly increase during the end of summer and decreases in spring (Vu et al., 2015; Herman, 2017). Additionally, sexually mature males might also start singing when nutritional status allows singing activities during breaks from feeding. In song birds, the nutritional status has been shown to be a crucial factor affecting the amount of singing (Casagrande et al., 2016; Yamada and Soma, 2016). For example, male Bengalese finches showed higher song output including higher rates of singing and longer songs when receiving a high-nutrition diet compared with males receiving a moderate-nutrition diet (Yamada and Soma, 2016). The length of the pre-breeding shoulder season in our data (up to 5 months) indicates that humpback whale males during this time mix feeding and reproductive behaviours on a regular basis (Weinrich, 1995; Stimpert et al., 2012). Early whaling studies showed that the timing of conception in Southern Hemisphere humpback whales ranged between June and October (Chittleborough, 1954; 1958). Consequently, the

ASSO might serve as an alternative breeding ground for the part of the population which skips migration.

### Song development on the feeding ground

Feeding grounds and pre-breeding shoulder seasons have been suggested to be the place and the time for the annual events of humpback whale song innovation (McSweeney et al., 1989; Cerchio et al., 2001; Garland et al., 2013b). Our data do not suggest a clear sign of song development on the feeding ground. The less complex preliminary song category (HWS2) was detected in lower numbers than the complex song category (HWS1) during almost all months when humpback whale songs were recorded. Additionally, the analysis on song complexity and length suggests that songs recorded on the ASSO feeding ground do not get more elaborate in the course of the season, only a slight increase in song and session length was detected. McSweeney et al. (1989) discovered that songs on the feeding ground were shorter than the comparable songs on the breeding ground. However, the sample size in this study was very small and thus the increase in session/song length in the course of the season on the feeding ground potentially remained undetected. Vu et al. (2012) also detected an increase in session length in autumn and suggested a connection between the amount of singing activity and the testosterone level. Our results indicate that this connection could also be true for singing activity on Southern Ocean feeding grounds. Song complexity and the process of developing the complex breeding ground song on the feeding ground, in contrast, seems not to be connected with the elevation of testosterone levels. Instead, humpback whale males might start singing the song from the previous breeding season and change or adapt random themes in the course of the season until the new song is formed (McSweeney et al., 1989; Garland et al., 2013a). However, it cannot be ruled out that other measures for song complexity as a condensed 'complexity score' or phrase transition patterns may have shown trends over the course of a season (Allen et al., 2018; Magnúsdóttir and Lim, 2019). The change or adaptation of themes is probably a product of cultural transmission of songs among and within different breeding populations while whales visit common feeding areas (Cerchio et al., 2001; Garland et al., 2011; Garland et al., 2013a). The production of song on the ASSO feeding grounds could therefore serve the facilitation of this cultural transmission to increase the chances of reproduction on the breeding grounds by

singing a newly innovated version of song and/or could have direct benefits to the reproductive success of males in place.

### Song differentiation in the ASSO

Although humpback whale males might not sing the fully developed breeding ground song on the feeding ground, our data suggest a clear differentiation of two distinct song groups, which most likely belong to (at least) two distinct humpback whale breeding stocks. The parallel presence of two distinct song groups in the ASSO demonstrates its ecological significance for cultural and maybe even genetic exchange among humpback whale breeding stocks in this area. One song group was recorded in 2013 exclusively at the western edge of the ASSO, north of the Antarctic Peninsula, and close to the coast of Elephant island. The other song group was recorded throughout the ASSO from 2011 to 2018. These two song groups were completely different both in phrase repertoire and theme sequence. The clear result of higher differentiation between these two groups than among years indicates that at least two different breeding populations visit the ASSO as a feeding area. The fact that song sequences of both song groups were recorded off Elephant islands additionally indicates that the distinct breeding populations spatially overlap in their distribution on the feeding ground. At least four distinct breeding stocks are in spatial vicinity to the ASSO on the longitude scale: Breeding stock G in the eastern South Pacific, breeding stock A in the western South Atlantic, breeding stock B in the eastern South Atlantic, and breeding stock C in the western Indian Ocean (International Whaling Commission, 2011). Humpback whales from the breeding stock G are thought to occupy the Antarctic management area I ( $120-60^{\circ}W$ ) as a feeding ground, which has been proven by genetic and Photo-ID studies (Stevick et al., 2004; Engel et al., 2008). A circumpolar study on humpback whale genetics has shown that humpback whales from the Antarctic management area I are highly differentiated from all other management areas (except for samples collected close to management area I in management area II; 60°W-0) (Amaral et al., 2016). The two song sequences that were strongly different from the rest of the song sequences recorded during this study were recorded on the border between management area I and II, which makes it likely that this song group stems from a South Pacific breeding stock. The second song group including the majority of the song sequences recorded during this study probably stems from a South Atlantic breeding stock or could also be related to an Indian Ocean breeding stock. Previous studies have

113

shown that songs from breeding stocks A, B, and C often show similarities both in repertoire as well as structure (Darling and Sousa-Lima, 2005; Razafindrakoto *et al.*, 2009; Rekdahl *et al.*, 2018). Satellite tagging studies have shown that humpback whales from breeding stock A and B both migrate to the eastern part of the South Atlantic (Zerbini *et al.*, 2011; Rosenbaum *et al.*, 2014) and might therefore both contribute to the songs recorded in this study. Single song phrases detected in this study were also documented for song sequences recorded off the Western Cape of South Africa (Gridley *et al.*, 2018; Ross-Marsh *et al.*, 2020). In order to fully understand the eventual sharing of common feeding areas among humpback whales from different breeding stocks and the cultural transmission of song among them, further comparative analyses of songs from the breeding grounds and the ASSO are necessary.

# Conclusions and Outlook

The ASSO forms an important summer feeding habitat for various baleen whale species and different studies have also shown its importance as an overwintering ground (Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2013; Thomisch *et al.*, 2016; Filun *et al.*, 2020; Schall *et al.*, 2020). The first evidence of humpback whale song over a large spatio-temporal scale furthermore proves the additional importance of the ASSO for reproductive activities. The distinct timing of song occurrence at the eastern and western edges of the ASSO together with the identification of two different song groups in these two regions indicates that at least two different breeding stocks of humpback whales use the ASSO for feeding and reproduction. Comparative song analyses including songs from the ASSO as well as songs from the different breeding stocks are planned to gather more detailed information on how the occupation of this large feeding area in the Southern Ocean connects to the acoustic recordings of humpback whale songs from lower latitudes. The identification of crucial habitats for migratory baleen whales, as well as, the linkages between breeding and feeding grounds is of key importance for stock management and the planning of large-scale marine protected areas (International Whaling Commission, 2016; Teschke *et al.*, 2016).

# Methods

Data and processing

We investigated humpback whale acoustic behaviour using data from 13 recording positions throughout the *ASSO* (Figure 10) which recorded in different periods between 2011 and 2018 (five recording positions form the multi-year Greenwich dataset and eight recording positions form the single-year Weddell dataset; Supplementary Material 1: Figure S1). Passive acoustic recordings were obtained using SonoVaults (Develogic GmbH, Hamburg) operated on a continuous recording scheme and with a sampling rate of 5,333 to 9,600 Hz (Rettig *et al.*, 2013b).



Figure 10. Mooring positions included in this study. Mooring positions marked in orange and labelled with the prefix 'G' in the name are part of the multi-year Greenwich dataset (2010-2018). Mooring positions in red and labelled with the prefix 'W' in the name are part of the single-year Weddell dataset (2013). Mooring positions which are marked in orange and red are part of both datasets.

All available passive acoustic data were processed by the 'Low Frequency Detection and Classification System' (LFDCS) developed by Baumgartner and Mussoline (2011b) and a

custom-made acoustic-context filter to detect humpback whale acoustic presence at an hourly basis. LFDCS was set up with a customized call library based on the most common vocalization types of humpback whales and other acoustically abundant Antarctic marine mammal species (i.e., Antarctic minke whale (*Balaenoptera bonaerensis*), killer whale (*Orcinus orca*), Weddell seal (*Leptonychotes weddellii*), crabeater seal (*Lobodon carcinophaga*), leopard seal (*Hydrurga leptonyx*), and Ross seal (*Ommatophoca rossii*)) (Dunlop *et al.*, 2008; Klinck *et al.*, 2010; Van Opzeeland *et al.*, 2010; Stimpert *et al.*, 2011a; Risch *et al.*, 2014c; Schall and Van Opzeeland, 2017). Parameter settings and thresholds of LFDCS and the acoustic context filter were tuned employing multiple test datasets to optimize the automatic detection of humpback whale vocalizations to the requirements of this study. Detailed information on set up and test runs of the automatic detection process are provided in Schall *et al.* (2020).

The sea ice concentration data used for this study were extracted from: a combination of satellite sensor data from the Nimbus-7 Scanning Multichannel Microwave Radiometer (SMMR), the Defense Meteorological Satellite Program (DMSP) -F8, -F11 and -F13 Special Sensor Microwave/Im rs (SSM/Is), and the DMSP-F17 Special Sensor Microwave Imager/Sounder (SSMIS), with a grid size of 25 km (Cavalieri *et al.*, 1996) and the satellite images from the Advanced Microwave Scanning Radiometer for EOS (AMSR-E) satellite sensor with a grid size of 6.25 km (Spreen *et al.*, 2008). The data were used to calculate the daily sea-ice concentration of the area within 50 km radius around each recording location of the *Greenwich* dataset in MATLAB. Additionally, the data were used to calculate monthly averages of sea-ice concentrations for the *ASSO* and plotted as maps with the Antarctic Mapping Tools and Daily Antarctic Sea Ice Concentration packages in MATLAB (Greene *et al.*, 2017; Greene, 2020).

### Song presence

Even hours with presumed humpback whale acoustic presence (i.e., hours 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 20, 22 indicated by the automatic detector) were revised visually and aurally for the presence of humpback whale vocalizations by creating spectrograms in Raven Pro 1.5 (Hann Window, 1025-1790 window size, 80% overlap, 2048 DFT size; Bioacoustics Research Program 2014). Spectrograms were scanned for humpback whale vocalizations by viewing 60 s windows from 0 to 1.80 kHz. Hours with confirmed humpback whale acoustic presence were separated in hours with humpback whale social calls and hours with humpback whale song, applying

guidelines from Cholewiak *et al.* (2013). Hours with humpback whale song were further divided into two song categories: the preliminary song category and the complex song category. Humpback whale vocalizations that were organized in at least two different themes were classified as the complex song category 1 (*humpback whale song 1*; HWS1; Figure 11). If humpback whale vocalization bouts did not conform to the rule of the complex song category, but still formed at least three repeated, similar phrases, the respective hour was classified as the preliminary song category 2 (*humpback whale song 2*; HWS2; Figure 11).



Figure 11. Schematic illustration of spectrogram visualizations of the preliminary humpback whale song 2 (HWS2) and complex humpback whale song 1 (HWS1) categories. HWS2 is defined as a vocalization sequence organized in at least three repeated, similar phrases and HWS1 is defined as a vocalization sequence organized in at least two different themes (see (Cholewiak et al., 2013) for details on phrase and theme delineation).

# Song sequence analysis

Song sequences of humpback whales in the ASSO were investigated and catalogued by analysing all even hours with high quality complex songs (i.e.,  $SNR \ge 10$  dB and at least two distinct themes discernible). Both the preceding and succeeding odd hours to the respective

analysed hour were also included in the analysis if those also contained high quality song sequences. Humpback whale vocalizations were manually logged within the spectrograms in Raven Pro (with identical spectrogram settings). Logged calls were manually classified into distinct unit types (call types: CT followed by a number) according to the following criteria: 1) differentiation of tonal or broadband characteristics, 2) duration, 3) frequency range and 4) time-frequency slope. Within a humpback whale song sequence, phrases were logged and classified according to unit repetition following Cholewiak *et al.* (2013) recommendations. Phrase types were identified with an uppercase letter (indicating the 1<sup>st</sup> unit type), a lowercase letter (indicating the combination of following unit types) and a sequence of numbers (indicating the number of repetitions of each unit) in order to be able to breakdown to the original unit sequence in the downstream analysis process.

The manual subjective analysis of unit and phrase repertoire was tested in terms of robustness by applying an automated classification approach to a subset of units (i.e., 436 exemplar units with at least 20 exemplars per unit type). We computed 44 different acoustic metrics for every extracted unit (i.e., 3s sound file decimated to 5,000 Hz to ensure comparability). The 44 metrics can be described as belonging to either of these three categories: (1) indices based on different algorithms to compute acoustic complexity, entropy or diversity (acoustic indices); (2) metrics measuring amplitude or background patterns (energy metrics); and (3) metrics computing ratios between acoustic activity over time and frequency bands (ratio metrics). Details on the acoustic metrices used and the process of computation for the 436 sound examples can be found in Schall et al. 2021 (submitted manuscript attached for review purposes only). The 44 acoustic metrices for each extracted unit were used in a supervised machine learning approach (i.e., random forest, see Schall et al 2021 for details, submitted manuscript attached for review purposes only) to discriminate between manually classified unit types and the automatic classification accuracy was assessed with the general 'Out-of-bag' (OOB) misclassification rate.

# Song structure, length and complexity

Registered song sequences were allocated to presumed individual singers in order to assess interindividual variation in song sequences. Due to the nature of our single sensor autonomous recordings, song sequences cannot be attributed to individual calling males. Therefore, the following assumptions were made to differentiate among individual singers. Firstly, recordings of humpback whales at the distinct recording positions, at a specific point in time were assumed to be distinct humpback whale individuals due to the geographic distances of more than 200 km among recording positions, except for the recording positions G3 and G4, between which a humpback whale with an average swimming speed of 4 km/h (Noad and Cato, 2007) could travel within 24 hours. Second, recordings of humpback whale song, between which more than 24 hours had passed were assumed to belong to different individual singers due to the estimated travel rates of 17 to 75 km/day in humpback whales on an Antarctic feeding ground (Dalla Rosa *et al.*, 2008).

Furthermore, for the following quantitative comparisons of song length, complexity, repertoire and structure, song sequences of individual singers were separated into song sessions and songs. Song sessions are commonly defined as all song elements sung until a gap of silence of more than one minute occurs (Payne and Mcvay, 1971; Cholewiak *et al.*, 2013). The definition of the start and end of an explicit song can however be problematic due to the numerous distinct attempts defining a song in different studies (Cholewiak *et al.*, 2013). Inspecting our song sequence data for common patterns, the most sensible definition for song in the ASSO seemed to be the complete rendition of all unique theme types per song sequence to form an explicit humpback whale song (Cholewiak *et al.*, 2013).

To quantitatively compare the elaborateness (including complexity and length) of song per time of the year and latitude, two measures of length and three measures of complexity were included in the analyses. The length of song sessions and songs was measured as the number of vocalization units per sequence. Session and song length were averaged per individual singer and standard deviations were calculated. Furthermore, three measures of unit and phrase complexity were adapted from studies on bird song (Boogert *et al.*, 2008; Zann and Cash, 2008; Woodgate *et al.*, 2012; Templeton *et al.*, 2014). Unit complexity was defined as the number of unique unit types divided by the total number of units per song. Phrase complexity was defined as the number of unique phrase types divided by the total number of phrases per song. To adapt an overall measure of song complexity (Boogert *et al.*, 2008; Templeton *et al.*, 2014; Allen *et al.*, 2018), the unit complexity was multiplied by phrase complexity.

Song repertoire and structure comparison

The phrase repertoire of all individual singers was compared by applying the Dice Coincidence Index (DCI) with a custom-written script in R (Dice, 1945; R Core Team, 2018):

$$DCI = 2A/(B+C),$$

with *A* being the number of shared phrase types between a pair of singers, *B* and *C* being the number of phrase types of each singer, respectively. The resulting similarity matrix was supplied to a hierarchical cluster analysis in R (R Core Team, 2018) using the "nearest neighbour" method and the output was visualized in a dendrogram. Hierarchical clustering was bootstrapped (1000 times) with the R function 'pvclust' (Suzuki *et al.*, 2019) to generate approximate unbiased (AU) values with AU values exceeding 95% indicating dendrogram divisions that are likely to occur.

To compare the song structure among individual singers the sequences of phrases were transcribed to sequences of themes (i.e., ignoring the repetition of phrases) and a set median string was chosen for each individual singer. The set median string was defined as the sequence of themes which had the highest similarity to all sequences of themes of a given set, in this case, all songs recorded within a single 24-hour window at one recording position. The similarity between sequences was calculated by applying the Levenshtein Distance Similarity Index (LSI) in MATLAB (Kohonen, 1985; Garland *et al.*, 2012):

$$LSI(a, b) = 1 - \min(I + D + S) / \max[L(a), L(b)],$$

with *a* and *b* being the two theme sequences, *I* being insertions, *D* being deletions, *S* being substitutions and *L* being the length of the respective sequence. In the following, the set median strings of all individual singers were compared by applying the LSI to pairs of individuals with the R function 'stringdist' (Van der Loo, 2014). The resulting similarity matrix was supplied to a hierarchical cluster analysis using the "nearest neighbour" method, the output was visualized in a dendrogram, and hierarchical clustering was bootstrapped (1000 times)( R Core Team, 2018; Suzuki *et al.*, 2019).

#### Literature

- Allen, J. A., Garland, E. C., Dunlop, R. A., and Noad, M. J. (2018). "Cultural revolutions reduce complexity in the songs of humpback whales," Proceedings of the Royal Society B 285, 20182088.
- Allen, J. A., Murray, A., Noad, M. J., Dunlop, R. A., and Garland, E. C. (2017). "Using self-organizing maps to classify humpback whale song units and quantify their similarity," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 142, 1943-1952.
- Baker, M. C., Cunningham, M. A., and Thompson Jr, A. D. (1984). "Cultural and genetic differentiation of two subspecies of white-crowned sparrow," The Condor 86, 359-367.
- Ballentine, B., Hyman, J., and Nowicki, S. (2004). "Vocal performance influences female response to male bird song: an experimental test," Behavioral Ecology 15, 163-168.
- Baumgartner, M. F., and Mussoline, S. E. (2011). "A generalized baleen whale call detection and classification system," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 129, 2889-2902.
- Bertucci, F., Parmentier, E., Lecellier, G., Hawkins, A. D., and Lecchini, D. (2016). "Acoustic indices provide information on the status of coral reefs: an example from Moorea Island in the South Pacific," Scientific Reports 6, 33326.
- Brandes, T. S. (2008). "Automated sound recording and analysis techniques for bird surveys and conservation," Bird Conservation International 18, S163-S173.
- Butler, J., Stanley, J. A., and Butler IV, M. J. (2016). "Underwater soundscapes in near-shore tropical habitats and the effects of environmental degradation and habitat restoration," Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 479, 89-96.
- Catchpole, C. K., and Slater, P. J. (2003). Bird song: biological themes and variations (Cambridge university press).
- Ceraulo, M., Papale, E., Caruso, F., Filiciotto, F., Grammauta, R., Parisi, I., Mazzola, S., Farina, A., and Buscaino, G. (2018). "Acoustic comparison of a patchy Mediterranean shallow water seascape: Posidonia oceanica meadow and sandy bottom habitats," Ecological Indicators 85, 1030-1043.
- Cholewiak, D. M., Sousa-Lima, R. S., and Cerchio, S. (2013). "Humpback whale song hierarchical structure: Historical context and discussion of current classification issues," Marine Mammal Science 29, E312-E332.
- Darling, J. D., and Sousa-Lima, R. S. (2005). "Songs indicate interaction between humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) populations in the western and eastern South Atlantic Ocean," Marine Mammal Science 21, 557-566.
- Debeer, D., and Strobl, C. (2020). "Conditional permutation importance revisited," Bmc Bioinformatics 21, 1-30.
- Desiderà, E., Guidetti, P., Panzalis, P., Navone, A., Valentini-Poirrier, C.-A., Boissery, P., Gervaise, C., and Di Iorio, L. (2019). "Acoustic fish communities: sound diversity of rocky habitats reflects fish species diversity," Marine Ecology Progress Series 608, 183-197.
- Dunlop, R. A., Cato, D. H., and Noad, M. J. (2008). "Non-song acoustic communication in migrating humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Marine Mammal Science 24, 613-629.
- Dunlop, R. A., Noad, M. J., Cato, D. H., and Stokes, D. (2007). "The social vocalization repertoire of east Australian migrating humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 122, 2893-2905.
- Elise, S., Urbina-Barreto, I., Pinel, R., Mahamadaly, V., Bureau, S., Penin, L., Adjeroud, M., Kulbicki, M., and Bruggemann, J. H. (2019). "Assessing key ecosystem functions through soundscapes: a new perspective from coral reefs," Ecological Indicators 107, 105623.
- Fayet, A. L., Tobias, J. A., Hintzen, R. E., and Seddon, N. (2014). "Immigration and dispersal are key determinants of cultural diversity in a songbird population," Behavioral Ecology 25, 744-753.
- Fischer, J., and Hammerschmidt, K. (2002). "An overview of the Barbary macaque, Macaca sylvanus, vocal repertoire," Folia Primatologica 73, 32-45.

- Fournet, M. E., Gabriele, C. M., Culp, D. C., Sharpe, F., Mellinger, D. K., and Klinck, H. (2018a). "Some things never change: multi-decadal stability in humpback whale calling repertoire on Southeast Alaskan foraging grounds," Scientific reports 8, 1-13.
- Fournet, M. E., Jacobsen, L., Gabriele, C. M., Mellinger, D. K., and Klinck, H. (2018b). "More of the same: allopatric humpback whale populations share acoustic repertoire," PeerJ 6, e5365.
- Garland, E. C., Castellote, M., and Berchok, C. L. (2015). "Beluga whale (Delphinapterus leucas) vocalizations and call classification from the eastern Beaufort Sea population," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 137, 3054-3067.
- Garland, E. C., Gedamke, J., Rekdahl, M. L., Noad, M. J., Garrigue, C., and Gales, N. (2013a)."Humpback whale song on the Southern Ocean feeding grounds: Implications for cultural transmission," PLoS ONE 8, e79422.
- Garland, Ellen C., Goldizen, Anne W., Rekdahl, Melinda L., Constantine, R., Garrigue, C., Hauser, Nan D., Poole, M. M., Robbins, J., and Noad, Michael J. (2011). "Dynamic Horizontal Cultural Transmission of Humpback Whale Song at the Ocean Basin Scale," Current Biology 21, 687-691.
- Garland, E. C., Lilley, M. S., Goldizen, A. W., Rekdahl, M. L., Garrigue, C., and Noad, M. J. (2012).
  "Improved versions of the Levenshtein distance method for comparing sequence information in animals' vocalisations: tests using humpback whale song," Behaviour 149, 1413-1441.
- Garland, E. C., Noad, M. J., Goldizen, A. W., Lilley, M. S., Rekdahl, M. L., Garrigue, C., Constantine, R., Daeschler Hauser, N., Michael Poole, M., and Robbins, J. (2013b). "Quantifying humpback whale song sequences to understand the dynamics of song exchange at the ocean basin scale," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 133, 560-569.
- Gasc, A., Pavoine, S., Lellouch, L., Grandcolas, P., and Sueur, J. (2015). "Acoustic indices for biodiversity assessments: Analyses of bias based on simulated bird assemblages and recommendations for field surveys," Biological Conservation 191, 306-312.
- Green, S. R., Mercado Iii, E., Pack, A. A., and Herman, L. M. (2011). "Recurring patterns in the songs of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Behavioural Processes 86, 284-294.
- Harris, S. A., Shears, N. T., and Radford, C. A. (2016). "Ecoacoustic indices as proxies for biodiversity on temperate reefs," Methods in Ecology and Evolution 7, 713-724.
- Janik, V. M. (1999). "Pitfalls in the categorization of behaviour: a comparison of dolphin whistle classification methods," Animal Behaviour 57, 133-143.
- Klinck, H., Mellinger, D. K., Klinck, K., Hager, J., Kindermann, L., and Boebel, O. (2010). "Long-range underwater vocalizations of the crabeater seal (Lobodon carcinophaga)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 128, 474-479.
- Kowarski, K., Moors-Murphy, H., Maxner, E., and Cerchio, S. (2019). "Western North Atlantic humpback whale fall and spring acoustic repertoire: Insight into onset and cessation of singing behavior," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 145, 2305-2316.
- Kursa, M. B., and Rudnicki, W. R. (2010). "Feature selection with the Boruta package," J Stat Softw 36, 1-13.
- Ladich, F. (2015). Sound communication in fishes (Springer).
- Liaw, A., and Wiener, M. (2002). "Classification and regression by randomForest," R news 2, 18-22.
- Magnúsdóttir, E. E., and Lim, R. (2019). "Subarctic singers: Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song structure and progression from an Icelandic feeding ground during winter," PloS one 14, e0210057.
- Magnúsdóttir, E. E., Miller, P. J., Lim, R., Rasmussen, M. H., Lammers, M. O., and Svavarsson, J. (2015). "Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song unit and phrase repertoire progression on a subarctic feeding ground," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 138, 3362-3374.
- Malige, F., Djokic, D., Patris, J., Sousa-Lima, R., and Glotin, H. (2020). "Use of recurrence plots for identification and extraction of patterns in humpback whale song recordings," Bioacoustics, 1-16.

- Mercado, E., and Kuh, A. (1998). "Classification of humpback whale vocalizations using a selforganizing neural network," in 1998 IEEE International Joint Conference on Neural Networks Proceedings. IEEE World Congress on Computational Intelligence (Cat. No. 98CH36227) (IEEE), pp. 1584-1589.
- Pace, F., Benard, F., Glotin, H., Adam, O., and White, P. (2010). "Subunit definition and analysis for humpback whale call classification," Applied Acoustics 71, 1107-1112.
- Parks, S. E., Miksis-Olds, J. L., and Denes, S. L. (2014). "Assessing marine ecosystem acoustic diversity across ocean basins," Ecological Informatics 21, 81-88.
- Payne, R., and Guinee, L. (1983). "Humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) songs as an indicator of stocks," in Communication and behavior of whales, edited by R. Payne (Westview Press, Boulder), pp. 333-358.
- Payne, R. S., and Mcvay, S. (1971). "Songs of Humpback Whales," Science 173, 585-597.
- Pieretti, N., Martire, M. L., Farina, A., and Danovaro, R. (2017). "Marine soundscape as an additional biodiversity monitoring tool: A case study from the Adriatic Sea (Mediterranean Sea)," Ecological Indicators 83, 13-20.
- R Core Team (2018). "R: A language and environment for statistical computing," (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).
- Rekdahl, M., Tisch, C., Cerchio, S., and Rosenbaum, H. (2017). "Common nonsong social calls of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) recorded off northern Angola, southern Africa," Marine Mammal Science 33, 365-375.
- Rekdahl, M. L., Garland, E. C., Carvajal, G. A., King, C. D., Collins, T., Razafindrakoto, Y., and Rosenbaum, H. (2018). "Culturally transmitted song exchange between humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the southeast Atlantic and southwest Indian Ocean basins," Royal Society open science 5, 172305.
- Rettig, S., Boebel, O., Menze, S., Kindermann, L., Thomisch, K., and van Opzeeland, I. (2013). "Local to basin scale arrays for passive acoustic monitoring in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean."
- Riesch, R., Barrett-Lennard, L. G., Ellis, G. M., Ford, J. K., and Deecke, V. B. (2012). "Cultural traditions and the evolution of reproductive isolation: ecological speciation in killer whales?," Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 106, 1-17.
- Risch, D., Gales, N. J., Gedamke, J., Kindermann, L., Nowacek, D. P., Read, A. J., Siebert, U., Van Opzeeland, I. C., Van Parijs, S. M., and Friedlaender, A. S. (2014). "Mysterious bio-duck sound attributed to the Antarctic minke whale (Balaenoptera bonaerensis)," Biology Letters 10, 20140175.
- Roca, I. T., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2019). "Using acoustic metrics to characterize underwater acoustic biodiversity in the Southern Ocean," Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation, 1-12.
- Schall, E., Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Spiesecke, S., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2020). "Largescale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean," Royal Society Open Science 7, 201347.
- Schall, E., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2017). "Calls produced by Ecotype C killer whales (Orcinus orca) off the Eckstrom iceshelf, Antarctica," Aquatic Mammals 43, 117-126.
- Sharpe, D. L., Castellote, M., Wade, P. R., and Cornick, L. A. (2019). "Call types of Bigg's killer whales (Orcinus orca) in western Alaska: using vocal dialects to assess population structure," Bioacoustics 28, 74-99.
- Slabbekoorn, H., and Smith, T. B. (2002). "Bird song, ecology and speciation," Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 357, 493-503.
- Stimpert, A. K., Au, W. W., Parks, S. E., Hurst, T., and Wiley, D. N. (2011). "Common humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) sound types for passive acoustic monitoring," J Acoust Soc Am 129, 476-482.
- Strobl, C., Boulesteix, A.-L., Kneib, T., Augustin, T., and Zeileis, A. (2008). "Conditional variable importance for random forests," Bmc Bioinformatics 9, 307.

- Sueur, J., Aubin, T., and Simonis, C. (2008). "Seewave, a free modular tool for sound analysis and synthesis," Bioacoustics 18, 213-226.
- Sueur, J., Farina, A., Gasc, A., Pieretti, N., and Pavoine, S. (2014). "Acoustic indices for biodiversity assessment and landscape investigation," Acta Acustica united with Acustica 100, 772-781.
- Van Opzeeland, I., Van Parijs, S., Bornemann, H., Frickenhaus, S., Kindermann, L., Klinck, H., Plötz, J., and Boebel, O. (2010). "Acoustic ecology of Antarctic pinnipeds," Marine Ecology Progress Series 414, 267-291.
- Villanueva-Rivera, L. J., Pijanowski, B. C., and Villanueva-Rivera, M. L. J. (2018). "Package 'soundecology'."
- Warren, V. E., Constantine, R., Noad, M., Garrigue, C., and Garland, E. C. (2020). "Migratory insights from singing humpback whales recorded around central New Zealand," Royal Society Open Science 7, 201084.
- Wright, M. N., and Ziegler, A. (2015). "ranger: A fast implementation of random forests for high dimensional data in C++ and R," arXiv preprint arXiv:1508.04409.
- Zsebők, S., Herczeg, G., Blázi, G., Laczi, M., Nagy, G., Török, J., and Garamszegi, L. Z. (2018). "Minimum spanning tree as a new, robust repertoire size comparison method: simulation and test on birdsong," Behavioral ecology and sociobiology 72, 48.

# Funding

No external funding sources.

# Acknowledgments

Thanks to Develogic GmbH, Hamburg, to the logistics department of the Alfred Wegener Institute, Bremerhaven, the mooring team of the AWI's physical oceanography department, to Reederei F. Laeisz GmbH, Rostock, and the crews of RV Polarstern expeditions ANT-XXVII/2, ANT-XXIX/2, PS89, PS103 for their contribution to the development, setup or maintenance of the passive acoustic recording array. We thank Katharina Hiemer and Maria Mallet for the assistance with the acoustic analysis and the whole team of the Ocean Acoustics Lab for the productive discussions on this study. We also want to thank Mark Baumgartner and Genevieve Davis for the assistance in setting up LFDCS.

## **Data Availability**

Analyses reported in this article can be reproduced using the data provided by Schall (2021) at Data Dryad: https://datadryad.org/stash/share/tCp5x14Xl3xGdFHS36eonq7ENNXyVT832\_jv5-n\_xxA.

# Synthesis

In the following synthesis, I will discuss the outcomes and most important results of the four presented chapters in the context of methodological achievements, defining important areas within the ASSO, the effects of climate oscillations and climate change, conservation of ecosystems and humpback whale populations and recommendations for management. Furthermore, I will present additional preliminary results revealing further evidence of the simultaneous presence of multiple humpback whale populations in the ASSO. Through connecting these and earlier findings, I will evaluate the role of population mixing in the ASSO. Finally, I will discuss open questions and potential future research directions including specific applications for prospective research projects.

# Methodological achievements

The long-term PAM network as part of the Hybrid Float Observing System (HAFOS; see Rettig *et al.*, 2013c) maintained by the Ocean Acoustics Laboratory of the Alfred-Wegener-Institute for Polar and Marine Research in the ASSO, has yielded so far - and continues to generate to date - a unique dataset facilitating the year-round investigation of Antarctic marine mammals in their natural environment. In the light of my PhD thesis and on account of the HAFOS dataset, it was possible to obtain new insights into the habitat preferences and acoustic ecology of humpback whales in the Southern Ocean. The size of the HAFOS dataset included in this thesis (> 10 recorder positions and five years) required the implementation of powerful tools for data processing. The first objective of my PhD project therefore was the development of a set of tools to detect and classify humpback whale vocalizations in the extensive HAFOS dataset in an efficient and standardized way. It is widely recognized that computer-based tools or algorithms help to reduce data-processing time as well as to increase reproducibility by decreasing the bias through human subjectivity (Janik, 1999; Baumgartner and Mussoline, 2011a; Bergler *et al.*, 2019). For the analysis of the HAFOS dataset which formed the basis for Chapters *I-IV* of this thesis, I therefore implemented a combination of existing and custom-developed algorithms to detect humpback whale

vocalizations. The development of new algorithms is usually very time-consuming and the final performance on the full data set is often unpredictable. For my analyses, I was able to achieve good reliability and efficiency in detecting the highly variable and large repertoire of humpback whale vocalizations by adapting an existing algorithm ('Low Frequency Detection and Classification System' (LFDCS) developed by Baumgartner and Mussoline (2011a)). LFDCS was adapted to specifically detect humpback whale vocalizations in the HAFOS dataset while ignoring vocalizations of other Antarctic marine mammal species using a self-compiled, dataset-specific vocalization library (i.e., including all vocalization types of humpback whales and other species' vocalizations frequently encountered in the HAFOS data). I furthermore combined LFDCS with simple custom-made logical filters for detected vocalizations and carried out a thorough testing procedure, which resulted in an effective tool to reliably detect and classify humpback whale vocalizations with a reasonably high accuracy for the HAFOS dataset (Chapter I, II, III, IV). In Chapter III, I additionally describe a promising alternative approach for the automated and standardized characterization and classification of vocalization types which proved to be effective for the application to humpback whale song units. All tools and procedures that I developed in the light of this thesis can easily be extended or applied to remaining and future HAFOS datasets or even passive acoustic data from other regions which allows to generate standardized results for future research questions.

# Year-round habitat preferences of humpback whales in the ASSO

The results of my PhD project highlight the relevance of the ASSO as a humpback whale feeding area. The importance of the ASSO for humpback whales was reflected in the discovery of two humpback whale hotspots at the northeastern and northwestern edges of the ASSO, most likely coinciding with high densities of Antarctic krill in these areas (*Chapter I*; Atkinson *et al.*, 2008; Siegel, 2016). The most pronounced humpback whale acoustic presence in these areas occurred in late summer until late autumn, during which period the acoustic presence was dominated by male singing (*Chapter IV*). The length of the singing period indicates that humpback whales regularly mix feeding and reproductive activities in the ASSO, potentially even including opportunistic breeding. Furthermore, the HAFOS data confirmed occasional humpback whale acoustic presence during austral winter, through the occurrence of social vocalizations (no songs, *Chapter I*). Most likely, every year, some females and/or juvenile whales remain in the Southern Ocean also during austral winter to fuel growth, lactation, or pregnancy with the exploitation of additional prey resources. The ecological relevance of these findings is further elaborated in *Chapter II*, where I evaluate their implications in the light of climate variations, including both regular climate oscillations and potential present and future effects of climate change.

#### In the light of climate variations

One of the most crucial questions in the conservation and management of baleen whales and polar ecosystems is how these respond to future changes in their environment (e.g., Davis et al., 2020). The ability of baleen whales to cope with long-term changes in, for example, the sea ice habitat and the corresponding changes in prey availability, is still largely unknown. To date, most research efforts on this issue concentrate on the Arctic (see Moore et al., 2019 for a review). Although less pronounced than for the Arctic, the Southern Ocean is prone to be affected by climate change. Predictive studies suggest a 24-33% decline in annual average total sea ice cover until 2100 and the largest effect is predicted for the Weddell Sea in late summer (Arzel et al., 2006; Bracegirdle et al., 2008). A decrease in sea ice cover will most likely result in a decrease in primary production both within the sea ice and the marginal ice zones, yet it will also result in an increase of primary production in the open ocean areas of the Southern Ocean (Arrigo and Thomas, 2004). To what extent this shift is likely to affect secondary productivity, mainly the abundance and distribution of Antarctic krill, remains speculative at this time. Although the open ocean population of adult krill may benefit from the increased availability of open ocean habitat and prey resources, the recruitment of young krill from the marginal sea ice zone or the under-ice habitat might be severely reduced under a global warming scenario (Flores et al., 2012a; Siegel, 2016). The impacts of climate change on higher trophic levels, such as baleen whales and pinnipeds in the Southern Ocean are

even less understood due to their known ability to adapt to changes making use of phenotypic plasticity (Silber *et al.*, 2017; Meynecke *et al.*, 2020).

In Chapter II of this thesis, I describe the recurring multi-year presence of humpback whales in the ASSO, with the exception of El Niño years, which suggests that these whales are particularly responsive to changes to their environment caused by climate oscillations. Recurring climate oscillations, such as the El-Niño-Southern-Oscillation (ENSO) or the Southern Annular Mode (SAM)<sup>1</sup> (Philander, 1983; Marshall, 2003b; Yuan, 2004; Lovenduski and Gruber, 2005; Meredith et al., 2008; Loeb et al., 2009; Loeb et al., 2010; Sallée et al., 2010; Kim and Orsi, 2014; Siegel, 2016; Atkinson et al., 2019) provide the opportunity to investigate the responses of baleen whales to climate variability within a relatively short time span (i.e., less than a decade). Furthermore, climate change is thought to cause frequency shifts in the modes of various climate oscillations (e.g., more frequent El-Niño phases; Gille, 2002; Cai et al., 2014). Understanding the impacts of climate oscillations on baleen whales and the Southern Ocean ecosystems, therefore, is crucial to our efforts in anticipating the intricate effects of climate change. The most likely pathway by which climate variations could affect baleen whale distribution during most of the year (i.e., except during the breeding season) is through their influence on spatio-temporal patterns of prey availability (followed by indirect effects, such as changes in resource competition or predation pressure; Kovacs and Lydersen, 2008; Moore et al., 2019), in case of the Southern Ocean, the availability of Antarctic krill (Loeb and Santora, 2015). Unfortunately, the knowledge on climate change impacts on krill and especially the interactions between krill and other key ecosystem processes is still scarce (Flores

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> SAM is the dominant pattern of natural climate variability in polar and subpolar regions of the Southern Hemisphere (Marshall, 2003). During the positive phase of SAM, the westerly wind belt surrounding the Antarctic continent contracts towards the continental shelf and climatic conditions north of the wind belt change to warmer, windier, and cloudier weather. Especially north of the Antarctic Polar Front, sea surface temperature increases and chlorophyll concentration decreases during positive SAM (Lovenduski and Gruber, 2005; Meredith et al., 2008). ENSO causes periodic fluctuation of sea surface temperature and air pressure originating from the tropical Pacific and therefore has the strongest effects on the Pacific sector of the Southern Ocean, including the Western Antarctic Peninsula (Philander, 1983). Both SAM and ENSO affect winds, cloud cover, currents, sea surface temperature, and sea ice extent in the Southern Ocean (Yuan, 2004; Loeb et al., 2009; Loeb et al., 2010; Sallée et al., 2010; Kim and Orsi, 2014; Siegel, 2016; Atkinson et al., 2019).

*et al.*, 2012a), which hampers the interpretation of results based on a single species, such as in the context of this thesis, humpback whales. In *Chapter II*, all available information on climate variation impact on krill and the Southern Ocean ecosystems was considered to interpret the absence of humpback whales from the ASSO during El-Niño years, which still left considerable room for speculation. To successfully unravel the intricate effects of climate variations on Antarctic baleen whales, interdisciplinary studies integrating biological (e.g., spatio-temporal patterns in primary and secondary productivity), oceanographic (e.g., upwelling), biogeochemical (e.g., the role of micronutrients), and behavioral (e.g., degree of phenotypic plasticity) seem indispensable.

### A perspective for a Marine Protected Area (MPA) in the Weddell Sea

The Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR) aims for an ecosystem-based management approach to avoid irreversible changes to the Antarctic ecosystem due to anthropogenic harvesting (CCAMLR, 1982). CCAMLR consists of 24 member countries and the European Union and all parties have an interest in conserving Antarctic marine live while allowing for rational use of marine living resources (CCAMLR, 1982). The species on which harvesting focuses in the Southern Ocean is Antarctic krill, which at the same time is a keystone species for the 'krill-based Antarctic ecosystem' (Siegel and Loeb, 1995; Nicol et al., 2008). The cumulative effects of future climate change are likely to have a negative effect on krill populations, consequently potentially increasing the vulnerability of krill and krill-dependent predator populations (Flores et al., 2012a; Hill et al., 2013; Klein et al., 2018; Melbourne-Thomas, 2020). Germany (i.a., researchers from the Alfred-Wegener-Institute for Polar and Marine Research), therefore, proposed the establishment of a Marine Protected Area (MPA) in the Weddell Sea aiming at the conservation of representative examples of biodiversity, habitats, and ecosystem processes as well as the protection of an area maintaining the ability to adapt to the effects of climate change (Teschke et al., 2016). Baleen whales play a crucial role in ecosystem processes (Smetacek, 2008; Nicol et al., 2010) and baseline data on, for example, the distribution and abundance of the different species is key to the development of effective management strategies. The results presented

129

in Chapters I, II, and IV contribute to this baseline understanding by identifying humpback whale presence hotspots, recurring presences in both hotspots also during winter, migratory adaptations during extreme climatic events, and the flexibility in habitat use combining both feeding and breeding activities. One direct recommendation derived from the outcomes of my PhD project would be the northward extension of the proposed MPA area to 60°S (i.e., instead of 64°S) in order to include the two identified humpback whale hotspots at the northeastern and northwestern edges of the ASSO. Since the spatiotemporal distribution of humpback whales in the ASSO is most likely mainly driven by the availability and distribution of their primary prey species (Santora et al., 2010), it is safe to assume that these humpback whale hotspots reflect areas with high krill densities, bearing in mind that whales may target specific age and size classes representing only part of the population (Friedlaender et al., 2009). Longterm distribution data for Antarctic krill is lacking (Atkinson et al., 2008; Flores et al., 2012a; Atkinson et al., 2017) and knowledge gaps could potentially be bridged with information on baleen whale distributions, implying that baleen whale presence could act as a proxy for krill presence (i.e., at least representing part of the krill distribution). Future MPA planning, evaluation, and approval could benefit from the incorporation of available information on year-round baleen whale distribution, improving the comprehensive representation of keystone species and processes.

# Feeding ground sharing in humpback whales

Baleen whale populations and particularly their recovery from past whaling depletion are managed by the International Whaling Commission (IWC). The IWC lists the identification of breeding/feeding ground migratory linkages and connections as a priority research topic to improve conservation and management efforts for Southern Hemisphere humpback whales (International Whaling Commission, 2016). The results presented in *Chapter IV* indicate the presence of humpback whales from at least two distinct breeding populations in the ASSO with overlapping distributions. To gather more detailed information on which breeding stocks frequent the ASSO during summer, I conducted further comparative song analyses

including songs from the ASSO as well as songs from different breeding stocks. Through international collaborators I obtained song recordings from the Ecuadorian and Brazilian breeding stocks and from the South African migration route. A prerequisite for comparative song analyses is the temporal proximity of the song recordings to be compared (i.e., songs from the same years or from previous or following seasons) due to the evolutionary nature of humpback whale songs (Winn and Winn, 1978b; Payne and Payne, 1985b). Therefore, I was able to include breeding ground/migration route song recordings from 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2016, 2017, 2018, and 2019 in the analysis. From each year and location, I analyzed multiple songs (from three, or the minimum available individual singers per location) and extracted a summarized phrase repertoire and one representative theme sequence (based on a Levensthein similarity measure) per location and year (see methods *Chapter IV* for detailed processes of song analyses). One exception were the song recordings from the South African migration route, where three representative theme sequences from the 2018 data were selected for analysis, because recordings were made both during the northward and southward migration. The songs recorded in the ASSO (presented in Chapter IV) were all included in the comparative analyses (i.e., without reduction to a representative theme sequence per year) due to the unknown number of breeding stocks that potentially contributed to the recordings. Comparative song analyses were conducted for each year of ASSO song recordings, including breeding ground/migration route song recordings from the previous, same, and following year, and song similarity was quantified with the Dice Coincidence Index (Dice, 1945) and the Levenshtein Distance Similarity Index (Kohonen, 1985; Garland et al., 2012) and the bootstrapped hierarchical clustering of the resulting index values (see *Chapter IV* for details).

Overall, the comparative song analyses showed that humpback whales from the Ecuadorian, Brazilian and Angolan breeding stock (represented by the animals recorded during migration off South Africa) had acoustic contact to humpback whales recorded in the ASSO, most likely because at least parts of these breeding stocks migrate to a shared feeding ground in the ASSO.

The comparison of phrase repertoires, for example, revealed a high overlap (i.e., ~80%) between the ASSO and Ecuadorian repertoires in 2013 (i.e., 'ASSO\_2\_2013' and 'E\_1\_2013'), the ASSO and the

131

Brazilian repertoires in 2016 and 2017 (i.e., ~50%), and the ASSO and the South African repertoires in 2018 (i.e., ~70%) (Figure 12).



Similarity of phrase repertoire

Figure 12. Bootstrapped dendrogram from hierarchical clustering of the similarity of phrase repertoires (Dice coincidence index) from the ASSO, the Ecuadorian breeding stock, the Brazilian breeding stock, and the South African migration route for all recording years. Phrase repertoires were compared as summarized repertoires per location and year. ASSO recordings from 2013 are represented as two repertoires, due to absence of common phrases in these both repertoires (see Chapter IV). The names on each branch indicate the location (i.e., 'E' for Ecuador, 'B' for Brazil, and 'SA' for South Africa), the repertoire ID (i.e., '1', '2'), and the year (i.e., '2017') to identify the respective phrase repertoire. Bold lines indicate divisions that were likely to occur (i.e., AU > 95%) and red rectangles clusters of significant probability.

In 2011, songs recorded in the ASSO were partly similar to the songs recorded off Brazil in the same year, but did not show any similarity with the Ecuadorian song from the following year (Figure 13). Most likely, humpback whales from the Brazilian breeding stock migrated to the ASSO feeding area, more

specifically to the area around the Greenwich Meridian, and returned to the waters off Brazil in winter (Figure 14). This is also evident from the comparative analyses of the 2012 data, where the degree of song similarity between the Greenwich recordings and the Brazilian recordings from 2011 indicates acoustic contact in the previous year (Figure 13, Figure 14). Additionally, the hierarchical cluster of the 2012 data shows a connection between Ecuadorian and Brazilian song with a higher similarity between the Brazilian and Ecuadorian song from 2013 than between the Ecuadorian song from 2012 and 2013 (Figure 13), which suggests an event of acoustic contact between these populations in 2012 (Figure 14). The 2013 data shows that songs recorded off Elephant Island (i.e., 'W13 05-Jun-2013' and 'W13 05-Oct-2013') were the most similar to the songs recorded off Ecuador in the same year, indicating that humpback whales from the Ecuadorian breeding stock visited the area around Elephant Island, at least during this particular year (Figure 13, Figure 14). Songs recorded in the ASSO during 2017 and 2018 were partly similar to Brazilian songs from 2016 and 2019 and to Ecuadorian songs from 2017 (Figure 13) suggesting migrations from these breeding stocks to the ASSO during these years (Figure 14). Furthermore, the absence of similarity also can be indicative. For example, the verification that the biggest part of the ASSO songs from 2013 were not similar to the songs from the Ecuadorian or Brazilian breeding stock suggests that these 2013 ASSO songs originate from another population, most likely the Angolan breeding stock due to its geographical proximity to the ASSO.



#### Similarity of theme sequences

Figure 13. Bootstrapped dendrograms from hierachical clustering of similarity of theme sequences (Levensthein distance similarity index) from the ASSO, the Ecuadorian breeding stock, the Barzilian breeding stock, and the South African migration route for the five different years of song recordings from the ASSO. Names on each branch belong to individual singers (in case of the ASSO) or representative theme sequence (in case of breeding stock or migration route recordings) encoded with the name of the recording position (first 2-3 symbols, i.e., 'W13', 'G4', 'SA',...) and the date of the recording when known (last 9 symbols, i.e., '28-Apr-18', '01-Nov-18',...). Bold lines indicate divisions that were likely to occur (i.e., AU > 95%) and red rectangles clusters of significant probability.



Figure 14. Schematic illustration of potential song transmission pathways between the ASSO and the Ecuadorian breeding stock, the Brazilian breeding stock, and the South African migration route indicated by comparative song analyses. Red dots indicate recording positions with data for 2013, organge dots represent recording positions with data for 2011, 2012, 2013, 2017, and 2018 and crossed dots represent recording positions without song recordings. Approximate recording positions for the Ecuadorian breeding stock, the Brazilian breeding stock, and the South African migration route are indicated by yellow ellipses. Recording data from off Namibia were not included in the current analyses due to the low

quality of song recordings. Arrows illustrate the likely pathways of acoustic contact between humpback whales recorded at the different locations for the previous, the same or the year after.

These preliminary results confirm the findings presented in *Chapter IV* and even present evidence for the migration of at least three breeding stocks to the ASSO feeding area. Humpback whales of these breeding stocks seem to mix in the ASSO repeatedly and mixing patterns seem to be variable on a temporal scale, meaning that most likely whales from different populations mix at different times (i.e., years) at feeding hotspots of variable locations. The flexibility of these mixing processes is most likely connected to variations in migratory patterns driven by spatio-temporal changes in prey availability. Optimizing their energy budgets, humpback whales of the different breeding populations are likely to migrate to those areas with sufficient prey availability that lie closest to the respective breeding ground. Baleen whales are thought to employ a multi-modal sensory system combining magnetoreception, somatosensory perception of oceanographic conditions, chemosensory cues as well as acoustic perception of conspecifics or other marine animals to find prey hotspots (Torres, 2017a). Humpback whales can detect and localize social vocalizations and songs of conspecific over tens of kilometers (Au et al., 2006; Dunlop et al., 2013) which allows migrating humpback whales to navigate to temporary prey hotspots following acoustic waymarkers. Prey availability seems to be variable in time and space and is most likely driven by climatic variations (see Chapter II) which, consequently, also drive humpback whale migration patterns and the flexible mixing of different populations at feeding hotspots. On average, the polar and subpolar regions of the South Atlantic Ocean (i.e., including the ASSO) have the highest densities of Antarctic krill on a circumpolar scale (Atkinson et al., 2004; Nicol, 2006). This supports the outcome of the comparative song analyses and suggests that the high prey availability in the ASSO attracts humpback whales from different breeding populations and favors mixing among these (Amaral et al., 2016). In this context, it is possible that also humpback whales from other breeding populations than those included in the comparative song analyses (e.g., humpback whales breeding around Madagascar), travel to the ASSO, contribute to the encountered variabilities in song recordings, and mix with whales stemming from the different populations (see also Amaral et al., 2016).

136

#### Implications for breeding stock management

Confirmed by the results presented in this thesis, as many as three breeding stocks rely at least partly on resources encountered in the ASSO. For humpback whales from the South Atlantic breeding stocks, the ASSO has been assumed to be the primary feeding ground, however, to date, this assumption has never been confirmed (Zerbini et al., 2011; Rosenbaum et al., 2014). Additionally, the results present new evidence that humpback whales from the Ecuadorian breeding stock also migrate to the western part of the ASSO. Two important factors which ensure the prosperity of a population, therefore, are linked to the ASSO: (1) the ASSO provides (still) sufficient prey resources to allow population growth (Bortolotto et al., 2016; Félix et al., 2020; Ward et al., 2020), and (2) the ASSO is an important area for both cultural and maybe even genetic exchange between populations supporting the maintenance of large gene pools which increase the populations' resilience to environmental change (Amaral et al., 2016). The combined results of my PhD project highlight the ecological relevance of the ASSO for humpback whales from multiple populations. The importance of this area should be considered in future management decisions by the IWC. Additionally, migration routes from the distinct breeding stock locations to the ASSO (e.g., the coastal areas along the South American continent; Felix and Guzman, 2014) have to be managed temporally (i.e., during the migration period) to allow for the movements of whales without biologically relevant disturbance. Based on the outcomes of this PhD project, I recommend that the joint forces of the IWC and CCAMLR create a management and conservation plan for MPA(s) including important humpback whale feeding hotspots in the ASSO (most likely overlapping with krill hotspots and potentially also important for other baleen whales). On the migration routes outside the ASSO, anthropogenic impacts (e.g., ship traffic) should be restricted (e.g., deceleration and/or

migrating. If such measures would be taken, humpback whales would most likely continue to recuperate from the effects of past overexploitation through industrial whaling and recover their role as abundant large pelagic predators structuring the Southern Ocean ecosystem (Nicol *et al.*, 2010).

rerouting of ship traffic) during sensitive periods of the year to reduce disturbance of whales while

137

# Outlook

As most PhD projects, this project leaves open and generates new questions creating opportunities for future studies. The ongoing operation of the HAFOS recorder network will allow for studies encompassing comparisons over larger spatial and temporal scales than were possible with the dataset analyzed during this PhD project. The temporal extension of the dataset will support further investigation regarding the impact of climate oscillations and climate change and will allow for more robust correlations and interpretations of statistical results. The spatial extension of the HAFOS dataset by adding additional recording locations would aid in defining the spatial limits of feeding hotspots, as the identified hotspots for humpback whales in the ASSO were located at the northern boundaries of the area covered by HAFOS. Interesting additional recording positions for addressing this question would be, for example, the waters around the numerous islands in the ASSO, such as Bouvet Island, South Georgia, the South Orkney Islands, and the South Sandwich Islands or the Straits of Magellan (Chile), because sighting and satellite tagging studies suggest a crucial importance of these areas for humpback whales (Moore et al., 1999; Gibbons et al., 2003; Stevick et al., 2004; Engel and Martin, 2009; Zerbini et al., 2011; Rosenbaum et al., 2014). Combining acoustic presence data with further environmental variables, for example, productivity measures, krill densities, measures of carbon flux and micronutrients would be an interesting approach to understand the underlying processes explaining the response of whales to climate variabilities. The oceanographic moorings of HAFOS could in the future be extended with biological and biogeochemical sensors which generate data to bridge the gap between physical patterns in the ocean and a predator at the very top of the food chain, such as the humpback whale. Furthermore, the combination of physical, biological, and biogeochemical datasets would assist in the interpretation of habitat preferences, species interactions and the niche partitioning among krill predators, presenting fundamental information for the management of the 'krill-based Antarctic ecosystem'. Finally, the preliminary comparative song analyses presented here can be extended with additional data, for example, from the breeding stock inhabiting the waters around Madagascar. The results of these complete

comparative analyses are planned to be published as a separate manuscript in the near future. All in all, the findings of this PhD project provide information on Southern Ocean humpback whale ecology that is likely to be of interest for scientists as well as management and conservation bodies, and highlight the promising possibilities for future research including multiple lines of interdisciplinary investigation.

# References

- Amaral, A. R., Loo, J., Jaris, H., Olavarria, C., Thiele, D., Ensor, P., Aguayo, A., and Rosenbaum, H. C. (2016). "Population genetic structure among feeding aggregations of humpback whales in the Southern Ocean," Marine Biology 163, 1-13.
- Arrigo, K. R., and Thomas, D. N. (2004). "Large scale importance of sea ice biology in the Southern Ocean," Antarctic Science 16, 471.
- Arzel, O., Fichefet, T., and Goosse, H. (2006). "Sea ice evolution over the 20th and 21st centuries as simulated by current AOGCMs," Ocean Modelling 12, 401-415.
- Atkinson, A., Hill, S. L., Pakhomov, E. A., Siegel, V., Anadon, R., Chiba, S., Daly, K. L., Downie, R., Fielding, S., Fretwell, P., Gerrish, L., Hosie, G., Jessopp, M. J., Kawaguchi, S., Krafft, B. A., Loeb, V., Nishikawa, J., Peat, H. J., Reiss, C. S., Ross, R. M., Quetin, L. B., Schmidt, K., Steinberg, D. K., Subramaniam, R. C., Tarling, G. A., and Ward, P. (2017). "KRILLBASE: a circumpolar database of Antarctic krill and salp numerical densities, 1926-2016," Earth Syst Sci Data 9, 193-210.
- Atkinson, A., Hill, S. L., Pakhomov, E. A., Siegel, V., Reiss, C. S., Loeb, V. J., Steinberg, D. K., Schmidt, K., Tarling, G. A., Gerrish, L., and Sailley, S. F. (2019). "Krill (Euphausia superba) distribution contracts southward during rapid regional warming," Nat Clim Change 9, 142-147.
- Atkinson, A., Siegel, V., Pakhomov, E., and Rothery, P. (2004). "Long-term decline in krill stock and increase in salps within the Southern Ocean," Nature 432, 100-103.
- Atkinson, A., Siegel, V., Pakhomov, E. A., Rothery, P., Loeb, V., Ross, R. M., Quetin, L. B., Schmidt, K., Fretwell, P., Murphy, E. J., Tarling, G. A., and Fleming, A. H. (2008).
  "Oceanic circumpolar habitats of Antarctic krill," Marine Ecology Progress Series 362, 1-23.
- Au, W. U., Pack, A. A., Lammers, M. O., Herman, L. M., Deakos, M. H., and Andrews, K. (2006). "Acoustic properties of humpback whale songs," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 120, 1103-1110.
- Baumgartner, M. F., and Mussoline, S. E. (2011). "A generalized baleen whale call detection and classification system," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 129, 2889-2902.
- Bergler, C., Schröter, H., Cheng, R. X., Barth, V., Weber, M., Nöth, E., Hofer, H., and Maier, A. (2019). "ORCA-SPOT: An automatic killer whale sound detection toolkit using deep learning," Scientific reports 9, 1-17.
- Bortolotto, G. A., Danilewicz, D., Andriolo, A., Secchi, E. R., and Zerbini, A. N. (2016). "Whale, Whale, Everywhere: Increasing Abundance of Western South Atlantic

Humpback Whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in Their Wintering Grounds," PLOS ONE 11, e0164596.

- Bracegirdle, T. J., Connolley, W. M., and Turner, J. (2008). "Antarctic climate change over the twenty first century," Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 113.
- Cai, W., Borlace, S., Lengaigne, M., Van Rensch, P., Collins, M., Vecchi, G., Timmermann, A., Santoso, A., McPhaden, M. J., and Wu, L. (2014). "Increasing frequency of extreme El Niño events due to greenhouse warming," Nat Clim Change 4, 111-116.
- CCAMLR (1982). "Convention on the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources," (CCAMLR, Hobart).
- Davis, G. E., Baumgartner, M. F., Corkeron, P. J., Bell, J., Berchok, C., Bonnell, J. M., Thornton, J. B., Brault, S., Buchanan, G. A., and Cholewiak, D. M. (2020). "Exploring movement patterns and changing distributions of baleen whales in the western North Atlantic using a decade of passive acoustic data," Global Change Biol 26, 4812.
- Dice, L. R. (1945). "Measures of the amount of ecologic association between species," Ecology 26, 297-302.
- Dunlop, R. A., Cato, D. H., Noad, M. J., and Stokes, D. M. (2013). "Source levels of social sounds in migrating humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 134, 706-714.
- Engel, M., and Martin, A. (2009). "Feeding grounds of the western South Atlantic humpback whale population," Marine Mammal Science 25, 964-969.
- Félix, F., Castro, C., and Laake, J. L. (2020). "Abundance and survival estimates of the southeastern Pacific humpback whale stock from 1991–2006 photo-identification surveys in Ecuador," J. Cetacean Res. Manage., 301-307.
- Felix, F., and Guzman, H. M. (2014). "Satellite Tracking and Sighting Data Analyses of Southeast Pacific Humpback Whales (Megaptera novaeangliae): Is the Migratory Route Coastal or Oceanic?," Aquatic Mammals 40, 329-340.
- Flores, H., Atkinson, A., Kawaguchi, S., Krafft, B. A., Milinevsky, G., Nicol, S., Reiss, C., Tarling, G. A., Werner, R., Rebolledo, E. B., Cirelli, V., Cuzin-Roudy, J., Fielding, S., Groeneveld, J. J., Haraldsson, M., Lombana, A., Marschoff, E., Meyer, B., Pakhomov, E. A., Rombola, E., Schmidt, K., Siegel, V., Teschke, M., Tonkes, H., Toullec, J. Y., Trathan, P. N., Tremblay, N., Van de Putte, A. P., van Franeker, J. A., and Werner, T. (2012). "Impact of climate change on Antarctic krill," Marine Ecology Progress Series 458, 1-19.
- Friedlaender, A. S., Lawson, G. L., and Halpin, P. N. (2009). "Evidence of resource partitioning between humpback and minke whales around the western Antarctic Peninsula," Marine Mammal Science 25, 402-415.
- Garland, E. C., Lilley, M. S., Goldizen, A. W., Rekdahl, M. L., Garrigue, C., and Noad, M. J. (2012). "Improved versions of the Levenshtein distance method for comparing sequence information in animals' vocalisations: tests using humpback whale song," Behaviour 149, 1413-1441.
- Gibbons, J., Capella, J. J., and Valladares, C. (2003). "Rediscovery of a humpback whale, Megaptera novaeangliae, feeding ground in the Straits of Magellan, Chile," Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 5, 203-208.
- Gille, S. T. (2002). "Warming of the Southern Ocean since the 1950s," Science 295, 1275-1277.

- Hill, S. L., Phillips, T., and Atkinson, A. (2013). "Potential Climate Change Effects on the Habitat of Antarctic Krill in the Weddell Quadrant of the Southern Ocean," PLoS ONE 8, e72246.
- International Whaling Commission (2016). "Annex H: Report of the Sub-Committee on Other Southern Hemisphere Whale Stocks," edited by S. D. Report of the Scientific Committee, CA, USA.
- Janik, V. M. (1999). "Pitfalls in the categorization of behaviour: a comparison of dolphin whistle classification methods," Animal Behaviour 57, 133-143.
- Kim, Y. S., and Orsi, A. H. (2014). "On the variability of Antarctic Circumpolar Current fronts inferred from 1992–2011 altimetry," Journal of Physical Oceanography 44, 3054-3071.
- Klein, E. S., Hill, S. L., Hinke, J. T., Phillips, T., and Watters, G. M. (2018). "Impacts of rising sea temperature on krill increase risks for predators in the Scotia Sea," PLoS One 13, e0191011.
- Kohonen, T. (1985). "Median strings," Pattern Recognition Letters 3, 309-313.
- Kovacs, K. M., and Lydersen, C. (2008). "Climate change impacts on seals and whales in the North Atlantic Arctic and adjacent shelf seas," Sci Progress-Uk 91, 117-150.
- Loeb, V., Hofmann, E. E., Klinck, J. M., and Holm-Hansen, O. (2010). "Hydrographic control of the marine ecosystem in the South Shetland-Elephant Island and Bransfield Strait region," Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 57, 519-542.
- Loeb, V. J., Hofmann, E. E., Klinck, J. M., Holm-Hansen, O., and White, W. B. (2009). "ENSO and variability of the Antarctic Peninsula pelagic marine ecosystem," Antarctic Science 21.
- Loeb, V. J., and Santora, J. A. (2015). "Climate variability and spatiotemporal dynamics of five Southern Ocean krill species," Progress in Oceanography 134, 93-122.
- Lovenduski, N. S., and Gruber, N. (2005). "Impact of the Southern Annular Mode on Southern Ocean circulation and biology," Geophysical Research Letters 32, 1-4.
- Marshall, G. J. (2003). "Trends in the southern annular mode from observations and reanalyses," J Climate 16, 4134-4143.
- Melbourne-Thomas, J. (2020). "Climate shifts for krill predators," Nat Clim Change 10, 390-391.
- Meredith, M. P., Murphy, E. J., Hawker, E. J., King, J. C., and Wallace, M. I. (2008). "On the interannual variability of ocean temperatures around South Georgia, Southern Ocean: Forcing by El Niño/Southern Oscillation and the southern annular mode," Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 55, 2007-2022.
- Meynecke, J. O., Seyboth, E., De Bie, J., Menzel Barraqueta, J. L., Chama, A., Prakash Dey, S., Lee, S. B., Tulloch, V., Vichi, M., and Findlay, K. (2020). "Responses of humpback whales to a changing climate in the Southern Hemisphere: Priorities for research efforts," Marine Ecology 41, e12616.
- Moore, M. J., Berrow, S. D., Jensen, B. A., Carr, P., Sears, R., Rowntree, V. J., Payne, R., and K., H. P. (1999). "Relative abundance of large whales around South Georgia (1979-1998)," Marine Mammal Science 15, 1287-1302.
- Moore, S. E., Haug, T., Víkingsson, G. A., and Stenson, G. B. (2019). "Baleen whale ecology in arctic and subarctic seas in an era of rapid habitat alteration," Progress in Oceanography 176, 102118.

- Nicol, S. (2006). "Krill, currents, and sea ice: Euphausia superba and its changing environment," Bioscience 56, 111-120.
- Nicol, S., Bowie, A., Jarman, S., Lannuzel, D., Meiners, K. M., and van der Merwe, P. (2010). "Southern Ocean iron fertilization by baleen whales and Antarctic krill," Fish and Fisheries 11, 203-209.
- Nicol, S., Worby, A., and Leaper, R. (2008). "Changes in the Antarctic sea ice ecosystem: potential effects on krill and baleen whales," Marine and Freshwater research 59, 361-382.
- Payne, K., and Payne, R. (1985). "Large-Scale Changes over 19 Years in Songs of Humpback Whales in Bermuda," Z Tierpsychol 68, 89-114.
- Philander, S. G. H. (1983). "El Nino southern oscillation phenomena," Nature 302, 295-301.
- Rettig, S., Boebel, O., Menze, S., Kindermann, L., Thomisch, K., and van Opzeeland, I. (2013). "Local to basin scale arrays for passive acoustic monitoring in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean."
- Rosenbaum, H. C., Maxwell, S. M., Kershaw, F., and Mate, B. (2014). "Long-Range Movement of Humpback Whales and Their Overlap with Anthropogenic Activity in the South Atlantic Ocean," Conservation Biology 28, 604-615.
- Sallée, J.-B., Speer, K., and Rintoul, S. (2010). "Zonally asymmetric response of the Southern Ocean mixed-layer depth to the Southern Annular Mode," Nature Geoscience 3, 273-279.
- Santora, J. A., Reiss, C. S., Loeb, V. J., and Veit, R. R. (2010). "Spatial association between hotspots of baleen whales and demographic patterns of Antarctic krill Eupahusia superba suggests size-dependent predation," Mar Ecol Prog Ser 405, 255-269.
- Siegel, V. (2016). Biology and ecology of Antarctic krill (Springer).
- Siegel, V., and Loeb, V. (1995). "Recruitment of Antarctic Krill Euphausia-Superba and Possible Causes for Its Variability," Marine Ecology Progress Series 123, 45-56.
- Silber, G. K., Lettrich, M. D., Thomas, P. O., Baker, J. D., Baumgartner, M., Becker, E. A., Boveng, P., Dick, D. M., Fiechter, J., and Forcada, J. (2017). "Projecting marine mammal distribution in a changing climate," Frontiers in Marine Science 4, 413.
- Smetacek, V. (2008). "Are declining Antarctic krill stocks a result of global warming or of the decimation of the whales?," in Impacts of Global Warming on Polar Ecosystems, edited by C. M. Duarte (Fundación BBVA), pp. 45-83.
- Stevick, P. T., Aguayo, A., Allen, J., Avila, I. C., Capella, J., Castro, C., Chater, K., Dalla Rosa, L., Engel, M. H., Félix, F., Flórez-González, L., Freitas, A., Haase, B., Llano, M., Lodi, M., Munoz, E., Olavarría, C., Secchi, E., Scheidat, M., and Siciliano, S. (2004).
  "Migrations of individually identified humpback whales between the Antarctic Peninsula and South America," J. Cetacean Res. Manage. 6, 109-113.
- Teschke, K., Pehlke, H., Deininger, M., Jerosch, K., and Brey, T. (2016). "Scientific background document in support of the development of a CCAMLR MPA in the Weddell Sea (Antarctica)–Version 2016."
- Torres, L. G. (2017). "A sense of scale: Foraging cetaceans' use of scale-dependent multimodal sensory systems," Marine Mammal Science 33, 1170-1193.
- Ward, E., Zerbini, A. N., Kinas, P. G., Engel, M. H., and Andriolo, A. (2020). "Estimates of population growth rates of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the wintering grounds off the coast of Brazil (Breeding Stock A)," J. Cetacean Res. Manage., 145-149.
- Winn, H. E., and Winn, L. K. (1978). "Song of Humpback Whale Megaptera-Novaeangliae in West-Indies," Marine Biology 47, 97-114.

- Yuan, X. (2004). "ENSO-related impacts on Antarctic sea ice: a synthesis of phenomenon and mechanisms," Antarctic Science 16, 415.
- Zerbini, A., Andriolo, A., Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Moreira, S. C., Pizzorno, J. L., Maia, Y. G., Vanblaricom, G. R., and Demaster, D. P. (2011). "Migration and summer destinations of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) in the western South Atlantic Ocean," Journal of Cetacean Research and Management, Special Issue 3, 113-118.

# Publications and Author contributions

### Chapter I

**Schall, E.**, Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Spiesecke, S., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2020). Large-scale spatial variabilities in the humpback whale acoustic presence in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Royal Society Open Science, 7(12), 201347.

<u>Statement of authorship</u>: E.S. analysed the data and wrote the manuscript. K.T. participated in some data collection and helped draft the manuscript. O.B. participated in collecting data and coordinated the study. G.G. guided the analysis and helped draft the manuscript. S.S. collected all the data. I.V.O. coordinated the study, collected part of the data and helped draft the manuscript. All the authors reviewed and contributed to the final document edits. All the authors gave the final approval for publication.

### Chapter II

**Schall, E.**, Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Mangia Woods, S., El-Gabbas, A., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2021). Multi-year presence of humpback whales in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean but not during El Niño. Under review in Nature Communications Biology.

<u>Statement of authorship</u>: E.S. analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. K.T. participated in some data collection and helped draft the manuscript. O.B. coordinated the study and collected the majority of the data. G.B. guided the analysis and helped draft the manuscript. S.M.W. helped with data analysis. A.E-G. supervised the statistical analysis. I.V.O. coordinated the study, collected part of the data, and helped draft the manuscript. All the authors reviewed and contributed to the final document edits. All the authors gave the final approval for publication.

### Chapter III

**Schall, E.**, Roca, I., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2021). Acoustic metrics to asses humpback whale song unit structure from the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Under review in the Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, Special Issue 'Machine Learning in Acoustics'.

<u>Statement of authorship</u>: E.S. analyzed part of the data and wrote part of the manuscript. I.R. analyzed part of the data and wrote part of the manuscript. I.V.O. coordinated the study, collected part of the data, and helped draft the manuscript. All the authors reviewed and contributed to the final document edits. All the authors gave the final approval for publication.

# Chapter IV

**Schall, E.**, Thomisch, K., Boebel, O., Gerlach, G., Mangia Woods, S., Roca, I., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2021). Humpback whale song recordings suggest common feeding ground occupation by multiple populations. Under review in Nature Scientific Reports.

<u>Statement of authorship</u>: E.S. analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. K.T. participated in some data collection and helped draft the manuscript. O.B. coordinated the study and collected the majority of the data. G.B. guided the analysis and helped draft the manuscript. S.M.W. helped with data analysis. I.R. conducted part of the statistical analysis. I.V.O. coordinated the study, collected part of the data, and helped draft the manuscript. All the authors reviewed and contributed to the final document edits. All the authors gave the final approval for publication.
#### Acknowledgements

First, the biggest thanks go to my supervisor and mentor Ilse Van Opzeeland without whom I would never be in the position of presenting this thesis. Many thanks also to my PhD committee, Gabriele Gerlach, Olaf Boebel and Karolin Thomisch for the dedication and time invested to supervise my project and education.

Furthermore, thanks to the Alfred-Wegener-Institute and the section of the Physical Oceanography of the Polar Seas for facilitating PhD projects like mine. I want to value the work of all researchers, technicians and the ship crews that helped to generate the data that was analyzed for this thesis. Also, thanks to every one of the section and especially our working group who spent time with me in enjoyable and productive meetings, retreats and coffee breaks. Many thanks to all participants of PS124 who introduced me to working and living on Polarstern and made this expedition memorable.

I want to thank my family and my best friend Johanna for the constant support of my crazy ideas since many many years and for never losing faith in me. Uncountable evenings with wine and music, hikes with our dogs, horses to train, good food and always positive vibes.

Finally, I also want to thank my 'Latino family' in Bremen who have been there from the very beginning and have helped me through highs and lows with joy, foolery, tears and so much laughing. Not to forget about my 'Volleyball family' who managed to distract me from stress and pressure with these numerous hours and days that we spent in the gym or in the sand.

#### Eidesstaatliche Erklärung

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Hilfsmittel und Quellen genutzt habe. Alle Tabellen und Graphiken sowie alle wörtlich oder dem Sinn entnommenen Stellen sind von mir als solche gekennzeichnet. Des Weiteren versichere ich, dass Dritte von mir weder unmittelbar noch mittelbar geldwerte Leistungen erhalten haben, die im Zusammenhang mit dem Promotionsverfahren stehen könnten. Zudem versichere ich, dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat und, dass diesem Promotionsverfahren keine endgültig gescheiterten Promotionsverfahren vorausgegangen sind. Diese Dissertation ist, abgesehen von der angegebenen Teilpublikation (*Chapter I-IV*), noch nicht veröffentlicht worden. Die Leitlinien guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis an der Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg wurden befolgt. Die Satzungen der Promotionsordnung sind mir bekannt und von mir eingehalten worden.

Die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation ist von Prof. Dr. Gabriele Gerlach und Dr. Ilse Van Opzeeland betreut worden.

Elena Schall Bremen, May 2021

## Supplementary Material - Chapter I & II

#### **Material and Methods**

**S1** 

Automatic detection and classification of humpback whale vocalizations

All available passive acoustic data were processed by the 'Low frequency detection and classification system' (LFDCS) developed by Baumgartner and Mussoline (2011b) in order to automatically detect and classify humpback whale vocalizations. A call library for humpback whale call types from the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean was constructed using data from two recording periods with confirmed humpback whale acoustic presence: May 2011 and June 2013 from recorders deployed at 59°S 0°E, 64°S 0°E, and 61°S 55°W. In total seven common humpback whale call types were included in the call library, comprising between 153 and 332 selected exemplars (Table 3). To avoid the miss-classification of vocalizations from other marine mammal species (inhabiting the wider Weddell Sea area and occupying a similar frequency range as humpback whales) as a humpback whale vocalization, at least one common call type per species was determined to be included in the call library. In total seven additional call types from other vocal marine mammal species were included in the call library with between 160 and 321 selected exemplars per call type (Table 3; (Klinck et al., 2010; Van Opzeeland et al., 2010; Risch et al., 2014b; Schall and Van Opzeeland, 2017)). The humpback whale call type 18, a low frequency downsweep (LF DS), has acoustic characteristics that were very similar to those of the common low frequency downsweeps of other baleen whale species (Edds-Walton, 1997; Baumgartner et al., 2008; Ou et al., 2015). For this reason, the automatic detections of this particular call type cannot be considered as a reliable sign for humpback whale acoustic presence and corresponding detections were therefore only considered in combination with other humpback whale call type detections.

Table 3. LFDCS call library of all tonal sounds which serve as choices for the classification algorithm. Call type numbers were assigned arbitrarily (Humpback whale call type numbers were chosen to match the call type number given in catalogue for manual analysis). Call type names were assigned, based on the visual and aural appearance of the call types during analysis (e.g., 'LF' = low frequency; 'DS' = downsweep).

| Species | Call Type | Call Type Name |     |  |  |
|---------|-----------|----------------|-----|--|--|
|         | 1         | Moan           | 200 |  |  |

|                | 3  | Roof         | 192 |
|----------------|----|--------------|-----|
|                | 4  | J            | 270 |
| Humpback       | 5  | L            | 191 |
| whale          | 6  | MoanUp       | 166 |
|                | 18 | LF DS        | 153 |
|                | 19 | LF Moan      | 332 |
| Minke whale    | 30 | Bioduck call | 213 |
| Killer whale   | 31 | Excited DS   | 268 |
| Weddell seal   | 32 | Long DS      | 173 |
| Crabeater seal | 33 | Low Moan     | 160 |
| Leopard Seal   | 34 | Low trill    | 275 |
| Leopard Seal   | 35 | High trill   | 139 |
| Ross Seal      | 36 | Sirene call  | 321 |



Figure 15. Exemplary humpback whale vocalizations of the call library.



Figure 16. Exemplary marine mammal vocalizations of the call library. Call type names were chosen, based on the visual and aural appearance of the call types during analysis ('DS' = downsweep).

In order to tune the LFDCS detection and classification parameters to yield the best possible detector/classifier performance, a two-step evaluation analysis was applied to selected subsets of acoustic recordings. The first evaluation step was performed on a subset of the passive acoustic data summing up to 30 recording hours (30h-dataset). The 30h-dataset was selected in order to contain different quality humpback whale social calls and songs in different noise conditions (i.e., environmental, anthropogenic and electronic), silent periods, periods with only noise and periods with vocalizations from other marine mammals (i.e., Antarctic blue whale, fin whale, Antarctic minke whale, sperm whale, killer whale, leopard seal, Ross seal, crabeater seal and Weddell seal). This 30h-dataset was compiled from six different recording locations, three different years and all four different seasons. The 30h-dataset was manually screened in Raven Pro 1.5 (Hann Window, 1025 window size, 80% overlap, 2048 DFT size; Bioacoustics Research Program 2014) by marking the start-time of each clearly assignable humpback whale

vocalization. Manually detected vocalizations were manually classified into the seven tonal humpback whale call types included in the LFDCS call library. Further, the 30h-dataset was repeatedly automatically processed in LFDCS using the above mentioned customized call library with detection and classification parameters changing between single LFDCS runs in order to determine the optimal parameter settings (23 adjustable parameters; see Baumgartner and Mussoline (2011b) for parameter descriptions). Parameter settings were optimized in a parameter optimization cycle, which cycled through 2400 LFDCS runs with randomly chosen parameter combinations. For each run, automatic humpback whale call detections were compared against manual humpback whale call detections with a start-time buffer of 1.8 s (validated via manual comparison of detection start-times in the LFDCS browse mode). The number of true positive, false positive and false negative detections was determined and used to calculate recall, precision and ultimately F1 score (Powers, 2011).

The second evaluation step was designed to evaluate detection efficiency on an hourly basis. For this purpose, ten different parameter settings were chosen from the optimization cycle runs based on their step one performance results, i.e. the balance between recall, precision and F1 score (Figure 17). Step two of the evaluation procedure was performed on a subset of the passive acoustic data summing up to 150 recording hours (150h-dataset) compiled from the same six locations, three years and four seasons as the 30h-dataset. Likewise, the 150h-dataset was composed of recordings with similar variable acoustic conditions as the 30h-dataset (i.e., including different noise conditions and vocalizations of the different marine mammal species). The 150h-dataset was manually screened in Raven Pro 1.5 (Hann Window, 1025 window size, 80% overlap, 2048 DFT size; Bioacoustics Research Program 2014) by detecting humpback whale acoustic presence on an hourly basis. In LFDCS, the 150h-dataset was processed in ten runs, each with one of the parameter settings chosen from the first evaluation step. For each run, automatic humpback whale detections were compared against manual detections of humpback whale acoustic presence per hour. To minimize false positive hours due to confusion with other species' vocalizations an additional acoustic-context filter was applied before evaluating the results. This acoustic-context filter was based on two conditions: (1) When the number of good quality detections (i.e., Mahalanobis distance (MD)  $\leq 2$  and signal-to-noise ratio (SNR)  $\geq 14$ ) of another species' call type similar to a humpback whale call type (Table 4) within a respective hour exceeds an hourly call rate (CR) threshold (i.e., 4 calls per hour), and (2) when the number

of humpback whale good quality detections (i.e.,  $MD \le 2$  and  $SNR \ge 14$ ; summing over all call types), within a respective hour is lower than an hourly CR threshold (i.e., 6 calls per hour). In case these two conditions were met, all detections of the humpback whale call type similar to the respective other species' call type were deleted from the respective hour.



Figure 17. Performance evaluation of 2400 LFDCS runs on the 30h-dataset during step one of the performance evaluation. Ten distinct parameter settings with differently balanced performances (marked with black stars) were chosen for the second evaluation step.

Table 4. Potential sources of miss-identification of humpback whale calls with other species' call types. Humpback whale call types in the first column were frequently mistaken (by LFDCS) for call types of other species as listed in the second column ('CT' = call type).

| Humpback whale call type | Similar call type from other species                                      |
|--------------------------|---|
| CT1                      | leopard seal Low trill (CT34), Crabeater seal Low Moan (CT33)             |
| СТЗ                      | Ross seal Sirene call (CT36)  |
| CT5                      | killer whale <i>Excited DS</i> (CT31), Weddell seal <i>Long DS</i> (CT32) |
| СТб                      | Leopard seal Low trill (CT34)   |
| CT18                     | Antarctic minke whale <i>Bioduck</i> call (CT30)                          |

Remaining humpback whale call detections were the basis for step two of the evaluation procedure, where hourly detection efficiency of LFDCS and the acoustic context filter was estimated applying different detection quality and hourly CR thresholds. In total seven MD (i.e., 1.5-4.5), seven SNR (i.e., 8-14dB) and 30 CR thresholds (i.e., 1-30) were tested, summing up to 1470 threshold combinations. For each threshold combination the probability of HW hourly presence (Prob<sub>Pres</sub>) and the probability of false negative hours (Prob<sub>FN</sub>) were calculated:

$$Prob_{Pres} = \frac{n_{HW TP hours}}{n_{HW predicted hours}},$$
$$Prob_{FN} = \frac{n_{HWFN hours}}{n_{HW negative predicted hours}},$$

with the number of humpback whale true positive hours ( $n_{HW TP hours}$ ), the number of humpback whale false negative hours ( $n_{HWFN hours}$ ), the number of humpback whale positive predicted hours ( $n_{HW predicted hours}$ ), and the number of humpback whale negative predicted hours ( $n_{HW negative predicted hours}$ ). The parameter setting and MD/SNR/CR threshold combination of the run with the highest respective Prob<sub>Pres</sub> at a Prob<sub>FN</sub> lower than 20% was finally selected to process the full dataset (Table 5; see Baumgartner and Mussoline (2011b) for parameter descriptions). Resulting automatically detected hours with presumed humpback whale acoustic presence will be termed presumed *humpback whale presence* (pHWP) hours in the following. Table 5. Final LFDCS parameter settings and Mahalanobis Distance (MD)/Signal-to-Noise Ratio

<sup>(</sup>SNR)/Call Rate (CR) threshold combination. For parameter descriptions see Baumgartner and Mussoline (2011b).

| Parameter             | Value        |
|-----------------------|--------------|
| Frame                 | 1700 samples |
| Overlap               | 95%          |
| SpectrogramDuration   | 20s          |
| PitchTrackingWindow   | 15s          |
| NoiseReductionsWindow | 45s          |
| AvgFFTLowThreshold    | -999dB       |
| AvgFFTHighThreshold   | 79dB         |
| AvgFFTDurationLimit   | 110s         |
| BBP_InThreshold       | 13.5dB       |
| BBP_InDuration        | 5s           |

| Parameter               | Value |
|-------------------------|-------|
| BB_DetectionThreshold   | 75dB  |
| BB_MinSegmentSpan       | 10Hz  |
| BB_MinTotalSpan         | 400Hz |
| BB_MinBroadbandDuration | 0.2s  |
| DetectionThreshold      | 8dB   |
| CostGradientThreshold   | 15dB  |
| DistanceWeighting       | 30dB  |
| MinCallDuration         | 0.3s  |
| MinAvgAmplitude         | 8dB   |
| BlankingTime            | 0.2s  |

| BBP_OutThreshold | 5dB  |
|------------------|------|
| BBP_OutDuration  | 0.6s |
| BBP_MaxDuration  | 25s  |

| BlankingFreq | 2Hz         |
|--------------|-------------|
| MD           | ≤ 2.5       |
| SNR          | $\geq$ 13dB |
| CR           | ≥10         |

#### Comparative SNR measurements

In order to evaluate the influence of the missed humpback whale detections for the resulting acoustic presence data of humpback whales in the wider Weddell Sea area, comparative SNR measurements were conducted. Both detected and missed humpback whale calls of the 150h-dataset from the LFDCS run using the final chosen parameter settings (chosen by the highest Prob<sub>Pres</sub> and a Prob<sub>FN</sub> lower than 20%) were identified to measure their SNR. In all false negative hours, humpback whale calls were manually identified in Raven Pro 1.5 and their SNRs were measured by comparing the average power (dB re 1 $\mu$ Pa) of the spectrum with the call's duration and bandwidth with the average power of two spectra with the same dimensions, one before and one after the call, respectively. From all true positive hours, a number of hours was randomly chosen in order to match the number of false negative hours. Three detected calls were measured applying the same method as described above.

#### Results

#### Detector/classifier performance evaluation

In the 30h-dataset, 5274 humpback whale vocalizations were manually detected and classified into the seven humpback whale call types included in the LFDCS call library, with 357 manual detections of call type 1, 439 of call type 3, 2471 of call type 4, 1056 of call type 5, 508 of call type 6, 338 of call type 18, and 100 of call type 19. Different parameter settings in LFDCS yielded different performance results in terms of recall, precision and F1-score (*Figure 17*). The selected parameter setting resulted in a recall of 22%, a precision of 56%, and a F1-score of 0.32. In the present study, for the detection of humpback whale presence on an hourly basis, it was considered more important to aim for a higher precision of the automated detector at the cost of a lower recall (because it was not necessary to detect all vocalizations in order to capture hourly acoustic presence). The final parameter setting in combination with the acoustic-context filter and specific

MD, SNR and CR thresholds resulted in a good detection performance in terms of hourly humpback whale presence (Figure 18). At an hourly CR threshold of at least 10 calls/hour the automatic detection process yielded a  $\text{Prob}_{\text{Pres}}$  of 75% and a  $\text{Prob}_{\text{FN}}$  of only 18%. Because it is common practice to exclude vocalizations with a SNR below 10 dB from the analysis (Dunlop *et al.*, 2008; Magnúsdóttir and Lim, 2019), the quality of missed vocalizations in these 18% of false negative hours was checked. In comparison to the sampled humpback whale vocalizations in the detected hours, the vocalizations in the false negative hours had SNRs which were mainly below 10 dB (Figure 19).



Figure 18. Final detection performance of hourly humpback whale acoustic presence in the 150h-dataset. The probability of humpback whale acoustic presence in the recording hours is depicted in blue on the left y-axis and the probability of false negative hours is depicted in orange on the right y-axis. The x-axis represents the hourly call rate observed by the detector after applying the acoustic-context filter.



Figure 19. Measured signal-to-noise ratios (SNR) of humpback whale (HW) vocalizations. Blue bars (left y-axis) represent SNRs of vocalizations in false negative (missed) hours and orange bars (right y-axis) represent SNRs of vocalizations in detected hours.

**S2** 



Figure 20. Boxplots of daily proportions of hours with humpback whale acoustic presence from the five recording positions (G1-G5) on the Greenwich Meridian displayed per month from December 2010 until September 2018 (center line, median; box limits, upper and lower quartiles; whiskers, 1.5x interquartile range; points, outliers). Grey bars represent months without recording data, yellow, red, blue and green shades indicate summer, fall, winter and spring seasons, respectively. *S*ingle points indicate single daily observations of humpback whale acoustic presence.

|                         |     |     |     |     |     | mo  | onth |     |     |     |     |     |
|-------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
|                         | Dec | Nov | Oct | Sep | Aug | Jul | Jun  | May | Apr | Mar | Feb | Jan |
| G1                      | 1   | 0   | 0   | 0   | -   | 7   | 21   | 24  | 12  | 11  | з   | 4   |
| G2                      | 0   | -   | 0   | 0   | 0   | 1   | 0    | 9   | 7   | 4   | ω   | з   |
| G3<br>recorder position | 1   | თ   | з   | 2   | 2   | -   | 2    | 10  | 21  | 20  | თ   | ω   |
| G4                      | 0   | 0   | 0   | 0   | 0   | 0   | 2    | 12  | 13  | 10  | 1   | 0   |
| G5                      | 0   | -   | 0   | 0   | -   | -   | 0    | 0   | 0   | 2   | 2   | -   |
|                         |     |     |     |     |     |     |      |     |     |     |     |     |
| c                       | >   |     | U   |     | 2   | 5   |      | 15  |     | 5   | 3   |     |

SS

Figure 7. Heatmap showing the average number of days with humpback whale acoustic presence for all months for recording stations G1-5. Darker colors indicate higher presence, numbers in cells represent the average number of days with presence per month per recording station.

#### Literature

- Baumgartner, M. F., and Mussoline, S. E. (2011). "A generalized baleen whale call detection and classification system," J Acoust Soc Am 129, 2889-2902.
- Baumgartner, M. F., Van Parijs, S. M., Wenzel, F. W., Tremblay, C. J., Esch, H. C., and Warde, A. M. (2008). "Low frequency vocalizations attributed to sei whales (Balaenoptera borealis)," Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 124, 1339-1349.
- Dunlop, R. A., Cato, D. H., and Noad, M. J. (2008). "Non-song acoustic communication in migrating humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae)," Marine Mammal Science 24, 613-629.
- Edds-Walton, P. L. (1997). "Acoustic communication signals of mysticete whales," Bioacustics 8, 47-60.
- Klinck, H., Mellinger, D. K., Klinck, K., Hager, J., Kindermann, L., and Boebel, O. (2010). "Long-range underwater vocalizations of the crabeater seal (Lobodon carcinophaga)," The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 128, 474-479.
- Magnúsdóttir, E. E., and Lim, R. (2019). "Subarctic singers: Humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song structure and progression from an Icelandic feeding ground during winter," PloS one 14, e0210057.
- Ou, H., Au, W. W. L., Van Parijs, S., Oleson, E. M., and Rankin, S. (2015). "Discrimination of frequency-modulated Baleen whale downsweep calls with overlapping frequencies," Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 137, 3024-3032.
- Powers, D. M. (2011). "Evaluation: from precision, recall and F-measure to ROC, informedness, markedness and correlation," Journal of Machine Learning Technologies.
- Risch, D., Gales, N. J., Gedamke, J., Kindermann, L., Nowacek, D. P., Read, A. J., Siebert, U., Van Opzeeland, I. C., Van Parijs, S. M., and Friedlaender, A. S. (2014). "Mysterious bio-duck sound attributed to the Antarctic minke whale (Balaenoptera bonaerensis)," Biol Lett 10, 20140175.
- Schall, E., and Van Opzeeland, I. (2017). "Calls produced by Ecotype C killer whales (Orcinus orca) off the Eckstrom iceshelf, Antarctica," Aquatic Mammals 43, 117-126.
- Van Opzeeland, I., Van Parijs, S., Bornemann, H., Frickenhaus, S., Kindermann, L., Klinck, H., Plötz, J., and Boebel, O. (2010). "Acoustic ecology of Antarctic pinnipeds," Marine Ecology Progress Series 414, 267-291.

# Supplementary Material - Chapter III

| G1     < |   |
|--|---|
|  | \$`\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$\\$ |

Figure S1. Timeline of acoustic recordings taken at the 13 recording locations of the Greenwich (e.g., 'G1') and Weddell datasets (e.g., 'W6') between 2010 and 2018. Temporal data coverage is indicated by gray bars and red lines indicate days with high quality humpback whale song recordings (i.e.,  $SNR \ge 10$  dB and at least to distinct themes discernible) from which units were extracted for the analysis.

Table S1. Acoustic metrics (AM) used to discriminate between humpback whale unit types. AMs are divided in three categories. AMs marked with (5) indicate those that were computed on five bandwidths: 0.01-0.25 kHz; 0.25-0.5 kHz; 0.5-1 kHz; 1-2.5 kHz; and the full bandwidth 0-2.5 kHz. To compute the AM, where it applies, we used a window length of 512 samples and 50% overlap.

| Category            | AM      | Description   |
|---------------------|---------|---|
| Acoustic<br>Indices | Hs      | Spectral entropy: obtained by applying the Shannon evenness equation to the average frequency spectrum scaled by is integral.   |
|                     | Ht      | Temporal entropy: obtained by applying the Shannon evenness<br>equation to the amplitude envelope obtained with the Hilbert<br>transform of the signal, scaled by its integral.   |
|                     | Η       | Acoustic entropy index (Sueur et al. 2008): obtained by the multiplication of Hs and Ht, it integrates both the spectral and temporal components of an acoustic signal. H varies between 0 and 1, where 1 indicates a highly heterogeneous signal.  |
|                     | Ht_hist | Temporal entropy computed on the distribution obtained from a histogram: here we used the Sturges algorithm to define the histogram breaks. Ht_hist will not show a high temporal entropy value for a sustained sound with an almost flat envelope. |
|                     | ADI (5) | Acoustic diversity index (Peking et al. 2012): obtained by applying<br>the Shannon diversity equation to the average frequency<br>spectrum.   |

|         | AEI (5) | Acoustic evenness index (Villanueva-Rivera et al. 2011): obtained  |
|---------|---------|--|
|         |         | by dividing the spectrogram into bins and taking the proportion of |
|         |         | the signals in each bin above the threshold (-50dBFS) and applying |
|         |         | the Gini index to these bins.                                      |
|         | AR      | Acoustic richness (Depraetere et al. 2012): obtained through the   |
|         |         | multiplication of the rank of the M and Ht indices scaled by the   |
|         |         | squared number of entries in the dataset. AR varies between 0 and  |
|         |         | 1, where 1 indicates a highly rich signal within that particular   |
|         |         | dataset.   |
|         | ACI (5) | Acoustic complexity index (Pieretti et al. 2011): computed as the  |
|         |         | average absolute fractional change in spectral amplitude for each  |
|         |         | frequency bin in consecutive spectrums.                            |
|         | BI (5)  | Bioacoustic Index (Boelman, et al. 2007): calculated as the area   |
|         |         | under the curve of the mean amplitude spectrum between two         |
|         |         | frequency limits, is a function of both the sound level and the    |
|         |         | number of frequency bands.   |
|         | ENS     | Effective number of species (Chase and Knight 2013): the           |
|         |         | number of equally-common species required to give a particular     |
|         |         | value of a diversity index (e.g., Shannon diversity index). We     |
|         |         | obtained this index by computing the exponential of the acoustic   |
|         |         | diversity index (ADI).   |
| Energy  | NP (5)  | Number of peaks (Gasc et al. 2013): number of peaks in the         |
| Metrics |         | frequency spectrum with an amplitude slope parameter $= 0.01$ .    |

|         | AMP        | Amplitude value of the local maximum frequency peak computed         |
|---------|------------|--|
|         |            | on four bandwidths: 0.015-0.1 kHz; 0.1-0.5 kHz; 0.5-1 kHz; 1-        |
|         |            | 2.5 kHz; and the full bandwidth 0–2.5 kHz.                           |
|         | М          | Median amplitude standardized. M varies between 0 and 1.             |
|         | SPL        | Average amplitude value of the recording, computed as the mean       |
|         |            | of the amplitude envelope.   |
|         | NDSI_high  | Sum of energy in the high frequency range (350-2500 Hz) of the       |
|         |            | recording.   |
|         | NDSI_low   | Sum of energy in the low frequency range (10-350 Hz) of the          |
|         |            | recording.   |
|         | BL         | Background noise level: average intensity from the mode intensity    |
|         |            | computed for each frequency bin. Computed following the              |
|         |            | background noise index calculation method (Towsey 2017).             |
|         | ВР         | Background noise level percentile: is the % of values in the         |
|         |            | amplitude distribution below the noise level value.                  |
| Ratio   | RPS        | Relative proportion of signal: ratio between the intensity counts    |
| Metrics |            | above noise level and all sound.                                     |
|         | Anisotropy | Anisotropy is a measure used to determine if heterogeneity           |
|         |            | patterns are more heterogeneous along a particular direction. It     |
|         |            | characterizes the relative increase in the temporal heterogeneity of |
|         |            | the soundscape and it is obtained as the temporal and spectral       |
|         |            | entropy ratio.   |

| NDSI | Normalized difference soundscape index (Kasten et al. 2012):     |
|------|--|
|      | developed to compare the acoustic signal of soundscapes with     |
|      | different relative contributions of anthrophony and biophony. In |
|      | this paper we computed NDSI as the normalized difference in the  |
|      | absolute amplitude of a high frequency band (200–2500 Hz) minus  |
|      | a low frequency band (10-200 Hz). NDSI varies between -1 and     |
|      | +1, where +1 indicates a signal dominated by high frequency      |
|      | sounds.  |
|      |  |



Figure S2. Classification tree of the final random forest model including 43 AMs.

T18UT01



Conditional Permutation Importance (threshold = 0.9)

Figure S3. Conditional Variable Importance (CVI) for each AM (i.e., 43) included in the final random forest model.

## Supplementary Material - Chapter IV

| Latitude | Session length    | Song length     | Unit complexity | Phrase complexity | Song complexity |
|----------|-------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------|
| -59.05   | 107.36 +/- 100.90 | 71.65 +/- 74.83 | 0.12 +/- 0.08   | 0.32 +/- 0.17     | 0.05 +/- 0.05   |
| -61.02   | 50.22 +/- 22.81   | 40.50 +/- 22.67 | 0.15 +/- 0.06   | 0.43 +/- 0.21     | 0.07 +/- 0.06   |
| -64.00   | 85.04 +/- 101.56  | 49.63 +/- 81.44 | 0.23 +/- 0.18   | 0.49 +/- 0.16     | 0.13 +/- 0.12   |
| -65.97   | 66.67 +/- 28.78   | 46.15 +/- 26.87 | 0.12 +/- 0.09   | 0.43 +/- 0.19     | 0.06 +/- 0.06   |
| -66.03   | 69.64 +/- 40.45   | 40.97 +/- 31.04 | 0.17 +/- 0.11   | 0.43 +/- 0.16     | 0.08 +/- 0.07   |
| -66.51   | 84.71 +/- 74.18   | 56.07 +/- 49.05 | 0.13 +/- 0.08   | 0.33 +/- 0.13     | 0.05 +/- 0.05   |
| -66.61   | 42.88 +/- 14.12   | 36.44 +/- 19.19 | 0.14 +/- 0.06   | 0.50 +/- 0.16     | 0.08 +/- 0.05   |

*Table S1. Average (+/- standard deviation) session length, song length, unit complexity, phrase complexity, and song complexity per latitude of the recording location.* 

Table S2. Set median song strings recorded at different locations and years in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. 'SessionIDs' correspond to individual singers encoded with the name of the recording position (first 2-3 symbols, i.e., 'W13', 'G4',...) and the date of the recording (last 8 symbols, i.e., '05/06/13', '05/10/13',...). Theme sequence is encoded with phrase type names (see Supplementary Material 2 for phrase type catalogue).

| SessionIDs  | Theme sequence    |
|-------------|-------------------|
| G3 13/04/11 | Cb Cc             |
| G3 17/04/11 | Ea Cb Ba Aa       |
| G2 19/04/11 | Ba Aa             |
| G3 25/04/11 | Ea Cb Ca Cc Ba    |
| G4 27/04/11 | Cb Cc             |
| G3 28/04/11 | Cb Cc Ca Ba Ea    |
| G4 06/05/11 | Ea Cb Cc Ca       |
| G2 09/05/11 | Cb Cc             |
| G1 09/05/11 | Ba Ac Aa          |
| G2 12/05/11 | Cb Cc             |
| G4 13/05/11 | Ba Ac             |
| G4 15/05/11 | Ea Cb Cc Aa       |
| G2 16/05/11 | Cb Cc Ba Aa       |
| G3 17/05/11 | Aa Ea Cb Cc Ca Ba |
| G1 18/05/11 | Ba Aa Ac Bb Ab    |
| G1 21/05/11 | Ba Aa Ac          |
| G2 29/05/11 | Cb Cc             |
| G1 15/06/11 | Cc Cb Ba Aa Ea    |
| G3 12/03/12 | Aa Ba             |
| G3 14/03/12 | Ac Aa Af Da De Ba |

| G3 15/03/12 | Ac Aa Ba             |
|-------------|----------------------|
| G4 17/03/12 | Aa Ai Ba             |
| G4 24/03/12 | Aa Ac Ba             |
| G3 04/04/12 | Aa Ac Ba             |
| G4 07/04/12 | Aa Ac Ba             |
| G3 08/04/12 | Ba Aa                |
| G4 10/04/12 | Aa Ai Aj Ba          |
| G3 12/04/12 | Ba Aa Af Da          |
| W6 05/03/13 | Aa Ai Ac             |
| W6 06/03/13 | Ad Aa Ac             |
| W6 10/03/13 | Aa Ai Ak Ac          |
| G3 11/03/13 | Ai Ac                |
| G3 15/03/13 | Ac An Ak             |
| W9 29/03/13 | Ap Aa                |
| G3 31/03/13 | Aa Ai Ak Ac          |
| G3 01/04/13 | Ac Aa Ai             |
| G3 03/04/13 | Aa Ai Aj Ac Ad       |
| G1 05/04/13 | Ac Aq Aa Am Ai An Ak |
| G3 08/04/13 | Aq Aa Am Ai Ac       |
| G3 13/04/13 | Aa Ai                |
| G3 16/04/13 | Aa Ai An Ak Ac Ad    |
| G2 20/04/13 | Aa Ai Ac             |
| G2 27/04/13 | Aa Ap Ai Aq Ac       |
| G2 29/04/13 | Aa Ac Ai Ak Ap       |
| G2 08/05/13 | Ap Aa                |
| G1 21/05/13 | Aa Ai Ac             |
| G1 29/05/13 | Aa Ai Ac             |
| G1 30/05/13 | Aa Ai Ac             |
| W1305/06/13 | Ga Ha Ec Ed Gb       |
| G1 08/06/13 | Cb Fa Ba Ca Aj Ak    |
| G1 13/06/13 | Aa Ac                |
| G1 16/06/13 | Aa Ai Ac Aq          |
| W1316/06/13 | Ai Ap                |
| G1 17/06/13 | Ap Aa Ai             |
| W1305/10/13 | Ed Gb Ga             |
| G4 09/03/17 | Df Ee                |
| G1 23/03/17 | Bf Bd Bg Ee          |
| G1 01/05/17 | Bd Be Df Ee          |
| G1 02/05/17 | Bd Df Ee             |
| G1 04/05/17 | Be Df Ee Bf          |
| G1 05/05/17 | Bd Bg Df Ef Ee       |
| G1 07/05/17 | Df Ee                |

| G1 08/05/17 | Bg Df Ee                         |
|-------------|----------------------------------|
| G4 18/05/17 | Df Bd Be Ee                      |
| G1 21/06/17 | Bf Be Df                         |
| G1 23/06/17 | Bd Be Df Ef                      |
| G1 24/06/17 | Df Dg Bg                         |
| G4 28/04/18 | Bg Bd Be Df Ef Gd                |
| G4 03/05/18 | Bd Df                            |
| G1 12/05/18 | Gd Ge Gg Gh Ib                   |
| G4 17/05/18 | Bh Bi                            |
| G1 19/05/18 | Gd Gf Gg Ge Bi Bb Bj             |
| G1 23/05/18 | Bi Bb Ib Bh Bc Gd Gh             |
| G4 25/05/18 | Gd Gf Gg Bh Bb Ba                |
| G1 31/05/18 | Gd Ge                            |
| G1 22/06/18 | Gd Gg Bh Bi Bb                   |
| G1 01/07/18 | Gd Gg Bh Bi Gh Bb Ge Gf Bc Bj Ib |



Figure S1. Timeline of acoustic recordings taken at the 13 recording locations of the Greenwich and Weddell datasets between 2010 and 2018. Mooring positions with the prefix 'G' in the name are assigned to the Greenwich dataset. Mooring positions with the prefix 'W' in the name are assigned to the Weddell dataset.



Figure S2. The five measures of song elaborateness (two for length and three for complexity) were plotted against day of the year pooled for all recording locations and years. Dots represent averages and error bars represent standard deviations.

Humpback whale call and phrase type catalogue – ASSO/Breeding grounds

- → Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean ASSO
- → Ecuador E
- → Brazil B
- ➔ South Africa A

- Call Types -

Representation of the call types used as song units.









```
- Phrase Types -
```

- → Each phrase type is characterized by a distinct combination of units.
- → Each phrase type is named by a capital letter and a lowercase letter, where the capital letter is an indicator for the first unit of the phrase type: i.e., Aa and Ab both start with call type (CT) 1.
- → A phrase type is divided into phrase subtypes, when the number of repetitions of respective units differs: i.e., 1x CT1 and 3x CT4 translate into Aa13.

## Туре Аа

The combination of units CT1 & CT4a



## Type Ab Combination CT1, CT4a & CT5b



## Type Ac Combination of units CT1 & CT5b



# Type Ad

Combination of units CT1, CT5b, CT4a



Туре Ае



# Type Af



## Type Ag Combination of units CT1 and CT18



# Type Ah

Combination of units CT1, CT12, CT4a

| Example of Ah112                             |               |  |  |  |
|--|---------------|--|--|--|
| 1.80   | ASSO          |  |  |  |
| 1.60   | 1000          |  |  |  |
| 1.50-<br>1.40-                               | 900 -         |  |  |  |
| 1.30-<br>1.20-                               | 800 -         |  |  |  |
| 11.00-<br>1.00-                              | 700 -         |  |  |  |
| 0.90-  | <u> 七</u> 600 |  |  |  |
| 0.70 -                                       | 500           |  |  |  |
| 0.50   | 300           |  |  |  |
| 0.40-  | 200           |  |  |  |
| 0.20   | 100           |  |  |  |
| 0.00<br>12:01:14.093 12:01:20.169 12:01:25.1 | 0 5 10 15 20  |  |  |  |
|  | time (s)      |  |  |  |

## Type Ai Combination of units CT1 and CT12



# Type Aj Combination of units CT1, CT12, CT5b



## Type Ak Combination of units CT1 & CT8

| Examp  | ole of Ak120  |
|--|---|
| Fly Doub<br>1.00<br>1.00<br>1.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0.00<br>0. | ASSO<br>1000<br>900<br>800<br>700<br>(FH) A000<br>400<br>200<br>100<br>0<br>5<br>10<br>10<br>15<br>20<br>10<br>15<br>20 |

# Type Al Combination of units CT1, CT8, CT4a



# Type Am

Combination of units CT1, CT4a, CT12


#### Type An Combination of units CT1, CT12, CT8



### Туре Ао

Combination of units CT1, CT5b/a & CT12



#### Type Ap Combination of units CT1, CT4a & CT18



### Type Aq

Combination of units CT1, CT5b & CT18



#### Type Ar Combination of units CT1, CT10

| Example of Ar11            |                 |
|----------------------------|-----------------|
| 2.60-2.50-                 | В, Е            |
| 2.30<br>2.20               | 1000            |
| 2.10<br>2.00               | 900 -           |
| 1.80<br>1.70               | 800 -           |
| 1.60<br>1.50               | 700<br>Ŷ        |
| 1.30                       | 2, 500<br>5 500 |
| 1.10<br>1.00<br>0.90       |                 |
| 0.80<br>0.70               | ¥ 300 -         |
| 0.60                       | 200             |
| 0.30 0.20                  | 100             |
| 0.00<br>kHz m:37/48:09.758 | 0 5 10 15 20    |
|                            | time (S)        |

Type As Combination of units CT1, CT15



#### Type At Combination of units CT1, CT5a



### Type Au

Combination of units CT1, CT15, CT4a, CT19



#### Type Av Combination of units CT1, CT16, CT10



Type Aw Combination of units CT1, CT13b



#### Type Ax Combination of units CT1, CT16, CT13b



Type Ay Combination of units CT1, CT15, CT10



### Туре Ва

The combination of units CT6 & CT5b



### Type Bb

Combination of units CT6 & CT4a



# Туре Вс

Combination of units CT6 & CT12



#### Type Bd

Combination of units CT6, CT4a, CT10 & CT4b



## Туре Ве

Combination of units CT6, CT10

| Example of Be11 |   |  |
|-----------------|---|--|
| Example         | Of Bel1<br>ASSO, B<br>$\begin{pmatrix} 1000 \\ 900 \\ 800 \\ 700 \\ 600 \\ 200 \\ 100 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 0 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 20 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10$ |  |
|                 | time (s)  |  |

### Type Bf

Combination of units CT6, CT4a, CT10



### Type Bg

Combination of units CT6, CT10, CT4b



#### Type Bh Combination of units CT6, CT1



#### Type Bi Combination of units CT6, CT1, CT4a



#### Type Bj Combination of units CT6, CT12, CT4a



# Type Bk

Combination of units CT6, CT18



#### Type Bl Combination of units CT6, CT5a, CT10



# Type Bm

Combination of units CT6, CT7



# Type Bn

Combination of units CT6, CT19



## Type Bo

Combination of units CT6, CT8



Type Bp Combination of units CT6, CT8, CT10



### Type Bq

Combination of units CT6, CT4a, CT10, CT5b



### Туре Са

Combination of units CT3 & CT5b



# Type Cb

Combination of units CT3, CT18



#### Type Cc Combination of units CT3 and CT10



# Type Cd

Combination of units CT3, CT18, CT10



### Туре Се

Combination of units CT3, CT10, CT18



# Type Cf

Combination of units CT3, CT10, CT5b



Type Cg Combination of units CT3, CT10



# Type Da

Combination of units CT12 and CT18



### Type Db

Combination of units CT12 and CT5b



# Type Dc

Combination of units CT12, CT4a



# Type Dd

Combination of units CT12, CT1, CT4a



## Type De

Combination of units CT12, CT18, CT5b



#### Type Df Combination of units CT12, CT10



# Type Dg

Combination of units CT12, CT10, CT4b



### Type Dh

Combination of units CT12, CT10, CT4b, CT4a



#### Type Di Combination of units CT12, CT5b/a, CT8



Type Dj Combination of units CT12, CT19, CT4a



#### Type Dk Combination of units CT12, CT8



Type DI Combination of units CT12, CT7, CT18



#### Type Dm Combination of units CT12, CT13c



Type Dn

Combination of units CT12, CT8, CT10



# Type Do

Combination of units CT12, CT5a, CT4a



Type Ea Combination of units CT4a, CT8



# Type Eb

Combination of units CT4a, CT5b



### Type Ec

Combination of units CT4b, CT5b



# Type Ed

Combination of units CT4b, CT1



### Туре Ее

Combination of units CT4a, CT4b



# Type Ef

Combination of units CT4a, CT6

| Example of Ef11                    |              |
|------------------------------------|--------------|
| 2.60                               | ASSO, B      |
| 2.40-                              | 1000         |
| 2.00-                              | 900 -        |
| 1.80                               | 800 -        |
| 1.60                               | 700 -        |
| 1.40                               | (TH) 600     |
| 1.00 -                             | 500 -        |
| 0.80 -                             | 400          |
|                                    |              |
| 0.20                               | 200 -        |
| 0.00<br><b>kHZp.ms</b> 9:26:00 237 | 100 -        |
|                                    | 0 5 10 15 20 |
|                                    | time (s)     |

# Type Eg

Combination of units CT4a, CT6, CT4b



# Type Eh

Combination of units CT4b, CT10



Type Fa Combination of units CT18, CT5b



# Type Fb

Combination of units CT18, CT1



# Type Fc

Combination of units CT18, CT13a



### Type Ga

Combination of units CT5a, CT19



### Type Gb

Combination of units CT5a, CT1



### Type Gc

Combination of units CT5a, CT4a



#### Type Gd Combination of units CT5b, CT5a



### Type Ge

Combination of units CT5b, CT8



# Type Gf

Combination of units CT5b, CT5a, CT8



# Type Gg

Combination of units CT5b/a



#### Type Gh Combination of units CT5b, CT4a



# Type Gi

Combination of units CT5b, CT12



#### Type Gj Combination of units CT5a, CT16, CT18


## Type Gk

Combination of units CT5b, CT4b



## Type Gl

Combination of units CT5a, CT10



## Type Gm

Combination of units CT5a, CT1, CT15



Type Ha Combination of units CT19, CT4a



### Type Ia Combination of units CT10



### Type Ib Combination of units CT10, CT8



### Type Ic Combination of units CT10, CT13c



### Type Id

Combination of units CT10, CT5b



### Type le Combination of units CT10, CT1



Type If Combination of units CT10, CT8, CT1



### Type Ig Combination of units CT10, CT19



Type Ih Combination of units CT10, CT1, CT13a



### Type li Combination of units CT10, CT13b, CT7



Type Ij Combination of units CT10, CT4a



### Type Ik Combination of units CT10, CT19, CT4a



Type II Combination of units CT10, CT4b



# Type Ja

Combination of units CT7, CT4a



## Type Jb

Combination of units CT7, CT12

| Example                 | e of Jb11    |
|-------------------------|--------------|
| 2.60 -                  | B, E         |
| 2.40-                   | 1000         |
| 2.00                    | 900 -        |
| 1.80-                   | 800 -        |
| 1.60-                   | 700 -<br>N   |
| 1.40-                   | <u>2</u> 600 |
| 1.20 -                  | 500 -        |
| 1.00-                   |              |
| 0.60                    | 200 -        |
| 0.40-                   | 100 - 5      |
| 0.20-                   |              |
| 0.00 kHz m:s7:55:58.479 | time (s)     |

# Туре Ка

| Combination of units CT16, CT18 |
|---------------------------------|
|---------------------------------|

| Example of Ka11            |                   |  |
|----------------------------|-------------------|--|
| 2.60 -                     | В                 |  |
| 2.40 -                     |                   |  |
| 2.20 -                     | 1000              |  |
| 2.00-                      | 900 -             |  |
| 1.80                       | 800 -             |  |
| 1.60-                      | 700 -<br>N        |  |
| 1.40-                      | 분 600 · · · · · · |  |
| 1.20 -                     | 500 -             |  |
| 1.00 -                     | 100               |  |
| 0.80 -                     | 300 -             |  |
| 0.60 -                     | 200 -             |  |
| 0.40                       | 100 -             |  |
| 0.20 -                     |                   |  |
| 0.00<br>kHz m:s7:04:17.204 | time (s)          |  |

### Type Kb Combination of units CT16, CT12

| Example of Kb11    |   |  |
|--------------------|---|--|
| 2.60               | В   |  |
| 2.40               |   |  |
| 2.20-              | 1000  |  |
| 2.00               | 900 -                                       |  |
| 1.80-              | 800 -                                       |  |
| 1.60               | 700 -                                       |  |
| 1.40               | 분 600 - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |  |
| 1.20               | 500 -                                       |  |
| 1.00-              |   |  |
| 0.80               | 300 -                                       |  |
| 0.60-              | 200   |  |
| 0.40               | 100 -                                       |  |
| 0.20               | 0 5 10 15 20                                |  |
| kHz m:s7:04:46.374 | time (s)                                    |  |

#### Type Kc Combination of units CT16, CT10

|                     | Example of Kc11 |
|---------------------|-----------------|
| 3.60-               | E               |
| 3.40 -              |                 |
| 3.20                | 1000            |
| 3.00                | 900             |
| 2.80                | 500             |
| 2.60                | 800 -           |
| 2.40                | 700 -           |
| 2.20                |                 |
| 2.00                | 는 600 -         |
| 1.80                |                 |
| 1.60                |                 |
| 1.40                |                 |
| 1.20                | 300 -           |
| 1.00                |                 |
| 0.80                |                 |
| 0.60                | 100 -           |
| 0.40                |                 |
| 0.20-               | 0 5 10 15 20    |
| kHz m:s9:11.82 9:15 | time (s)        |

Type Kd Combination of units CT16, CT13b



## Type La

| Complitation of units CT13a, CT13b |
|------------------------------------|
|------------------------------------|



Type Lb

Combination of units CT13b, CT10



### Type Lc Combination of units CT13a, CT19, CT4b



Type Ld Combination of units CT13a, CT7, CT18



## Туре Ма

| mbination of units CT17, CT4a |                          |  |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| Example of Ma11               |                          |  |
| 2.60-                         | E                        |  |
| 2.40-                         |                          |  |
| 2.20-                         | 1000                     |  |
| 2.00                          | 900 -                    |  |
| 1.80                          | 800 -                    |  |
| 1.60                          | 700 -                    |  |
| 1.40                          | FT 600                   |  |
| 1.20                          | 500 - S                  |  |
| 1.00                          |                          |  |
| 0.80                          | ÷ 300                    |  |
| 0.60-                         | 200 -                    |  |
| 0.40                          | 100 -                    |  |
| 0.20                          | 0                        |  |
| 0.00                          | 0 5 10 15 20<br>time (s) |  |

### Type Mb Combination of units CT17, CT10, CT4a



# Type Na

| Combination | of | units | CT15, | CT10 |
|-------------|----|-------|-------|------|
|             |    |       |       |      |

| Example of Na11              |              |  |
|------------------------------|--------------|--|
| 2.60                         | E            |  |
| 2.40-                        |              |  |
| 2.20-                        | 1000         |  |
| 2.00-                        | 900 -        |  |
| 1.80                         | 800 -        |  |
| 1.60                         | 700          |  |
| 1.40                         | Ê 600 -      |  |
| 1.20                         |              |  |
| 1.00                         | 400          |  |
| 0.80-                        | - 300        |  |
| 0.60-                        | 200 -        |  |
| 0.40-                        | 100 - 🦗 -    |  |
| 0.20                         | 0 5 10 15 20 |  |
| kHz m:s12:53.762 13:00 13:05 | time (s)     |  |